
 
  Blaby District Council  Council Offices Desford Road Narborough Leicestershire LE19 2EP 
 Telephone: 0116 275 0555  Web:: www.blaby.gov.uk This document is printed on recycled paper 

 

 
 

DATE:  28 March 2025 
MY REF: Council 
YOUR REF:  
CONTACT: Democratic Services 
TEL NO: 0116 272 7708 
EMAIL: committees@blaby.gov.uk 

 

 
To Members of the Council 

   

Cllr. Nick Chapman (Chairman)  
Cllr. Janet Forey (Vice-Chairman) 

   
Cllr. Shabbir Aslam 
Cllr. Royston Bayliss 
Cllr. Lee Breckon JP 
Cllr. Nick Brown 
Cllr. Adrian Clifford 
Cllr. Cheryl Cashmore 
Cllr. Stuart Coar 
Cllr. Luke Cousin 
Cllr. Tony Deakin 
Cllr. Roy Denney 
Cllr. Alex DeWinter 
 

Cllr. Susan Findlay 
Cllr. Helen Gambardella 
Cllr. Hannah Gill 
Cllr. Nigel Grundy 
Cllr. Paul Hartshorn 
Cllr. Richard Holdridge 
Cllr. Mark Jackson 
Cllr. Becca Lunn 
Cllr. Antony Moseley 
Cllr. Les Phillimore 
Cllr. Terry Richardson 
 

Cllr. Ande Savage 
Cllr. Tracey Shepherd 
Cllr. Dillan Shikotra 
Cllr. Mike Shirley 
Cllr. Roger Stead 
Cllr. Ben Taylor 
Cllr. Matt Tomeo 
Cllr. Bob Waterton 
Cllr. Jane Wolfe 
Cllr. Maggie Wright 
Cllr. Neil Wright 
 

   
 

Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of the COUNCIL will be held in the Council Chamber - Council Offices, 
Narborough on TUESDAY, 8 APRIL 2025 at 5.30 p.m. for the transaction of the following 
business and your attendance is requested. 
 
Yours  faithfully 
 

 
Gemma Dennis  
Corporate Services Group Manager and Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.blaby.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 
 

 SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION   
 

 To receive apologies for absence, disclosures of interest from Councillors, and 
Minutes of the previous Council meeting. 

  
1. Apologies for absence  
 
2. Disclosures of Interests from Members  
 
 To receive disclosures of interests from Members (i.e. the existence and the nature 

of those interests in respect of items on this agenda). 
  
3. Minutes (Pages 5 - 22) 
 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on  25 February 2025 

(enclosed). 
  

 SECTION 2 - STANDARD COUNCIL BUSINESS   
 

 To receive announcements from the Chairman and the statement of the Leader of 
the Council. 
 
Any reports for consideration listed under this section will be moved in one block 
without discussion, unless any Member present requests otherwise. 

  
4. Chairman's Announcements  
 
5. Leader's Statement  
 
6. Amendments to Appointments to Committees and Seat Allocations (Pages 23 - 26) 
 
 To consider the report of the Senior Democratic & Scrutiny Services Officer 

(enclosed). 
  

 SECTION 3 - PRESENTATIONS TO COUNCIL   
 

 To consider any presentations from Council Officer’s or an external body/partner 
agency.  

  
 SECTION 4 - QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC & PRESENTATION OF 
PETITIONS   

 
 To receive questions to Councillors submitted by members of the public and to 
receive any petitions submitted in accordance with the Council’s petitions scheme. 

  
7. Public Speaking Protocol  
 
 Requests received by the Protocol deadline to be reported by the Monitoring Officer 

with details of the Agenda Item to which they relate. (Such persons entitled to use 



the Protocol attend for the purpose of making representations, answering questions 
or giving evidence relating to the business of the meeting and the time allocated to 
each person is a maximum of three minutes unless extended at the discretion of the 
Chairman).  

  
 SECTION 5 - MEMBERS' QUESTIONS   

 
 To receive any questions submitted by Councillors. 
  

8. Questions from Members  
 
 Any Members wishing to submit questions must do so to the Monitoring Officer no 

later than 5 working days before the meeting. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will report if any questions have been submitted. 

  
 SECTION 6 - REPORTS FOR DECISIONS   

 
 To consider any reports submitted for consideration by Council. 
  

9. Corporate Action Plan 2025-26 (Pages 27 - 34) 
 
 To consider the report of the Business Systems & Information Manager (enclosed). 
  
10. Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution - March 2025 Submission (Pages 

35 - 152) 
 
 To consider the report of the Chief Executive (enclosed). 
  
11. Appointments to Sapcote Parish Council (Pages 153 - 158) 
 
 To consider the report of the Corporate Services Group Manager & Monitoring 

Officer (enclosed). 
  

 SECTION 7 - MOTIONS/ DEBATES/CONSULTATIONS & MEMBERS' FEEDBACK   
 

 To consider Motions submitted by Councillors, take part in a debate or receive 
Member feedback from attendance at national briefings, key training initiatives or 
work on any Outside Bodies.   

  
 SECTION 8 - EXEMPT REPORTS   

 
 There are no reports for consideration under this Section. 
  

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

167 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

COUNCIL 
   

Minutes of a meeting held at the Council Offices, Narborough 
   

TUESDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2025 
   

Present:- 
 

Cllr. Nick Chapman (Chairman) 
Cllr. Janet Forey (Vice-Chairman) 

   

Cllr. Royston Bayliss 
Cllr. Nick Brown 
Cllr. Cheryl Cashmore 
Cllr. Luke Cousin 
Cllr. Tony Deakin 
Cllr. Roy Denney 
Cllr. Susan Findlay 
Cllr. Helen Gambardella 
Cllr. Hannah Gill 
Cllr. Nigel Grundy 
 

Cllr. Paul Hartshorn 
Cllr. Richard Holdridge 
Cllr. Mark Jackson 
Cllr. Becca Lunn 
Cllr. Antony Moseley 
Cllr. Les Phillimore 
Cllr. Terry Richardson 
Cllr. Ande Savage 
Cllr. Tracey Shepherd 
Cllr. Dillan Shikotra 
 

Cllr. Mike Shirley 
Cllr. Roger Stead 
Cllr. Ben Taylor 
Cllr. Matt Tomeo 
Cllr. Bob Waterton 
Cllr. Bev Welsh 
Cllr. Jane Wolfe 
Cllr. Maggie Wright 
Cllr. Neil Wright 
 

 

 
Officers present:- 

 

 Julia Smith - Chief Executive 
 Sarah Pennelli - Executive Director - S.151 Officer 
 Marc Greenwood - Executive Director - Place 
 Louisa Horton - Executive Director - Communities 
 Gemma Dennis - Corporate Services Group Manager 
 Paul Coates - Neighbourhood Services Group Manager 
 Jonathan Hodge - Planning & Strategic Growth Group Manager 
 Katie Hollis - Finance Group Manager 
 Ian Jones - Housing Services Manager 
 John Crane - Housing Strategy Team Leader 
 Sandeep Tiensa - Senior Democratic Services & Scrutiny Officer 
 Avisa Birchenough - Democratic Services & Scrutiny Officer 
 Nicole Cramp - Democratic & Scrutiny Services Officer 
 

Honorary Alderman in attendance:- 
 

Guy Jackson and Iain Hewson 
 

Apologies:- 
Cllr. Shabbir Aslam, Cllr. Adrian Clifford, Cllr. Stuart Coar and Cllr. Alex DeWinter 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

168 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

225. DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS FROM MEMBERS  

 

 No disclosures were received. 

  

226. MINUTES  

 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2025 as circulated, were 
approved and signed as a correct record. 

  

227. CHANGE IN ORDER OF AGENDA  

 

 Under Part 4, Section 1, Paragraph 13 of the Council’s Constitution, the 
Chair, Cllr. Nick Chapman, moved that Agenda item 20, Motion under 
Council Rules of Procedure would be taken before Agenda item 4, 
Chairman’s Announcements. 

  

228. MOTION UNDER COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE  

 

 Cllr. Hannah Gill moved the following motion, seconded by Cllr. Paul 
Hartshorn: 
 
“The Council should have a duty of care to balance housing needs with 
environmental sustainability and the protection of community assets for the 
communities which they serve. Whilst I am aware that some elements of this 
motion may exist in isolation there is a need for greater transparency when 
community assets are being examined for future development potential and a 
clear process is required. Community assets are integral to the well-being of 
residents as well as serving to be a attractive feature of the district for 
potential residents. I hope that Councillors can see that by adopting this this 
motion that assets can be protected and ensure that they remain available for 
recreation, biodiversity and cultural enrichment whilst balancing the need for 
housing solutions.” 
 
The Chairman declared that the motion, having been put the vote was lost. 

  

 
DECISION 

 
That the motion, having been put to the vote was rejected. 

  

229. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

 The Chair, Cllr. Nick Chapman made announcements in respect of the 
following: 
 

Page 6



 

169 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

 Attended the Blaby District Council Community Awards on 30 January 
2025.  

 Attended the Oadby & Wigston Borough Council Chairman’s Charity 
Night on 3 February 2025. 

 Attended Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Councils Mayor’s Charity 
Night on 22 February 2025.  

  

230. LEADER'S STATEMENT  

 

 The Leader, Cllr. Terry Richardson presented his statement in respect of the 
following: 
 

 Devolution announcement 

 HNRFI protest letter 

 Community Awards 

 Going green at the depot 

 Big community switch 

 Blaby District Council Health & Wellbeing Partnership Event 

  

231. CHANGE IN ORDER OF AGENDA  

 

 Under Part 4, Section 1, Paragraph 13 of the Council’s Constitution, the 
Chair, Cllr. Nick Chapman, moved that Agenda item 21, Local Government 
Act 1972, Section 85 (1) – Approval of Absence would be taken before 
Agenda item 6, Presentation: Local Government Reorganisation and 
Devolution. 

  

232. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, SECTION 85(1) – APPROVAL OF 
ABSENCE  

 

 Considered - Report of the Senior Democratic Services & Scrutiny Officer, 
presented by Cllr. Terry Richardson – Leader of the Council. 

  

 DECISIONS 
 

1. That Council approves the waiver of the six-month attendance rule 
provided for within section 85(1) Local Government Act 1972 for Cllr. 
Stuart Coar due to illness. 

 
2. That the absence period be approved until the meeting of Council on 8 

July 2025, to allow a further report to be considered, if required. 
 

Reason: 
 
The Council has the statutory power to consider such requests. 

Page 7



 

170 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

  

233. PRESENTATION: LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION AND 
DEVOLUTION  

 

 Cllr. Hannah Gill left and returned to the meeting during this item. 
 
Members received a presentation from the Chief Executive & Cllr. Terry 
Richardson, Leader of the Council. 
 
The presentation covered the following points:  
 

 Leicestershire County Council’s proposal 

 Blaby District Councils proposal 

 Next steps 

 Proposal submission deadline 

  

234. PUBLIC SPEAKING PROTOCOL  

 

 No requests were received. 

  

235. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS  
 

236. QUESTION UNDER COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE  

 

 Cllr Paul Hartshorn raised the following question, to Cllr. Ben Taylor – 
Planning, IT & Transformation Portfolio Holder. 
 
“Could the relevant portfolio holder provide an update on the ongoing issues 
with the councillor email system? Many councillors have reported being 
unable to access emails from residents, which is preventing them from 
effectively carrying out their duties. What steps are being taken to resolve 
this issue, and when can we expect a full resolution?” 
 
Cllr. Ben Taylor – Planning, IT & Transformation Portfolio Holder responded: 
“To enable the new ICT service to inherit existing mailboxes (and all the data 
stored within those accounts) there is a requirement for any “cloud” 
mailboxes to be (temporarily) migrated back to an on-premise server.  
 
At the point Councillors mailboxes were pulled back to on-premise many who 
used personal devices for accessing mail accounts unfortunately lost access 
via the Outlook app due to this not being an access method 
supported/promoted by Leicestershire ICT Partnership (LICTP). An 
alternative method was identified by LICTP which was to utilise Outlook web 
access (OWA). Unfortunately, a separate unrelated issue which then arose 
meant the use of OWA had to be revoked.    
 

Page 8



 

171 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

As of Monday 17th February 2025, the Outlook app was reinstated with 
testing completed and successful roll out commenced from Tuesday 18th 
February 2025.  
 
As part of the ongoing work to transition away from the LICTP mailboxes 
reverting back to the cloud (MS365) is a priority piece of work and the BDC 
ICT team will continue to keep members updated on progress via the working 
group.” 
 
Cllr. Ben Taylor – Planning, IT & Transformation Portfolio Holder had the 
following request of Members:  
 
“This is one of many critical pieces of work to enable our exit from LICTP, we 
knew there would be some pain before things get better, and unfortunately, 
we know that will continue to be the case. We will always endeavour to 
ensure absolute transparency and communicate with colleagues and 
members as quickly and fully as possible, via appropriate channels, (as was 
the case for temporarily needing to move back to on premise with outlook). 
The ideal would of course be to have foresight of all the ‘snagging’ issues we 
will encounter but the reality is that is unlikely to be the case (as we 
discovered with members being unable to access emails via personal 
devices) but what we will always do is act on the issues encountered to 
identify a resolution as quickly as reasonably practicable. The (new) BDC ICT 
team are working exceptionally hard, at pace, and we ask for your continued 
patience and support on this journey to have our own in-house ICT 
environment,” 
 
Cllr. Paul Hartshorn asked the following supplementary question: Can the 
Council publish updates to notify residents when we are experiencing IT 
difficulties so they are aware that response times may be longer than usual? 
 
Cllr. Ben Taylor – Planning, IT & Transformation Portfolio Holder responded 
that he will contact the Communications Team to discuss options available to 
keep residents informed. 

  

237. QUESTION UNDER COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE  

 

 Cllr. Paul Hartshorn raised the following question,- to Cllr. Terry Richardson  
– Leader of the Council: 
 
"What steps are the Executive taking to ensure it is delivering Best Value for 
residents based on the new May 24 framework. How is Best Value measured 
and reported at Blaby District Council?" 
 
Cllr. Terry Richardson – Leader of the Council responded: 
 
“Can I thank Cllr Hartshorn for the question as it gives me the opportunity to 

Page 9



 

172 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

explain to Members and the public all of the fantastic work that we do to 
ensure Best Value.  
 
The statutory guidance on Best Value was issued by the Secretary of State 
for Levelling up, Housing and Communities in May 2024 and we take great 
care to ensure we follow the good practice within that guidance.   
 
Best Value requires authorities to “make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvements in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regards 
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness”.  In practice this 
covers how authorities set a balanced budget, provide its statutory services 
and how it secures value for money on all spending decisions.    
 
The statutory guidance provides greater clarity to the local government sector 
in England on how to fulfil the Best Value Duty by describing what constitutes 
best value, the standards expected and the models of intervention at the 
Secretary of State’s disposal in the event of failure to uphold these 
standards.   
 
The Best Value Guidance sets out 7 overlapping themes of good practice 
which if followed should show that an authority is meeting and delivering its 
obligations.    
 

 Continuous Improvement    

 Leadership    

 Governance    

 Culture    

 Use of Resources    

 Service Delivery    

 Partnership and Community Engagement    
 
Below each of these themes are examples of good and bad behaviours 
which local authorities can assess themselves against.   
 
We continuously assess ourselves against this tool, to identify any gaps in 
governance we need to address.  As I am sure Members are aware, the LGA 
has also published a new improvement and assurance framework, designed 
to help councils check that they have the right controls in place and identify 
where they need to become more effective.   
 
The framework promotes transparency and being open to external challenge 
such as a corporate peer challenge, and having political and managerial 
leadership which visibly prioritises ‘doing the right thing’. At Blaby District 
Council we invited a Corporate Peer Challenge in 2023, took action to 
address the issues raised and welcomed a subsequent six-month review 
which considered our progress.  
 

Page 10



 

173 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

Examples of our additional assurance activities include:   
 

 An annual review of the effectiveness of the council’s controls and 
governance in the production of the Annual Governance Statement.  

 Regularly reviewing performance, finance and risk information, through 
the Senior Leadership Team, Council, Cabinet Executive, Audit and 
Corporate Governance Committee and the Scrutiny Commission. 

 Ensuring that both members and officers have the skills they need for 
their roles by offering comprehensive training programmes utilising 
internal and external resources  

 Focused and constructive challenge by Scrutiny Commission and the 
Working Groups of decisions and policy development   

 Oversight and challenge of arrangements for risk, internal and external 
audit by the Audit and Governance Committee   

 
The external auditors Report on Value for Money as part of their Audit which 
is one of the ways we might measure and report on Best Value generally and 
not just in reaction to the 2024 Framework.  Our outgoing external auditors 
(Ernst & Young) have provided their commentary on the three outstanding 
audit years only recently (2021,2022 and 2023) and this report has been 
shared publicly through reports presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. No concerns were raised by Ernst & Young regarding the three 
areas that are reported on within the VFM report which are:   
 

 Financial sustainability: How the Council plans and manages its 
resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services  

 Governance: How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions 
and properly manages its risks  

 Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the Council uses 
information about its costs and performance to improve the way it 
manages and delivers its services  

 Azets, our current external auditors have provided an interim view on 
VFM reporting for the financial year 2023/2024 and reported no concerns 
to the Audit and Governance Committee held on the 5th February.  A 
more in-depth commentary will be provided in their Auditor Annual Report 
due at the end of March 2025.   

 Ongoing Self Assessment utilising the LGA tool.” 
 

The Chairman, Cllr. Nick Chapman adjourned the meeting at 18:53 to allow a 
comfort break. The meeting reconvened at 19:05 

  

238. GENDER PAY GAP 2024  

 

 Considered – Report of the HR Service Manager, presented by Cllr. Maggie 
Wright - Finance, People & Performance (Deputy Leader) Portfolio Holder.  

  

Page 11



 

174 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

 DECISION 
 

That the gender pay gap report be endorsed for submission of data to the 
government in line with statutory guidance. 
 
Reasons: 
 
1. The Council is required by law to carry out Gender Pay Reporting under 

the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties & Public Authorities) Regulations 
2017 and this enables the Council to monitor pay differentials by gender 
throughout the Council. 

 
2. The report was considered by the Scrutiny Committee on 12 February 

2025. There were no issues. The proposed data submission to the 
government was noted. 

  

239. PAY POLICY 2024/25  

 

 Considered – Report of the Executive Director (Section 151 Officer), 
presented by Cllr. Maggie Wright - Finance, People & Performance (Deputy 
Leader) Portfolio Holder.  

  

 DECISION  
 

That the Blaby District Council Pay Policy Statement for 2024/25 be 
approved. 
 
Reason:  
 
Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to prepare pay 
policy statements setting out the authority’s own policies regarding the 
remuneration of its staff particularly its senior staff (or ‘chief officers’) and its 
lowest paid employees. 

  

240. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME  

 

 Considered – Report of the Development Strategy Manager, presented by 
Cllr. Ben Taylor - Planning, Transformation and ICT Portfolio Holder.  

  

 DECISION  
 

That the revised Blaby District Local Development Scheme at Appendix A of 
the report be approved, to become effective immediately. 
 
Reasons:  
 

Page 12



 

175 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

1. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended, requires 
a Local Planning Authority to prepare and maintain a Local Development 
Scheme. 

 
2. The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG) has requested that all local planning authorities produce an 
updated Local Development Scheme (LDS) and submit a copy to MHCLG 
no later than 6 March 2025. 

  

241. HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 2025 - 2030  

 

 Considered – Report of the Housing Strategy Team Leader, presented by 
Cllr. Les Phillimore- Planning, Housing, Community Safety and 
Environmental Services Portfolio Holder.  

  

 DECISION 
 

That Council approve the new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2025 – 2030 and the proposed priorities and actions contained within it. 
 
Reasons:  
 
1. The Councils current Homelessness Strategy runs from 2020 – 2025 and 

so a new 5-year strategy is needed to replace it. 
 
2. The Council has a statutory duty to carry out a periodic review of 

homelessness in the District and to publish a Homelessness Strategy. 

  

242. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CABINET EXECUTIVE: QUARTER 3 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME REVIEW 2024/25  

 

 Considered – Report of the Accountancy Services Manager, presented by 
Cllr. Maggie Wright- Finance, People & Performance Portfolio Holder. 

  

 DECISIONS 
 

1. That the report be accepted. 
 

2. That the latest Capital Programme for 2024/25, totalling £9,898,960 be 
accepted.  

 
Reasons: 
 
1. To ensure that the Council had adequate resources in place to meet its 

capital expenditure commitments. 
 

Page 13



 

176 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

2. To reflect additions or other changes to the Capital Programme that have 
occurred in the 3rd quarter of the year. 

  

243. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CABINET EXECUTIVE: 5 YEAR CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME 2025/26 TO 2029/30  

 

 Considered – Report of the Finance Group Manager, presented by Cllr. 
Maggie Wright- Finance, People & Performance Portfolio Holder. 

  

 DECISIONS 
 

1. That the 5 Year Capital Programme for 2025/26 to 2029/30, set out at 
Appendix A of the report be approved. 
 

2. That the application of capital resources of £1,422,512 for 2025/26, 
including a borrowing requirement of £630,012, be approved. 
 

3. That the Capital Strategy 2025/26 to 2029/30 be approved. 
 

     Reasons: 
 

1. To obtain approval for the proposed level of capital expenditure in 
2025/26 and the suggested method of financing that expenditure. 
 

2. To provide a longer-term forecast of capital expenditure and financing 
requirements for the period 2025/26 to 2029/30. 

 
3. To ensure compliance with the Prudential Code. 

  

244. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CABINET EXECUTIVE: PRUDENTIAL 
INDICATOR & TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2025/26  

 

 Considered – Report of the Finance Group Manager, presented by Cllr. 
Maggie Wright- Finance, People & Performance Portfolio Holder. 

  

 DECISIONS 
 
 
1. That the capital prudential indicators and limits for 2025/26 to 2029/30 be 

approved. 
 

2. That the Treasury Management Strategy for 2025/26 and the treasury 
prudential indicators be approved. 

 

Page 14



 

177 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

3. That the Investment Strategy for 2025/26 be approved. 
 

4. That the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement for 2025/26 be 
approved. 

 
Reasons: 
 
1. The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations requires the 

Council to “have regard to” the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code of Practice to set Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators for the next three years to ensure that the Council’s capital 
investment plans are affordable, prudent, and sustainable. 
 

2. The Act requires the Council to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing 
and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy. This covers the Council’s 
criteria for choosing investment counterparties and limiting exposure to 
the risk of loss. 

 
3. The Act also requires the Council to undertake an annual review of its 

policy for calculating the minimum revenue provision (MRP) for 
repayment of external debt. 

  

245. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CABINET EXECUTIVE: COUNCIL TAX 
2025/26  

 

 Considered – Report of the Finance Group Manager, presented by Cllr. 
Maggie Wright- Finance, People & Performance Portfolio Holder. 
 
Cllr. Luke Cousin proposed an amendment to recommendation 2.2 of the 
report, seconded by Cllr. Antony Moseley, as follows: 
 
The District Council Band D Council Tax is set at £191.57, reflecting an 
increase of 1.29% (£2.44), all other bands being determined in accordance 
with the relevant Sections of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as 
amended, and subsequent adjustments to Agenda item 19 as required. 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, the vote was recorded as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

Cllr. Royston Bayliss   

 Cllr. Nick Brown  

 Cllr. Cheryl Cashmore  

 Cllr. Nick Chapman  

Cllr. Luke Cousin   

 Cllr. Tony Deakin  

Page 15



 

178 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

 Cllr. Roy Denney  

 Cllr. Susan Findlay  

 Cllr. Janet Forey  

Cllr. Helen 
Gambardella 

  

Cllr. Hannah Gill   

 Cllr. Nigel Grundy  

Cllr. Paul Hartshorn   

Cllr. Richard Holdridge   

 Cllr. Mark Jackson  

 Cllr. Rebecca Lunn  

Cllr. Antony Moseley   

 Cllr. Les Phillimore  

 Cllr. Terry Richardson  

Cllr. Ande Savage   

 Cllr. Tracey Shepherd  

 Cllr. Dillan Shikotra  

 Cllr. Mike Shirley  

 Cllr. Roger Stead  

 Cllr. Ben Taylor  

 Cllr. Matt Tomeo  

 Cllr. Bob Waterton  

Cllr. Bev Welsh   

 Cllr. Jane Wolfe  

 Cllr. Neil Wright  

 Cllr. Maggie Wright  

 
The Chairman declared that the amendment had been lost. 
 
Members then returned to vote on the recommendations as published in the  
original report. 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, the vote was recorded as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

 Cllr. Royston Bayliss  

Cllr. Nick Brown   

Cllr. Cheryl Cashmore   

Cllr. Nick Chapman   

 Cllr. Luke Cousin  

Cllr. Tony Deakin   

Cllr. Roy Denney   

Cllr. Susan Findlay   

Cllr. Janet Forey   

Page 16



 

179 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

 Cllr. Helen 
Gambardella 

 

 Cllr. Hannah Gill  

Cllr. Nigel Grundy   

 Cllr. Paul Hartshorn  

 Cllr. Richard Holdridge  

Cllr. Mark Jackson   

Cllr. Rebecca Lunn   

 Cllr. Antony Moseley  

Cllr. Les Phillimore   

Cllr. Terry Richardson   

 Cllr. Ande Savage  

Cllr. Tracey Shepherd   

Cllr. Dillan Shikotra   

Cllr. Mike Shirley   

Cllr. Roger Stead   

Cllr. Ben Taylor   

Cllr. Matt Tomeo   

Cllr. Bob Waterton   

 Cllr. Bev Welsh  

Cllr. Jane Wolfe   

Cllr. Neil Wright   

Cllr. Maggie Wright   

 
  

  

 DECISIONS 
 

1. The Council Tax Requirement for 2025/26 is set at £6,754,058. 
 

2. *The District Council Band D Council Tax is set at £194.79, reflecting an 
increase of 2.99% (£5.65), all other bands being determined in 
accordance with the relevant Sections of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, as amended. 
 

3. The precepts and Band D Council Tax for Leicestershire County 
Council**, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), the 
Combined Fire Authority, and the various Parish Councils within the 
District, be determined as set out in the following report, with all other 
bands being determined in accordance with the relevant Sections of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended. 

 
*Recommendation 2 is subject to consideration of feedback following the end 
of the public consultation period at 11.45pm on Sunday 23rd February 2025. 
*Subject to the meeting of Leicestershire County Council to be held on 19th 
February 2025. 

Page 17



 

180 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

 
Reason: 
 
The Council is statutorily required to determine its own Council Tax 
Requirement and to determine the Council Tax for the 2025/26 financial year, 
after considering precepts set by the other preceptors. 

  

246. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CABINET EXECUTIVE: GENERAL FUND 
BUDGET PROPOSALS 2025/26  

 

 Cllr. Dillan Shikotra left the meeting during the consideration of this item and 
did not return. 
 
Considered – Report of the Executive Director (Section 151 Officer), 
presented by Cllr. Maggie Wright- Finance, People & Performance Portfolio 
Holder. 
 
Cllr. Luke Cousin moved that the following additional recommendation be 
added to the report, which was seconded by Cllr. Antony Moseley: 
 
£111,639 be allocated from the general fund to a new, earmarked, reserve 
for the purchase of additional housing to help reduce homelessness in the 
District. 
 
Reason: 
 
Earmarking funds to demonstrate this council’s agreement to continue 
investing in new properties to address homelessness in our district, with the 
aim to achieve this as future opportunities become available.  
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, the vote was recorded as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

Cllr. Royston Bayliss   

Cllr. Nick Brown   

 Cllr. Cheryl Cashmore  

 Cllr. Nick Chapman  

Cllr. Luke Cousin   

Cllr. Tony Deakin   

 Cllr. Roy Denney  

 Cllr. Susan Findlay  

 Cllr. Janet Forey  

Cllr. Helen 
Gambardella 

  

Page 18



 

181 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

Cllr. Hannah Gill   

 Cllr. Nigel Grundy  

Cllr. Paul Hartshorn   

Cllr. Richard Holdridge   

 Cllr. Mark Jackson  

Cllr. Rebecca Lunn   

Cllr. Antony Moseley   

 Cllr. Les Phillimore  

 Cllr. Terry Richardson  

Cllr. Ande Savage   

Cllr. Tracey Shepherd   

 Cllr. Mike Shirley  

 Cllr. Roger Stead  

 Cllr. Ben Taylor  

 Cllr. Matt Tomeo  

Cllr. Bob Waterton   

Cllr. Bev Welsh   

 Cllr. Jane Wolfe  

 Cllr. Neil Wright  

 Cllr. Maggie Wright  

 
The Chairman declared that the amendment had been lost. 
 
Members then returned to vote on the recommendations as published in the  
original report. 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, the vote was recorded as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

 Cllr. Royston Bayliss  

Cllr. Nick Brown   

Cllr. Cheryl Cashmore   

Cllr. Nick Chapman   

 Cllr. Luke Cousin  

Cllr. Tony Deakin   

Cllr. Roy Denney   

Cllr. Susan Findlay   

Cllr. Janet Forey   

 Cllr. Helen 
Gambardella 

 

 Cllr. Hannah Gill  

Cllr. Nigel Grundy   

 Cllr. Paul Hartshorn  

 Cllr. Richard Holdridge  

Page 19



 

182 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

Cllr. Mark Jackson   

Cllr. Rebecca Lunn   

 Cllr. Antony Moseley  

Cllr. Les Phillimore   

Cllr. Terry Richardson   

 Cllr. Ande Savage  

Cllr. Tracey Shepherd   

Cllr. Mike Shirley   

Cllr. Roger Stead   

Cllr. Ben Taylor   

Cllr. Matt Tomeo   

Cllr. Bob Waterton   

 Cllr. Bev Welsh  

Cllr. Jane Wolfe   

Cllr. Neil Wright   

Cllr. Maggie Wright   

 
  
 

  

 DECISONS 
 
1. To have regard to the comments of the Executive Director (Section 151 

Officer) in paragraph 4.7 of the report in respect of the requirements of 
the Local Government Finance Act 2003. 
 

2. That the 2025/26 General Fund Revenue Account net expenditure budget 
of £15.407m be approved. 

 
3. That Council approve the increase of the General Fund Reserve level 

held to 45% of the net budgeted revenue expenditure be approved. 
 

4. That delegated authority be given to the S151 Officer in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder to make minor amendments to the Budget should it 
be necessary. 

 
Reasons: 
 

1. It is a requirement for the Cabinet Executive and Council to take into 
account the requirements of the Local Government Finance Act 2003 in 
relation to the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves. 

 
2. Cabinet and Council are required to consider and approve the General 

Fund Revenue Account budget proposals in order to set the budget and 
Council Tax for the forthcoming financial year. 

 
3. It is appropriate to review the General Fund Balance upper limit 

Page 20



 

183 
 
Council - Tuesday, 25 February 2025 

parameters given the financial uncertainty and the Council’s reserve 
levels. 

 
4. Minor amendments to the budget may become necessary prior to the 

commencement of the year in April, it is therefore appropriate to give 
delegated authority to allow these to be reflected in the budget. 

  

THE MEETING CONCLUDED AT 8.39 P.M.
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Blaby District Council 

Council 

 
Date of Meeting 8 April 2025 

Title of Report Amendments to Appointments to Committees and Seat 

Allocations 

This is not a Key Decision and is not on the Forward Plan 

Lead Member Cllr. Terry Richardson - Leader of the Council  

Report Author Senior Democratic Services & Scrutiny Officer 

Strategic Themes All Themes: Enabling communities and supporting 

vulnerable residents; Enhancing and maintaining our natural 

and built environment; Growing and supporting our 

economy; Keeping you safe and healthy; Ambitious and well 

managed Council, valuing our people 

 
1. What is this report about? 

 
1.1 To advise Council of amended seat allocations and appointments to  

Committees following Cllr. Rebecca Lunn becoming an Independent Member.  
 

2. Recommendation(s) to Council  
  
2.1 That effect be given to the wishes of the political groups as to the allocation  

of seats as detailed in the report. 
  
2.2 To approve the appointment of Members to serve on Committees for those  

positions as detailed in the report, subject to the seat distribution being 
agreed without any member voting against. 

  

 

3. Reason for Decisions Recommended  
  
3.1 Due to Cllr. Rebecca Lunn becoming an Independent Member, it was 

necessary to re-calculate the seat allocations of Committees. 
  
3.2 It is appropriate to give effect to the wishes of the political groups and  

ensure compliance with the Local Government & Housing Act 1989, Section 
15 – 17 inclusive. 

  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



4. Matters to consider  
  
4.1 Background    
  

The rules governing political balance on Committees/Sub-Committees are set 
out under Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (duty to 
allocate seats to political groups) and Section 16 (duty to give effect to 
allocations). Section 17 of the above Act states that section 15 and 16 shall 
not apply where no member votes against a seat distribution not following the 
requirements of Sections 15 and 16 of the above Act. 
 
In simple terms this removes the political balance requirement, the effect of 
which has enabled seat allocation on an agreed rather than imposed basis. 
 
This arrangement is of particular benefit in relation to membership of scrutiny 
working groups. Members are reminded that appointments to Cabinet 
Executive are exempted from the provisions of the above Act by virtue of the 
Local Government Act 2000. Quasi-Judicial and similar committees should 
be regarded in similar light.  
 
The Council must, when making appointments to Committees/Sub-
Committees, give effect to the wishes of the political groups to whom seats 
are allocated. The Council is asked to endorse, unanimously, the distribution 
of seats as set out in the report. 
 
Formal notification has been received that Cllr. Rebecca Lunn has become 
an Independent Member. As a result, the seat allocations and committee 
appointments were required to be re-calculated. 
 
Seat Allocation – Based on current membership arrangements, the 
representation of seats is set out below:  
 

Conservative Labour  Liberal Democrat Green Independent 

32 15 9 3 1 

 
Amendment to Committee Appointments 
 
It is recommended that Cllr. Rebecca Lunn be appointed to the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee, with the allocated seat distribution as shown below:  
 

Conservative  Labour Liberal Democrat Green  Independent 

6 1 4 1 1 

 
 

4.2 Proposal(s)  
  

That the amended seat allocation and appointments to Committees be 
approved. 

  
4.3 Relevant Consultations  

Page 24



  
All Political Groups 

  
4.4 Significant Issues  
  

None.  
 

4.5 In preparing this report, the author has considered issues related to Human 
Rights, Legal Matters, Human Resources, Equalities, Public Health 
Inequalities and there are no areas of concern.  

 
5. Environmental impact 
   
5.1 A Net Zero and Climate Impact Assessment (NZCIA) has been carried out 

and no adverse impacts identified. 

 
6. What will it cost and are there opportunities for savings? 
  
6.1 There are no cost implications as a result of this report. 

 
7. What are the risks and how can they be reduced? 
  
7.1 No risks have been identified. 

 
8. Other options considered  
  
8.1 No other options have been considered. 

 
9. Appendix   
  
9.1 None.  

 
10. Background paper(s)   
  
10.1 None.   

 
11. Report author’s contact details   
 Sandeep Tiensa Senior Democratic Services & Scrutiny 

Officer 

 Sandeep.tiensa@blaby.gov.uk 0116 272 7640 
   

 
        

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Blaby District Council 

Council 

 
Date of Meeting 8 April 2025 

Title of Report Corporate Action Plan 2025-26 

This is not a Key Decision and is on the Forward Plan 

Lead Member Cllr. Terry Richardson - Leader of the Council  

Report Author Business Systems & Information Manager 

Strategic Themes All Themes: Enabling our communities and supporting our 
vulnerable residents; Enhancing and maintaining our natural 
and built environment; Growing and supporting our economy; 
Keeping you safe and healthy; Ambitious and well managed 
Council, valuing our people. 

 
1. What is this report about? 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Action Plan 2025-26 to 

Council for approval. 
  

 

2. Recommendation(s) to Council  
  
2.1 That Council approves the Corporate Action Plan 2025-26.  
  

 

3. Reason for Decisions Recommended  
  
3.1 It is important that Elected Members, support the priorities for the next year 

which contribute to the delivery of the Corporate Plan. 
  

 
4. Matters to consider  
  
4.1 Background 

    
 The Council’s vision for the district and its key strategic themes are set out in 

‘Blaby District Plan 2024 - 2028’.  
 
The vision is “to ensure that Blaby District is a great place to live, work and 
visit.”.  
 
The role of the ‘Corporate Action Plan’ is to outline specific projects 
planned for the forthcoming period that will contribute towards the delivery of 
the Blaby District Plan.  
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



Many of the actions are relatively long-term endeavours, realistically taking 
longer than a year to complete.  The actions listed in the Plan detail the 
priority actions for the council for the forthcoming year. 
 
This corporate plan has been more difficult to put together given the context 
of local government reform.  There are a number of actions relating to 
preparing for the November submission and supporting our workforce.  As 
the year progresses, we may need to be flexible in our approach to our work 
and ensure we get the balance right to focus on continuing to deliver 
services to our communities whilst ensuring we proactively shape the future 
of local government across the region.  We will ensure we keep members up 
to date regarding this and any implications for service delivery.  
 

4.2 Proposal(s)  
  

That Council approves the Corporate Action Plan for 2025-26. 
  
4.3 Relevant Consultations  
  
 The Senior Responsible Officer was consulted for each project contained 

within the Corporate Action Plan to gain the most recent and relevant 
information. Some to the pieces of work contained within the action plan 
have been subject to separate consultations.  
 

4.4 Significant Issues  
 

 There are none within this report, however, individual projects may have 
associated issues, and these will be detailed in the appended report. 

 
5. What will it cost and are there opportunities for savings? 
  
5.1 The annual budget, approved by Council in February each year, supports 

the delivery of the actions contained within the Corporate Action Plan. 
  

 
6. What are the risks and how can they be reduced? 

 

Current Risk Actions to reduce the risks 

That the projects and actions within 
the Corporate Action Plan are not 
sufficiently progressed, meaning the 
key strategic objectives found in the 
Blaby Plan may also be diminished. 
 

The delivery of the action plan will be 
monitored by SLT with reports to Council on 
a six-monthly basis. In addition, relevant 
Portfolio Holders will be kept up to date with 
specific activities. 

Council members are unaware of 
key projects and their progress 
meaning they are unable to exert 
any influence or communicate this 
to residents, business and other 
stakeholders. 

The provision of the appended progress 
report in addition to frequent updates to 
cabinet members collectively and portfolio 
holders individually.  

Page 28



 
 
7. Other options considered  
  
7.1 No other options were considered. It is important that residents, partners, 

Elected Members, and staff are familiar with how the Council is delivering 
against its agreed actions and priorities. 

 
8. Environmental impact 

 
8.1 Any environmental impacts will be outlined alongside each individual project 

where relevant. However, our journey to Net Zero is a key priority for the 
Council and, there are specific actions within the annual plan which support 
the delivery of this priority. 

 
9. Other significant issues   
  
9.1 In preparing this report, the author has considered issues related to Human 

Rights, Legal Matters, Human Resources, Equalities, Public Health 
Inequalities, and Climate Local and there are no areas of concern.  
 

  
10. Appendix   
  
10.1 Appendix A – Corporate Action Plan 2025-26  

 
11. Background paper(s)   
  
11.1 
 
11.2 

Blaby District Plan 2021 - 2024’ and Blaby District Plan 2024 - 2028 
 
Corporate Action Plan 2023 -2024  

 
12. Report author’s contact details   

 
 Luke Clements Business Systems & Information Manager 
 Luke.clements@blaby.gov.uk 0116 272 7728 
   

 
      
 

         

Page 29

https://www.blaby.gov.uk/media/b1tn1bly/blaby-district-plan-2021-2014-final.pdf
https://w3.blaby.gov.uk/decision-making/documents/s48056/Appendix%20A%20-%20Corporate%20Action%20Plan%202023%20-2024.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



A great place to live, work and visit.

Link To The Blaby District Plan 2024 - 2028

Enabling Our Communities, Especially Our Vulnerable Residents

Description 
Expected Completion Lead

Homelessness Prevention 

We are committed to maintaining a zero rough 

sleeping rate. We recognise the need for specialised housing to meet the 

needs of the most vulnerable members of our community, and pledge to 

work closely with partners to make this a reality. 

Executive Director (Communities)

Temporary Accommodation

Continue to develop our offer of Temporary Accommodation to support the 

Homelessness Strategy in terms of the Operating Model and identifying 

additional opportuunities to expand the offer.

March-26 Housing Services Team

Enhancing & Maintaining Our Natural & Built Environments

Description Expected Completion Lead

Council Net Zero 2030

In an effort to be a responsible and exemplary organisation, and in response 

to the global climate change crisis, Blaby District Council aims to reduce its 

carbon emissions to 'Net Zero' by 31 March 2030. The collection of projects 

and initiatives within this work programme are contributing to that aim.

Executive Director (Communities)

Go Net Zero at the Depot (EV Charging)

Adaptations to the council depot to contribute towards our ambition to be 

carbon neutral by 2030. This will include installation of phase 1 electric 

vehicle charging infrastructure to facilitate the gradual evolution towards an 

electric fleet.

December-26 Neighbourhood Services

National Waste Collection Reform
To ensure we are able to deliver the new Government requirements with 

respect to food waste and have adequate funding in place to ensure 

effective and efficient provision of service.

Executive Director (Section 151)

 Food Waste Collections 
New national government policy on waste collections has mandated the 

introduction of separate weekly food waste collections by 1 April 2026. 
April-26

Waste Operations Team / Fleet 

Services Team

P
age 31

file:///C:/BDC-Communications/Consultation/Forms/AllItems.aspx
Appendix A



Emerging Local Plan
To continue development of the emerging local plan towards adoption of an 

up to date and robust plan that sets the spatial vision for the district and re-

establishes a five year housing land supply.

Executive Director (Place)

Progress the Local Plan

The production of the Local Plan will continue throughout the year, with 

milestones to include publication of the Regulation 19 phase, which will 

include consultation with the public.

March-26
Planning Development Strategy 

Team

Growing & Supporting our Economy

Description Expected Completion Lead

Economic Development Framework

The Economic Development Framework brings together all economic 

development activities that are occurring within the district and considers 

how they complement each other to maximise the benefits for our residents, 

businesses and visitors.

Executive Director (Place)

Delivery of the Economic Development 

Framework action plan

Working with partners and across BDC teams, the newly created EDF action 

plan will be delivered. The plan enables delivery across the five thematic 

areas of the EDF, drawing upon the expertise and skills of both private and 

public sector bodies to ensure objectives are achieved.

March-26 Business Work and Skills Team

Tourism Growth Plan

The Tourism Growth Plan for Blaby District outlines the ambition, objectives 

and priorities for managing, developing and promoting tourism in the District. 

The plan has been developed by the Blaby District Tourism Partnership. The 

plan’s purpose is to focus efforts by the Council, its partners and tourism 

businesses on the actions which are likely to have the most benefit for the 

visitor economy of Blaby District.

Executive Director (Place)

Delivery of the Tourism Growth Plan action plan, 

in conjunction with the Blaby District Tourism 

Partnership. 

The newly created Blaby Tourism Growth Plan will be delivered throughout 

the year. The plan will bring together partners from across the district to 

maximise the opportunities for growth in visitor numbers and increase the 

overall economic impact of tourism.

March-26 Leisure and Tourism Team

Keeping You Safe & Healthy

Description Expected Completion Lead

P
age 32



Active Travel Strategy
This Strategy will set out plans for enabling further active travel in the 

District. 
Executive Director (Place)

Improvement of Infrastructure

The key focus for this year is working with partners to identify and apply for 

funding opportunities to improve active travel infrastructure across the 

district.

March-26 Health, Leisure & Tourism Team

Community Safety Strategy
The plan sets out the work that will be undertaken to meet our statutory 

duties under the Community Safety requirements. 
Executive Director (Communities)

Delivery of the Community Safety Partnership 

Action Plan

The key focus for this year is improving the survivors of domestic abuse, 

tackling serious violence and reducinghe intentional self harm rates.
March-26

Community Safety and Resident 

Support team

Contaminated Land Strategy
The Contaminated Land Strategy sets out how the authority approaches the 

management, mitigation and monitoring of contaminated land within the 

district. . 

Executive Director (Communities)

Delivery of Contaminated land initiatives
We will continue to deliver management operations on identified 

contaminated land sites.
March-26 Envronmental Services Team

Leisure Provision
Identification of Leisure provision in the District to promote access to sports 

and fitness opportunities
Executive Director (Place)

Progress the scoping of the Lubbesthorpe leisure 

offer

Work with the Developer, Sport England, Football Foundation, Lubbesthorpe 

Parish Council and any other relevant stakeholders to scope the design for a 

leisure offer at Lubbesthorpe and to commence the planning arrangements.

March-26
Health, Leisure & Tourism Team and 

Strategic Growth Team

Ambitious & Well Managed Council, Valuing Our People

Description Expected Completion Lead

Local Government Reorganisation 

& Devolution

This work programme contains the actions required to enable Blaby District 

Council to be at the heart of the LGR and Devolution Agenda for Leicester 

and Leicestershire and ensure that our residents and staff are supported, 

empowered and represented.

Chief Executive

External and Internal Communication Strategies

Delivery of External and Internal communication plans to ensure that 

messages are disseminated in an accurate and timely manner to minimise 

anxiety and maximise engagement in the LGR and Devolution agenda.

March-26 Communication Team

Human Resource Capacity
Providing staff with support, skills and tools to adapt to change and prosper 

in a new organisation, as well as sustainable recruitment and retention
March-26 Human Resources Team

Submission of LGR Proposal

Develop with Partners the Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation in 

Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland
November-25 Chief Executive

Councillor Capacity

Engagement with external partners such as the Planning Advisory Service to 

equip our Councillors with the knowledge and skills
March-25 Governance Team

P
age 33



Financial Sustainability for Blaby 

District Council

This work programme contains the actions required to demonstrate the 

Council's ability to fund its current and future services, including the 

adequacy of reserves, and the approach to identifying savings to close the 

forecast budget gap.

Executive Director (Section 151)

Medium Term Financial Strategy

Revising the MTFS to reflect the Local Govenment Funding Reform and 

Business Rate Reset expected.  Linking to our key strategies such as 

transformation and commercialisation, the plan will clearly articulate how to 

address the budget gap within our budgets and the expected growing 

demands for our services.  

May-26 Finance Team

Transforming Blaby Together

Transforming Blaby Together is our over-arching response to the challenges 

that we face as a council. This Strategy and it's associated work programme 

is to enable the authority to adopt a culture of continuous improvement to 

facilitate opportunities and different ways of working to drive operational 

effectiveness and build in cost effective efficiencies.  This is particularly 

important as we move into Local Government Reorganisation.

Executive Director (Section 151)

Enhance Data Intelligence 
Embracement of emerging technologies such as MS Power BI and AI to 

identify improvements and drive effectiveness.
March-26

Business Intellegence and Systems 

Team

Commercial Strategy
Planned activities that sit within the priority action plan contained within our 

Commercial Strategy.
Executive Director (Section 151)

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Deliver projects funded from year 4 UKSPF allocation. March-26 Various

Progress Strategic Asset management approach

Continue to develop the Hayes Gardens site proposal, in partnership with 

Santander, seeking its inclusion in the Local Plan.

Progress the sale of South Drive which will eventually lead to the 

development of up to 31 affordable homes.

March-26 Property & Assets Team

Disposal of Assets
Continue with programme to sell or transfer land in line with the Parks and 

Open Spaces Strategy.
March-26 Parks and Open Spaces

ICT Service Provision Improvement
To ensure that the ICT provision for Blaby District Council is robust, reliable 

and the infrastructure is fit for purpose. In addition, the Blaby ICT provision 

should support Blaby to realise future digital ambitions.  

Executive Director (Section 151)

Ensure Our ICT Provision Meets the Needs of 

the Business

Continue the transition to an in-house service and identify and implement 

service improvements
March-26 ICT Team

P
age 34



Blaby District Council 

Council 

 
Date of Meeting 8 April 2025 

Title of Report Local Government reorganisation and Devolution – 

March 2025 Submission 

This is not a Key Decision and is not on the Forward Plan 

Lead Member Cllr. Terry Richardson - Leader of the Council  

Report Author Chief Executive 

Strategic Themes All Themes: Enabling communities and supporting 

vulnerable residents; Enhancing and maintaining our natural 

and built environment; Growing and supporting our 

economy; Keeping you safe and healthy; Ambitious and well 

managed Council, valuing our people 

 
1. What is this report about? 

 
1.1 This report seeks to provide an update regarding the actions taken to date in 

response to the Government’s English Devolution White Paper and the 
statutory invite letter received from the MHCLG.  

  

2. Recommendation(s) to Council  
  
2.1 
 

To note the submission made to Government on behalf of all of the districts 
and boroughs across Leicestershire and Rutland County Council. 
 

 

3. Reason for Decisions Recommended  
  
3.1 To ensure all members are engaged and informed and are aware of the 

process undertaken to date. 
  

 
4.0 

 
Matters to consider  

  
4.1 Background    

On the 13 January 2025, Cabinet agreed to delegate to the Leader and the 
Chief Executive, authority to engage with other local authorities, the 
government and relevant partners to develop the proposal to create a 
Mayoral Strategic Authority and develop options relating to local government 
re-organisation. This is to ensure that Blaby District Council and its residents 
are represented as far as possible in ongoing discussions with the 
Government. 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 10



The Government wrote to all councils on 5 February 2025 formally inviting 
them to work collaboratively with other councils in their areas to develop a 
proposal for local government reorganisation. The Government asked for 
interim plans to be submitted on or before 21 March 2025, in line with the 
guidance set out in their letter. Government have outlined that this will not be 
a pass-fail date for proposals. 
 
Discussions have taken place with all local authorities across LLR and it is a 
huge accolade that we have submitted a joint plan to Government on behalf 
of all of the districts and boroughs and Rutland County Council.  To align the 
views of 8 different councils and submit a joint plan speaks to the collegiate 
and collaborative approach across Leicestershire. This has involved 
compromise and negotiations, however, we are hugely proud of the attached 
submission and strongly believe it is the Natural Choice for our locality.  
 
In coming to their view, the Districts and Rutland considered that a key focus 
has to be how best to unlock the benefits of Devolution for our area and 
deliver the right approach for LGR. 
 
Alongside the Devolution focus and Government guidance the following 
have been used as design principles. That any new unitary councils should:  

• Strike the right balance between size and maintaining a strong local 
connection to communities  

• Deliver savings and sustainable organisations  

• Reflect the way people live their lives and work  

• Retain local democratic accountability  

• Ensure a strong focus on neighbourhoods, and community 
partnerships  

• Preserve local heritage and civic identities.  
 
Starting from first principles meant looking at a range of options including:  
1) Two Unitaries: Single County Unitary / City  
2) Three Unitaries: North / South (Rutland) / City  
3) Three Unitaries: North (Rutland) / South / City  
4) Three Unitaries: East / West / City  
 
Maps were generated for each, and considered the following variables:  

• Population,  

• Workforce,  

• Economic inactivity,  

• Job density (ratio jobs/workforce), self-containment: commuting, 

• Deprivation,  

• Proxy for adult social care (pension credits),  

• Proxy for children’s services (children in poverty),  

• Housing (temporary accommodation pressures),  

• Financial balance: local authority debt and income 
 
Both the County and the City Councils have submitted their own proposals.  
The County one outlines a single unitary for Leicestershire, excluding 

Page 36



Rutland with no changes to the city boundaries.  The City submission 
outlines a significantly extended city boundary and a unitary authority that 
rings around the city including Rutland.  
 
We have now submitted our plans which are attached at appendix A and B.  
The next stage of the process is to receive feedback on our proposals from 
MHCLG.  We will continue to work on our submission due in November and 
this will involve further public engagement to fully inform the final proposals. 
 

  
4.2 Proposal(s) 
 Our submission is attached in executive summary format and in full at 

Appendix A and B.  To outline our proposal succinctly it suggests: 
 
Devolution 
Following discussions between all Local Authorities in Leicestershire there 
was a consensus on creating a new Mayoral Strategic Authority for LLR. As 
such this has been included as a building block within our submission. 
 

 Local Government reorganisation 
We have proposed a balanced three unitary model for LLR, ‘North, South, 
City’ which is big enough to deliver and close enough to respond.  
 
North - The areas currently served by Charnwood, North West Leicestershire 
and Melton district and borough councils, and Rutland County Council, would 
be served by one unitary authority. 
  
South - The areas currently served by Blaby, Harborough, Hinckley & 
Bosworth and Oadby & Wigston district and borough councils would be 
served by another unitary authority  
 
City - Leicester City would continue to be a unitary authority based on its 
existing boundaries.  
 
 

4.3 Relevant Consultations  
Given the time available our ability to undertaken full and comprehensive 
consultation was limited, however, across LLR we managed to engage with 
over 600 key stakeholders, and received 4646 responses to our survey. The 
results of this engagement are included at Appendix C. The results showed 
that 82% favoured the north, south, city model, whilst 18% preferred the 
single unitary model. The top concerns identified were  

- Loss of local identity and representation,  
- Service quality and accessibility,  
- Financial implications and Council Tax. 

  
  
4.4 Significant Issues  
 In preparing this report, the author has considered issues related to Human 

Rights, Legal Matters, Human Resources, Equalities, Public Health 

Page 37



Inequalities and there are no areas of concern as a direct impact from this 
report 

  
 
5. Environmental impact 

 
 In preparing this report, the author has considered that there will be no 

environmental impact. 
 
No Net Zero and Climate Impact Assessment (NZCIA) is required for this 
report. 

  
 
6. What will it cost and are there opportunities for savings? 
  
6.1 There was an initial budget available of £50,000. This budget is still in place 

although some spend was coming through at the time of writing the report 
for the development of the proposal.  

 
7. What are the risks and how can they be reduced? 
  
7.1 The following risks have been identified: 

 

Current Risk 
 

Actions to reduce the risks 

Services could be impacted 
negatively due to uncertainty and 
additional work. 

It is noted that during any period of change 
our services need to continue to be 
delivered in the best interests of Blaby 
District residents, Resources will be 
directed as appropriate and any additional 
resource be sourced. 

That no consensus is reached on 
local government arrangements for 
Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland which may result in 
imposed arrangements. 

Continued engagement with the other 
Councils in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland. 

Resource implications to continue to 
deliver services during a period of 
change. 

The Council will ensure that resources are 
directed appropriately and reserves utilised 
to ensure that there is as little impact on 
service delivery as possible during a period 
of change. 

Recruitment and retention concerns 
due to uncertainty of future. 

Communication and engagement focus for 
staff. Services will need to be delivered in 
this and in any new organisation.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



8. Appendix   
  
8.1 Appendix A – Executive Summary – North South City  
  
8.2 Appendix B – Full Report – North South City 
  
8.3 Appendix C – Engagement Summary 
 
 

 

9. Background paper(s)   
  
9.1 MHCLG Statutory Invitation letter 

 
 
10. Report author’s contact details   
 Julia Smith Chief Executive 
 Julia.smith@blaby.gov.uk   

 
   

        

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

The Case for Three 
Unitary Councils in a Future 
Leicestershire & Rutland. 
North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 

P
age 41



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

2 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Foreword 

Cllr Phil Allnatt 
Melton  
Borough 

Cllr Stuart Bray 
Hinckley and  
Bosworth  
Borough Council 

Cllr Richard Blunt 
North West  
Leicestershire  
District Council 

Cllr Samia Haq 
Oadby and Wigston  
Borough Council 

Cllr Phil Knowles  Cllr Jewel Miah Cllr Terry Richardson Cllr Gale Waller  
Harborough  Charnwood  Blaby  Rutland  
District Council Borough Council District Council County Council 

Leaders of Rutland County Council and  
Leicestershire District and Borough Councils 

An exceptional track record of partnership 
working amongst the 8 local authorities. 
This plan is the collective outcome of the dedicated joint 
work of leaders and politicians committed to building a 
sustainable and prosperous future for Leicestershire and 
Rutland, the heart of Middle England. It proposes the creation 
of three new unitary councils, recognising the natural shape 
of the area, through a North, City and South approach. It 
builds on an exceptional track record of partnership and 
excellent service delivery amongst the 8 local authorities 
from which it arises. 

It represents a bold vision that will save £43 million a year, 
streamline local government structures and deliver a 
route map to a signifcant reduction in service demand, 
through innovative, preventative service planning, reducing 
expensive social care demand. Additionally, it aims to grow 
the local economy by leveraging our core assets, including 
an international freeport, global logistics, cutting-edge 
manufacturing, world-class tourism  and cultural assets, and 
the best university in the world for sports. 

We have made unlocking the benefts of devolution a priority 
and our exciting plan would facilitate the establishment of a 
new Mayoral Strategic Authority across Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland whilst concurrently reorganising local government 
in a way that will work best for our communities. 

This plan is based on a democratic renewal that recognises: 
people as the assets at the heart of our agenda; long-term, 
multi-agency preventive services that are sustainable and 
affordable and economic development that unlocks the future 
prosperity of the area. Building on existing Local Plan delivery, 
our model is well placed to deliver forthcoming Spatial 
Development Strategies, planning for ambitious local growth 
targets to meet housing and employment needs and meeting 
the dynamic economic growth mission. 

We are focused on the best interests of those we serve in 
Leicestershire and Rutland and have strongly resisted a 
more simplistic and inward-looking approach, which seeks 
to protect the interests of existing organisations and elevate 
the needs of institutions over those of our communities. 
Our model encompasses the whole of our area, recognising 
the historic bonds between Leicestershire and Rutland and 
in striving for an even broader consensus, we continue to 
welcome further dialogue with colleagues at both the City and 
County Councils. 

P
age 42



 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

3 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

This is a 1 

comprehensive 
Sustaina

plan based on 
We are c
sensible s

seven principles. 
preventat
suggesti
one-off n
deliver far

ble 

ommitted to creating authorities of a 
cale, capable of delivering long-term 
ive service outcomes. We have resisted 

ng improbable savings of an unrealistic 
ature, recognising instead that we can 
 more sustainable change through 

integrated community services. 

2 

Inclusive, Open and Pragmatic 

We are bringing together the widest possible 
coalition of interests from across the area. Our 
approach is fexible and nuanced, ready to adapt 
to the positive engagement of others. We are 
committed to practical solutions that work in 
the real world. 

3 

Enabling and Consultative 

Our plan is built on a dynamic and wide 
constituency that shapes the devolution 
agenda in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 
It is informed by a very extensive process of 
community engagement and strengthened by 
authentic local partnerships that deliver impact 
and outcomes. 

4 

Prosperity Focused 

Looking outward to the growth opportunities 
around the manufacturing strength of the 
M1 corridor, the M69 and A1, and forthcoming 
rail connections to the West Midlands, the 
rural economic growth opportunities to the 
east and the skills and science potential of 
the adjacent Oxford/Cambridge Arc, we are 
positioning our communities for success. 

5 

Connected 

Focused on localities, our plan exemplifes 
system leadership delivering concurrently 
at each level of spatial geography – regional, 
place, and neighbourhoods. It is grounded 
in principles of prevention, multi-agency 
working across the quality-of-life agenda, 
co-design, asset-based community 
development, and recognising people's 
lived experiences. 

6 

Innovative and Engaging 

Our approach embraces community wealth 
building and recognises that local councils 
need to be close enough to their natural 
communities of interest to achieve these 
sustainable approaches. It paves the way for 
meaningful and sustainable community and 
voluntary sector relationships, recognising that 
our communities are ready and willing to shape 
the future with us. It focuses on creating re-
imagining and re-invigorating public services, 
creating 21st century local government. 

7 

Democratic Renewal 

We recognise the importance of retaining 
the separate ceremonial County status of 
both Rutland and Leicestershire and the 
value of the civic and historic roles associated 
with all of our communities, including Lord 
Lieutenants, High Sherriffs and Mayors. Our 
plan enables a democratic reset, reducing 
the scale of local authority governance 
while opening up new opportunities at the 
neighbourhood level. 

Together, as the political and professional leaders of 8 councils, we are shaping a future that refects the 
aspirations and needs of our diverse communities. We will keep listening and refning our plans to ensure they 
best respond to the needs of our communities. We have to get this once-in-a-generation opportunity right and 
we will continue to move forward with confdence, determination, and a shared sense of purpose. 

P
age 43



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

4 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Introduction 
Our plan focuses on unlocking 
the benefts of devolution at the 
earliest opportunity and delivering 
the best corresponding local 
government reorganisation for 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

There is broad agreement, from all 10 local authorities, that a Mayoral Strategic Authority should be established 
across Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland(LLR). For some, this support is contingent on being underpinned 
by the right form of  Local Government Reorganisation (LGR), and for the City Council meeting their specifc 
requirements. In considering the options for reorganisation, the seven Districts and Rutland have given full regard 
to the criteria set out by the government, and particularly considered the following: 

• How best to unlock devolution and deliver for our region, our places and our neighbourhoods  
• How to ensure the right balance between size and maintaining strong local connections with communities, 

with councils that refect the way people live their lives and work 
• How best to deliver savings and ensure sustainable organisations 
• How to ensure social care remains safe and legal, which also better facilitates integration and prevention 
• How best to retain local democratic accountability 
• How best to ensure a strong focus on neighbourhoods, and community partnerships 
• How best to preserve local heritage and civic identities 

After an options appraisal, we concluded that the North (including Rutland), City, South approach is the most 
balanced and sustainable way forward. Through our analysis, we identifed: 

• A single county unitary is too big, and too remote to respond effectively. It is highly unbalanced when linked 
to Leicester in terms of population (775,000 vs 373,000), less logically connected to economic drivers outside 
the county boundary, and at risk of a confusing overlap with any future Strategic Authority across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

• A north/south (including Rutland) confguration is less sustainable in terms of population balance, commuting, 
housing, and children’s and adult social care pressure proxies. 

• An east/west confguration has an unbalanced population, including a less sustainable pattern of where 
people live and work, a less even debt gearing across the three new authorities, and a more unbalanced 
population density. 

P
age 44



5 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

County Unitary North, City, 
 & Leicester South 

The diagram below shows the population juxtaposition of a balanced North, City, South approach compared to a county unitary and Leicester confguration: 

Strategic Authority Strategic Authority 1,191K 1,191K 
Rutland CITY 43K 

373K 
Leicester 
373K SOUTH 

401K 
County Unitary NORTH 
775K 418K P

age 45



 

 

 

 

6 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

North, City, South recognises the different spatial characteristics of the area and the different 
delivery challenges our diverse communities face. It delivers three very balanced councils in 
terms of population, assets, and liabilities. This approach provides annual savings of up to 
£43 million and a route map to a signifcant reduction in service demand through prevention 
and person-centred service integration in relation to adult and children’s services. 

It is based on a strategy which will facilitate devolution underpinning the 5 missions of 
Government by: 

• Breaking down barriers to opportunity through the transformation of the democratic 
governance and service delivery infrastructure of Leicestershire and Rutland. 

• Contributing to the role of Britain as a clean energy superpower by creating a high-value, 
low-cost delivery framework, meeting the socio-economic and climate challenges facing the 
diverse communities of Leicestershire and Rutland. 

• Taking back our streets through the facilitation of prosperous, sustainable, and inclusive 
communities which refect the lived experience of local people rooted in a sense of place for all 
residents. Drawing strength from the collective experience of founding councils in reducing 
crime and building community safety, resilience, cohesion and pride in place. 

• Building an NHS ft for the future through focused prevention and multi-agency working 
around health and social care and housing, making best use of services and assets to 
maximise outcomes and opportunities. 

P
age 46



 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

7 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Leicester City: 
Growth and 
Sustainability 
The Government has indicated in the White Paper and the 
invitation letter from the Minister that the sustainability of 
Councils and a sense of place are issues for consideration. 

There is also we understand a desire to keep things simple and 
avoid complicated boundary changes, unless there is strong 
justifcation. Therefore, our current preferred option is based on 
existing city boundaries. 

We are, however, aware that Leicester City Council has published 
a plan which would seek to expand their boundary as part of 
Local Government Reorganisation so as to support their future 
sustainability and growth. These details need to be reviewed and 
discussed further and we believe that there is space between this 
interim proposal and November to agree a fnal proposal that will 
satisfy government criteria, and all local community aspirations. 
We will continue to work hard to build consensus with all 
our local authority partners and which will deliver a balanced 
and sustainable three unitary approach across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

P
age 47



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

8 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Big enough to deliver, 
close enough to respond. 
Our communities deserve to be served by councils that can listen, respond and deliver. 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland are best served by a balanced, delivery focussed model 
of three councils, with around 400,000 people per authority. Authorities of this size, will 
be focused to better plan and deliver services on a preventive basis, working closely with 
communities and local partners. 

Democratic Engagement 
This will be driven by multi-agency working and cross-organisation partnerships delivering 
change at the local level. This includes retaining the separate ceremonial County status of both 
Rutland and Leicestershire, as well as preserving civic identities and opportunities for local 
civic mayors and ceremonial occasions. 

Ensuring Sustainability 
We will prioritise social care to ensure the future sustainability of local authorities. This involves 
a new commissioning focus to enhance service delivery with the voluntary and community 
sector (VCS) and particularly organisations concerned with primary care. We will leverage 
housing, health, and community safety insights from district and unitary councils for a 
connected multi-discipline approach, recognising the role of social enterprises and micro-
businesses in inclusive local economies. Our service delivery agenda will integrate actions 
around neighbourhood, health, and community safety collaboration and planning. Partnerships 
will focus on local insights, intelligence, and co-design with the VCS and local councils. This 
approach will build local organisation capacity and strengthen micro-economies through 
procurement and service delivery structures, enabling community wealth building. 

P
age 48



 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

9 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Place 
Narrative 

North 
The north is home to East Midlands Airport, East Midlands 
Freeport, the Loughborough and Leicester Science and 
Innovation Enterprise Zone, along with world renowned 
Loughborough University and a dynamic further education 
sector. This is the most rural area within Leicestershire and 
Rutland and provides great scope for sustainable economic 
development. This area also sits at the manufacturing heart of 
the M1 corridor and connects to Nottingham and Derby whilst 
at its eastern fringe linking through Rutland to the A1 and the 
major growth node at Woolfox, it also reaches out to Greater 
Peterborough and the Oxford/Cambridge Arc. Nationally 
signifcant tourism assets include - Rutland Water, Vale of 
Belvoir, the National Forest and the attractive market towns 
which make up the fabric of the area. 

6 

South 
Characterised by a network of historic and vibrant market towns, the south is also home to the world-leading 
Mira Technology Park Enterprise Zone, with strong links to Loughborough, Leicester, and Coventry Universities. 
This area is central to the Midlands golden logistics triangle which offers investment opportunities around 
Magna Park and Hinckley Park logistics and distribution centres. There are key national and international tourism 
attractions such as The Battle of Bosworth site and Twycross Zoo. Blaby is home to Fosse Park, the HQ for Next and 
Everards Brewery. The district anchors the M69 at its northeastern edge. Oadby and Wigston is home to Leicester 
Racecourse and the student campus for Leicester University and Botanic Gardens, renowned for its world-
changing research, particularly in medicine. 

P
age 49



 
 

 
 

 
      

 
 

 
 

10 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Delivering for  Our appr
achieves 

Our Region,  based on 
authority 

Our Places, and  
and VCS l
approach
Governm

Our Neighbourhoods relationsh
forthcomi

oach recognises the diversity of Leicestershire and Rutland as a network of urban and rural communities, and 
a blended approach, balancing assets and liabilities across the new unitary councils that would serve them. It is 
a clear division of policy development at the Strategic Authority level and insightful local implementation at the unitary 
level. This delivery approach is deeply rooted in partnership with enhanced hyper-local bodies at the parish, town, 
evels. Working in partnership across Leicestershire, Rutland and with the City of Leicester, we believe a three-unitary 
 best serves this purpose and the needs of local people. Local Plans and housing supply, crucial to realising the 

ent’s agenda, can only be delivered with a strong focus on localities. Our approach will build on the existing strong working 
ips currently delivering housing and economic growth. It will achieve this through collaborative working on Local Plans and a 
ng Spatial Development Strategy. 

This requires meaningful area-based accountability structures, built around existing community partnerships, not just 
consultation through anachronistic area committees, but rather vibrant delivery structures that give people a stake in the 
organisations that serve them. 

P
age 50



 

 
 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

11 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Financial Proxies for Financial 
Strategy Service Pressures 

We have examined three fnancial proxies to indicate the relative 
scale of challenges 

• Adult Social Care: Number of people on pensioner credits 
• Children’s Services: Number of children living in poverty 
• Housing: Amount spent by each authority on temporary 

accommodation 

In the north and south pensioner credits at 7% represent a 
relatively modest challenge. There are proportionately more 
children living in poverty in the north at 14.8% compared to 11.8%  Financial 

ar  
  Sustainability in the south. Total spend on temporary accommodation last ye

(2023/24) was: south £2.6 million; north £923,000. These fgures
are very modest when compared to the challenges in Leicester 
where pensioner credits run at 22%, children in poverty 36%, 
and housing pressures were £7 million in 2023/24. This overview 
shows that the distribution of service pressures between the 
two areas is relatively modest and evenly split. It forms a clear 
and equitable division of challenges between them. 

The opportunity for fnancial effciencies of the three-unitary 
council model is estimated to be a gross £43m per year. The 
three-unitary council model enables harmonisation of council 
tax levels across the county, bringing equity to residents. Our 
plan for equalisation within one year creates fnancial certainty, 
reduces administrative burden, and avoids lengthy equalisation 
processes, which can be disruptive. 

Future fnancial sustainability of the new authorities is linked 
to the balance sheet health of the organisations  In our 
approach, the level of debt and reserves is evenly split across 
the Leicestershire and Rutland area. This is borne out in the 
table below. 

Debt Analysis - as at 2023/24 Debt Value
 £000 

% of Net Revenue 
Expenditure 

North  329,787 111% 

South  262,964 98% 

City  290,165 85% 

Total  882,916 

P
age 51



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

12 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Economic Prosperity 
Leicestershire and Rutland have an ambitious growth plan which is best delivered in support 
of the new Strategic Authority by two new councils in addition to Leicester. The 2018 Strategic 
Growth Plan sets out a bold agenda for the new councils and demonstrates the level of 
existing collaborative working to deliver housing and economic growth to be taken forward 
into new Local Plans and a Spatial Development Strategy. It has been positively prepared 
through a strong and proactive partnership involving all Leicester and Leicestershire councils 
and the process has been managed by a joint Strategic Planning Member Advisory Group 
comprising of Leaders and Senior Portfolio Holders. 96,864 new dwellings are planned to 2036 
alongside the following major employment and infrastructure developments: 

• 340 hectares of employment land planned to 2036 (split between 42 hectares of offce
space and 290 hectares of general industrial space) 

• 400 hectares of B8 of warehousing/logistics

Major road transport developments include key transport infrastructure projects that impact 
both the north and south areas of Leicestershire and Rutland: including A5 Hinckley to 
Tamworth improvements; A46 improvements; M1 J24; A5 – A46 Gibbett Hill scheme, bringing 
better connectivity to the north and south areas. 

The distribution of these proposed employment infrastructure investments naturally 
segments the historic county of Leicestershire alongside Rutland around complementary 
north and south infuences with 145.9 hectares of employment allocated to the south and 124 
to the north in the historic county of Leicestershire. Potential new settlement growth options 
include the following populations: 

• North: Isley Walton (up to 5,000), Six Hills (up to 10,000), Woolfox (up to 5,000)
• South: Lindley (up to 3,000), Whetstone Pastures (over 5,000), East Lutterworth

(up to 2,750) 

By 2028, all of Leicestershire will be covered by up-to-date local plans, providing an excellent 
opportunity to move forward as two ambitious local planning authorities to deliver housing 
and economic growth. 

P
age 52



13 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Local Plans 
Ambitious and delivery focused local plans are central to delivering the 
government’s growth agenda. New Local Plans will build on existing, with 
coverage across the County expected by 2028, leading to a new Spatial 
Development Strategy in 2029. 

Our approach will build on existing relationships and existing housing and 
employment delivery to sustainably plan for housing and employment to 
meet needs, including delivery of new settlements and infrastructure. Local 
authorities of the scale we propose are optimally equipped to apply local 
relationships and governance to deliver the most prompt and effective 
adoption of these plans and deliver the resulting housing and 
employment growth. 

ea has 217 Parish Councils, 55 parish meetings, and 9 
ouncils. It also has a dynamic and diverse VCS, with over 

organisations ranging from grassroots groups to national 
es. We intend to build on our excellent experience of 
e delivery partnerships at the neighbourhood level. Our 
ach will facilitate empowered elected members, areas 
teams and vibrant community partnerships, preserving 

dentity and Civic Pride. Creating and sustaining these 
rships requires appropriately scaled authorities that 

Community The ar

Leadership and 
town c
3,000 
chariti

Local Decision 
servic
appro

Making 
based 
local i
partne
can engage with local communities. Authorities that are too 
big and distant cannot do this as effectively as those which 
follow the pattern of people’s working and service consumption 
activities. We fully recognise the importance of preserving 
Rutland County’s historic civic status. 

P
age 53



 
 
 
 

14 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Preventive Savings through  
System Leadership and  
Integrated Public Services 
Operational demand can be removed through preventive service delivery.  Focusing on social care, we aim, over time to reduce this 
operational demand based on examples of good practice in other settings. This approach enhances service delivery arrangements 
with the VCS sector, builds the capacity of towns and parishes, and integrates actions around neighbourhood, housing, health, and 
community safety collaboration and planning. It requires authorities, which are recognised as relevant and locally accountable, and 
have the capacity to listen and respond. 

Preventive Adult and Health  
Services Rationale 
Health and adult social care services are crucial for quality of life, health outcomes, and social inclusion. Establishing two unitary 
authorities alongside Leicester allows services to be tailored to specifc demographics and geographical needs. A localised 
focused model fosters a holistic multi-agency approach, promoting resilience and independence among older adults, reducing 
pressure on social care services, and enhancing residents' overall quality of life. Councils closer to their communities offer a 
deeper understanding of unique needs, cultural contexts, and specifc challenges, facilitating personalised and responsive services, 
reducing bureaucratic barriers, and ensuring quicker decision-making. 

Children’s Services and Prevention 
Children’s services depend on strong local authority provisions and partnerships with health services, the voluntary sector, 
and transport networks. Establishing three similarly sized unitary authorities across Leicestershire, Leicester, 
and Rutland ensures equity in access to centrally based services and resources, reducing travel times and 
enhancing support across a balanced geographical area. 

P
age 54



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

15 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Housing Services 
and Prevention 
Housing is the foundation for enabling a better future. Leicestershire District Councils have 
well-established Community Health and Wellbeing delivery plans addressing health inequalities. 
As a key pillar of health, wellbeing, independence and opportunity; housing plays a signifcant 
role in this partnership proposal. 

Our proposal will enable us to ensure high quality and affordable housing across all tenures, 
maintain a focus on regulatory requirements, meet future housing need and ensure that 
housing is embedded as a core part of the continuum of prevention and independent living. 
Our commitment to align public health, social care, and housing objectives through a three-
unitary authority approach will address social and health inequalities more effectively. 

Housing 
Growth 
Delivering housing growth to meet identifed needs 
at scale is a core priority. Major housing targets and 
new growth settlements are aligned to local plans and 
forthcoming Spatial Development Strategies. 

Our approach builds upwards from the current district 
council level, linked to effective housing market 
interventions and existing joint working arrangements, 
based on current local plan geographies, which works 
best when linked to accountable localities. 

Economic Prosperity 
We propose a plan for delivering economic priorities agreed between the three unitary authorities 
and the Strategic Authority. The proposed boundaries for economic development delivery are 
based on functioning economic geographies, providing scope for a focused agenda supporting 
the core mission of the Strategic Authority. 

Early tasks will align strategic frameworks in relation to local plans and transport plans, ensuring a 
coherent and dynamic process with a focus on the economic geography of distinct areas. The new 
unitary authorities will build on and develop multi-agency working, directing maximum resources 
to outcome delivery by brokering place-based partnerships. 

Effective partnership working with employers is key to supporting employment and skills 
opportunities and vital to how we will drive economic growth in the area. 

P
age 55



  

  

  

  
 

  
  

 

16 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Avoiding 
Fragmentation 
This section describes how we are aggregating and 
disaggregating services. 

Our proposal for Leicestershire and Rutland is centred around 
the establishment of three unitary councils, which aligns with 
the government's criteria of avoiding unnecessary splitting 
of services. This approach ensures the retention of three 
social care authorities within the Leicester, Leicestershire, and 
Rutland (LLR) area, while rebalancing responsibilities among 
them. Key points around aggregation of services within our 
approach are set out below: 

Government Criteria  
Compliance 

• The government's criteria emphasises  not splitting services 
unnecessarily. 

• Our proposal retains three social care authorities in LLR, albeit 
over different geographies,  ensuring continuity and stability. 

Successful Examples  
of Disaggregation 

• Disaggregation has been successfully implemented in other 
regions, such as Cumbria and Dorset. 

• These examples demonstrate that disaggregation should 
not be a barrier to progress, given the broader benefts of 
prevention and integration of services with a localised, three-
unitary approach. 

Effcient Aggregation  
of Services 

• Our approach requires the aggregation of district and 
Rutland services from only four local authorities, compared to 
the eight required for a single county unitary. 

P
age 56



 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

   

  

  

  
 

 
 
 

 

  
  
  

 
  
  

17 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Civic Engagement 

Creating two new councils alongside Leicester, will re-
scale the number of councillors and senior paid offcials, 
equating to planned savings through the transition 
process. Alongside operating cost effciencies we plan to 
combine the capacity of a re-energised community sector 
with strengthened engagement with the social enterprise 
and VCS community, creating an innovative three-strand 
approach of local service delivery and community capacity 
building. We will enhance the commissioning of the VCS 
sector and link local councils into this process. Additionally, 
we will build a community partnership infrastructure 
operating at a delivery scale around communities, with 
locality managers overseeing delivery. 

Devolution Processes  

We plan to follow the same timescales for the establishment of 
the new Strategic Authority following the steps set out below: 

• Initial Planning and Consultation: Engage with stakeholders 
to gather input and build consensus – currently in play 

• Formal Proposal Submission: Submit the detailed proposal to 
the Government for approval – November 2025 

• Legislative Process: Establish the new unitary authorities – 
May 2027 

• Implementation Phase: Transition to new governance 
structures, ensuring continuity of services and minimal 
disruption – By April 2028. 

Consultation Outcomes  

Over 4,000 residents have responded to our fast moving and 
contemporary consultation leading to the creation of this 
document. Their views, which we have used to inform our 
approach have emerged clearly and the top 5 messages they 
have given us are set out below: 

• Extensive support for the three-council proposal 
• Signifcant opposition to a single unitary authority 
• Enthusiasm to get the future boundaries with Leicester to a 

level that suited both the City and its wider geography 
• The crucial importance of local representation and identity 
• Challenges to really achieve cost savings and effciency. P

age 57



18 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Conclusion As we embark on this transformative 
journey, we stand united in our vision 
for a brighter future for Leicestershire 
and Rutland. Our plan is not just a 
roadmap but a commitment to building 
vibrant, inclusive, and prosperous 
communities. By aligning our efforts 
and embracing innovative approaches, 
we will create a dynamic environment 
where every resident, business and 
visitor can thrive. 

P
age 58



 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

19 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Asks of To 
an

Government 1 

and Next Steps Di

W

enable our November submission to be comprehensive, innovative and refect the views of Government, our communities 
d Stakeholders we have the following asks from Government: 

rect Ministerial Engagement with all Leaders 

e are grateful for the engagement we have had 
to date from Ministers and we would welcome 
ongoing dialogue to enable effective decision 
making locally, and to ensure our collective efforts 
are heading in the right direction. 

2 

Capacity Funding Support 

The Government are aware of the costs involved in 
developing proposals to support devolution and 
local government reorganisation and some of the 
complexities associated with this.  We join others in 
seeking support from Government to fund these 
additional costs associated with the work required. 

3 

Decision Making 

We are working at pace across complex public 
sector arrangements to develop the best solution 
for the communities across LLR. We would ask 
the Government to provide greater clarity on the 
timetable, particularly relating to feedback to enable 
us to continue to move at pace and refect this in 
the next iteration of our proposals for submission. 

4 

Access to Government Departments 

When contemplating the future size and shape 
of services for our area it would be helpful to have 
access to treasury, home offce, DfE and DHSC 
to ensure any proposals are the best they can be 
and informed by the most current understanding 
of Government thinking and policy. 

5 

Funding Reforms 

Proposed funding reforms may impact 
negatively on our ability to deliver both business 
as usual and delivery of Devolution and LGR. As 
such we would ask that during the transition 
period to a new local government arrangement 
that we are protected from any signifcant 
changes to the funding regime. 

6 

Boundary Changes 

We would welcome views on your expectations 
regarding boundary changes and the extent 
to which these should be included in our 
November submission, to refect the needs of 
the City Council to be fnancially sustainable. 

7 

Devolution Engagement 

Our plan includes a proposal for a strategic 
mayoral authority for the LLR region, to date 
being mainly districts and boroughs we 
have been excluded from any devolution 
discussions, as these have been held with the 
County and City authorities in the area. We 
feel we have been disadvantaged through the 
lack of engagement and would want to refect 
the current Government position regarding 
devolution within our November submission. 
On this basis we would ask to be engaged in 
future discussions involving devolution in LLR. 

Next Steps 

We look forward to receiving your feedback 
on our interim plans and discussing these 
points with Ministers and their offcials 
over the coming months. We will continue 
to work with our partners, and undertake 
further public and stakeholder engagement, 
as we refne and develop our proposals in 
anticipation of the November submission. 

P
age 59



A large print version of this document is available upon request. 

P
age 60



The Case for Three 
Unitary Councils in a Future 
Leicestershire & Rutland. 
North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

FULL 
REPORT 

P
age 61



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

2 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Introduction This Interim Plan sets out a bold and resilient agenda for the future of 
local government in Leicestershire and Rutland. It addresses each of the 
relevant criteria within the guidance for local government re-organisation. 
It is a strong statement of the collective commitment of the eight 
local authorities – Rutland and the Leicestershire Districts - which have 
developed it. Our joint work in preparing this submission refects the deep 
and remarkable extent to which we already work together to underpin 
the prosperity of the area. It exemplifes our experience and capacity to 
build a new future for the area. 

We recognise however that whilst the direction of travel here has a frm 
basis for action it may need to be further developed as events unfold at a 
national and local level, between the March 2025 submission date and the 
conclusion of the government’s wider devolution agenda. 

P
age 62



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

3 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Our Vision 
In Leicestershire and Rutland, we are dedicated to building resilient and  
prosperous communities. We aim to establish two new councils - one  
looking north and the other south - refecting the economic realities  
of our area and complementing Leicester City. Our approach involves  
energising key settlements, such as Hinckley and Melton Mowbray.  

By harnessing local insights, these councils will work in partnership 
to deliver innovative, prevention-focused services. We will take a 
comprehensive view of local government, which includes maximising 
the economic and social importance of key assets like Fosse Park and 
Loughborough University, alongside providing essential local services. 

Our strategy will drive growth and investment, capitalising on the 
potential of the East Midlands Freeport and sites such as the world 
leading Mira Technology Park. Growing the local economy will create new 
homes and jobs, enhancing the wellbeing and prosperity of our residents 
and businesses. It will deliver an effective and empowered strategic 
authority that works for Leicestershire and Rutland. 

P
age 63



  

  
 
 

  
 

 

  
 

 

  

4 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Executive 
Summary 
Our approach unifes  people 
and places, supporting local  
democracy and joint working  
for the good of our 1.1 million  
residents1 and vibrant business  
community. It provides annual  
savings of £43 million and  
a route map to a signifcant  
reduction in service demand  
through prevention in relation  
to adult and children’s services.  
It provides a balanced and  
proportionate distribution  
of assets, income and liabilities  
across  Leicestershire and 
Rutland. 

Our approach is based on a theory of change which will underpin the delivery of the 52 missions of government by: 

• Kickstarting Economic Growth: through the development of an outward facing sub-regional agenda, which enables the natural 
economies of Leicestershire and Rutland to play their part in the shaping the long-term future of their wider sub-regions. 

• Breaking down barriers to opportunity: through the transformation of the democratic governance and service delivery 
infrastructure of Leicestershire and Rutland. Building on exemplars such as the Rutland and Melton Levelling Up programme 
we also recognise the importance of promoting social mobility. We will make this a key theme to guide our interface with the 
Strategic Authority. 

• Contributing to the role of Britain as a clean energy superpower: by creation of a high value, low cost delivery framework, meeting 
the socio-economic and climate challenges facing the diverse communities of Leicestershire and Rutland. We are committed 
through collaboration to achieve a place based approach that integrates energy demand modelling, energy networks, community 
assets and land strategy into planning and development opportunities. 

• Taking back our streets: through the facilitation of prosperous, sustainable and inclusive communities which refect the lived 
experience of local people rooted in a sense of place for all residents. We will draw strength from the collective experience of 
founding councils in reducing crime and building community safety, as a key element of our strategy to generate a sense of pride 
in place across our communities. 

• Building an NHS ft for the future: through focused prevention and multi-agency working around health, social care and housing. 
This will also involve addressing the challenge of economic inactivity in key communities 

1 Projected 2028 population based on ONS 2018-43 estimates 
2 Plan for Change: Milestones for Mission-Led Government – Prime Minister’s Offce, 10 Downing Street 

P
age 64



 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

  

  
 

5 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Our approach effectively embraces and enables the agenda of the new proposed Strategic 
Authority by providing delivery arrangements at the level of functioning economic geographies. 
These areas represent the scale and connections of communities within which people live and 
work and with which they identify. 

Co-created by the Leicestershire district and borough councils and Rutland this approach 
builds a vision for three unitary councils to proudly represent: the City of Leicester, the north of 
Leicestershire and Rutland and the south of Leicestershire. 

Our approach arises from a detailed options appraisal which involved considering four options: 
North/South (Rutland), North (Rutland)/South, East/West and a County unitary. 

Maps were generated for each option and we looked at the following variables: i) population, 
ii) workforce, iii) economic inactivity, iv) job density (ratio jobs/workforce), v) self-containment: 
commuting, vi) deprivation, vii) proxy for adult social care (pensioner credits), viii) proxy for 
children’s services (children in poverty), ix) housing (temporary pensioner accommodation 
pressures), x) fnancial balance: local authority debt and income. 

This led to us determining that a North(Rutland)/South approach worked best. North Leicestershire 
and Rutland encompasses the current boundaries of: North West Leicestershire, Charnwood, 
Melton and Rutland. South Leicestershire comprises: Hinckley and Bosworth, Blaby, Oadby and 
Wigston and Harborough Council areas. 

We discounted the other areas because the analysis showed: 

• a county unitary to be too big, having a lack of capacity to respond to localities, being highly 
unbalanced when linked to Leicester in terms of population – 775,000 vs 373,000 and less 
logically connected to economic drivers outside of the county boundary and at risk of a 
confusing overlap with the Strategic Authority. 

• a north/south (Rutland) confguration to be less sustainable in terms of population balance, 
commuting, housing and children’s and adult social care pressure proxies. 

• an east/west confguration to have a less good population balance and density, a more 
unbalanced pattern of where people live and work, and a less sustainable debt gearing across 
the three new authorities. 

P
age 65



6 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

County Unitary North, City, 
 & Leicester South 

The diagram below shows the population juxtaposition of a balanced North, City, South approach compared to a county unitary and Leicester confguration: 

Strategic Authority 
1,191K 

Rutland 
43K 

Leicester 
373K 

County Unitary 
775K 

Strategic Authority 
1,191K 

CITY 
373K 

SOUTH 
401K 

NORTH 
418K 

P
age 66



 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

7 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

The north-south split recognises the different spatial 
characteristics of the area and the different delivery 
challenges it faces. This approach provides annual savings 
of £43 million and a route map to a signifcant reduction in 
service demand through prevention in relation to adult and 
children’s services. 

We fully acknowledge the importance of a Leicestershire 
and Rutland wide strategic authority with a mayor. We also 
frmly believe that many of the core services that respond 
to people’s3 needs should be delivered closer to local 
communities. Our proposal clearly separates out strategic and 
service delivery roles. It avoids the scope for confusion and 
duplication which would arise from a unitary council 
and a strategic authority overlapping on the same 
geographical footprint. 

While signifcant work continues on developing these 
proposals, including consultation and engagement with 
communities, the district and borough councils and 
Rutland County Council have outlined how the north and 
south model can form new authorities which best serve 
the local population. Our consensus represents a deep 
joint commitment by the eight leaders and senior offcers 
responsible for delivering a very comprehensive portfolio of 
local services. 

3 See New Economics Foundation: https://neweconomics.org/2025/02/how-local-services-are-showing-another-way-is-possible-to-provide-for-their-communities 

P
age 67

https://neweconomics.org/2025/02/how-local-services-are-showing-another-way-is-possible-to-provide-for-their-communities


 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

8 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Leicester City: 
Growth and 
Sustainability 
The government has indicated in the White Paper and the 
invitation letter from the Minister that the sustainability of 
councils and a sense of place are issues for consideration. 

There is also we understand a desire to keep things simple and 
avoid complicated boundary changes, unless there is strong 
justifcation. Therefore, our current preferred option is based on 
existing city boundaries. 

We are, however, aware that Leicester City Council has published 
a plan which would seek to expand their boundary as part of 
Local Government Reorganisation so as to support their future 
sustainability and growth. These details need to be reviewed and 
discussed further and we believe that there is space between this 
interim proposal and November to agree a fnal proposal that will 
satisfy government criteria, and all local community aspirations. 
We will continue to work hard to build consensus with all 
our local authority partners and which will deliver a balanced 
and sustainable three unitary approach across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

P
age 68



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

9 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Social Care 

We have placed an emphasis on responding to the challenge of 
social care to ensure the future sustainability of local authorities. 
Our approach involves a new commissioning focus to enhance 
service delivery with the Voluntary and Community Sector 
(VCS) and build town and parish capacity. We appreciate the 
importance of not disrupting good current practice and will 
make continuity a key theme in the early stages of our planning. 
We will leverage housing, health, and community safety insights 
from district, borough and unitary councils for a connected 
multi-agency approach, recognising the role of social enterprises 
and micro-businesses in inclusive local economies. 

Our service delivery agenda will integrate actions around 
neighbourhood, housing, health, and community safety 
collaboration and planning. Partnerships will focus on local 
insights, intelligence, and co-design with the VCS and local 
councils. This approach will keep decision making more 
localised, build local organisation capacity and strengthen micro-
economies through procurement and service delivery structures, 
enabling community wealth building. 

Scale 
Three unitary councils provide the optimum balance of 
population numbers for each authority area as well as ensuring 
local democracy and services stay close to communities. This is 
fundamental for residents, along with retaining local identity. 
In this approach, the communities of North Leicestershire and 
Rutland and South Leicestershire will be served by authorities 
at a scale which is big enough to deliver outstanding services, 
whilst local enough to be accountable to residents. 

In a survey covering Leicestershire, involving over 4,000 
consultees, a signifcant proportion identifed the creation of a 
three-counci model as their most important priority, rejecting 
very strongly the idea of a county-level unitary council. 

The Right 
Size to Deliver 
Being close to local communities provides better insights and 
understanding of the demand for services and how best to 
deliver them to help people reach their full potential by remaining 
independent and resilient within cohesive local communities4. 

Where action is taken at a local enough scale it can be highly 
responsive, innovative and accountable. It can deliver what are 
called “preventive impacts” which over the long term offer better 
effciencies than just big economies of scale. This principle of 
prevention sits at the heart of our approach and we recognise the 
potential it brings when collaborating with other public sector 
agencies such as the NHS, Fire and Police services5. 

4 See LGA: https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/new-models-service-delivery-and-creative-councils 
5 See LGA: Investing in preventative support can save more than £3 for every pound spent 

P
age 69

https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/new-models-service-delivery-and-creative-councils


 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

10 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Governance  
Defned through  
the Lens of “Place” 
In a process of democratic realignment 
the number of councillors at the three 
authorities will be fewer than under current 
arrangements. There is a real opportunity 
through this approach to build the strengths 
of the core market towns which complement 
the City as key service centres and drivers 
of growth. Alongside the new authorities 
civic pride will be strengthened through 
the creation of enhanced local governance 
structures to bolster the connections 
between localities and these new councils. 
This will open up new representation 
opportunities for local people. 

P
age 70



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

11 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

A Bold Vision of 
Future Sustainability 
Economic regeneration and 
growth are defning aspects 
of the rationale for change, 
refecting the priorities of the 
new government. The north and 
south are aligned in some areas 
but have unique components 
that will help create two distinct 
identities and propositions for 
sustainable investment and 
growth. Our proposal is outward 
looking and follows key road 
and rail routes which connect 
people to the real economic 
geographies in which they live 
and work. 

The north is home to East Midlands Airport, East Midlands 
Freeport, the Loughborough and Leicester Science and 
Innovation Enterprise Zone, along with world renowned 
Loughborough University and a dynamic further education 
sector. This area sits at the manufacturing heart of the M1 
corridor and connects to Nottingham and Derby whilst its 
eastern segment reaches out through Rutland to the A1 and 
the major growth node at Woolfox. It also faces out to Greater 
Peterborough and the Oxford/Cambridge Arc. 

Key nationally signifcant tourism assets include - Rutland 
Water, the Vale of Belvoir, the National Forest and the attractive 
market towns which make up the fabric of the area. 

Characterised by a network of historic and vibrant market 
towns, the south is home to the world leading Mira Technology 
Park Enterprise Zone, with strong links to Loughborough, 
Leicester and Coventry Universities as well as global companies 

and is central to the Midlands golden logistics triangle which 
offers investment opportunities around Hinckley Park and Magna 
Park Logistics and Distribution Centres. 

There are national and international tourism attractions such 
as The Battle of Bosworth site and Twycross Zoo. Blaby is home 
to the HQ for Next and the iconic Everards Brewery. Oadby and 
Wigston is home to Leicester Racecourse and the main student 
campus for Leicester University and Botanic gardens, which 
is renowned for its world changing research, particularly in 
medicine. 

The south is a highly-sought after place to live, with outstanding 
commuter connections to London and other growth points. It 
also looks south and west down the M69 corridor with Fosse 
Park serving the retail and service needs of an extensive area of 
approaching 13 million direct consumers. 

P
age 71



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

   
 

12 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

A Cost Effective and 
Sustainable Way Forward 
Our blueprint for the delivery of services responds to a once in a generation opportunity to re-set 
public services for the better. 

We have made enabling the agenda of the Strategic Authority our core priority. We are certain 
that two new councils working alongside Leicester, based on functioning economic geographies6 

provide the best approach to service delivery. 

This approach drives out signifcant short-term transitional costs. It provides a balanced portfolio of 
assets and debt from our historic council base going forward. It delivers multi-agency partnership 
focused, locality planned commissioning, which works with the grain of local places. 

We will deliver long-term preventive savings by investing in communities at a sub-county level. 
Our way forward is built on an innovative three cornered model of unitary, parish/town councils 
and VCS steeped in effective partnership engagement. Ultimately it provides excellent value for 
money and a sustainable long-term future for Leicestershire and Rutland, rooted in the notion of 
asset-based community development. 

This proposal is our means of articulating our collective strengths and experience across the 
whole spectrum of local government services and functions and the advantages not just for 
LGR, but readiness to deliver on wider public sector reform. We anticipate doing this in 
conjunction with key partners such as DWP and the NHS. Our joint commitment to deliver 
positive change is based on a potent tradition of contemporary joint working, exemplifed by 
multi-authority collaboration. 

6 Functioning economic geographies are areas where economic activities are effectively coordinated
  and integrated, leading to sustainable growth and development 

P
age 72



 
 

 

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 

 
 
 

 

13 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Our Focus 
We will enable 
the delivery of the 
Strategic Authority 
for Leicestershire 
and Rutland: 

We recognise there is a clear need for a separation between strategy and delivery in the provision of excellent public services. A successful strategic 
authority will best be enabled by mechanisms which refect the diversity of the geography, build inclusive service delivery relationships and operate 
at a scale with which people identify in terms of their lived experience. This approach involves putting place at the heart of the delivering services and 
accountability mechanisms which underpin the capacity of the Strategic Authority to implement its plans. 

Our approach recognises the crucial enabling role which an insightful and nuanced alignment of decision making and delivery structures can 
contribute to devolution. It is the only approach currently in play which provides a comprehensive  engagement of the whole economic geography, 
bringing Leicestershire and Rutland positively together. It is derived from a careful options appraisal based on four core options: 

• a county unitary, 
• a north/south (Rutland) approach – with North West Leicestershire, Charnwood and Melton in the north and Hinckley and Bosworth, Blaby, 

Oadby and Wigston, Harborough and Rutland in the south 
• a north (Rutland)/south approach - with Rutland, North West Leicestershire, Charnwood and Melton in the north and Hinckley and Bosworth, 

Blaby, Oadby and Wigston and Harborough in the south 
• an east/west approach – with North West Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth and Charnwood in the west and all the other 

districts in the east. 
7 English Devolution White Paper MHCLG December 2024 

P
age 73



 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

After detailed assessment we came to a conclusion that: 

The county approach was too big, involved a lack of capacity to respond to localities, was highly 
unbalanced when linked to Leicester in terms of population – 775,000 vs 373,000 and was less 
logically connected to economic drivers outside of the county boundary. It also involved a confusing 
overlap with the Strategic Authority in terms of accountabilities and public understanding. 

The north/south (Rutland) approach was less sustainable in terms of population, commuting, 
housing and children’s and adult social care pressure. 

A possible east/west split had a less balanced population, less balanced commuting patterns 
a more uneven population density and a less balanced fnancial starting position in terms 
debt gearing. 

The North (Rutland) / South approach which we have branded: North, City, South is the best option. 

Although the big picture default position in the English Devolution White Paper8 is for local 
authorities with a population of 500,000, we believe the nature of delivery geographies in 
Leicestershire and Rutland merits a different way forward based on a three council approach of 
around 400,000 people per authority. This refects the functioning economic geographies of our 
communities and anticipates their further growth by 2036 to approaching 450,000 in both the new 
north and south authorities. 

Whilst at a granular level it might be perceived that a bigger population base would allow greater 
economies of scale, we believe very large councils run the risk of putting too much distance between 
the people served and the delivery of the services they consume9. 

Over relatively short time periods, authorities with the staffng capacity to better plan the delivery of 
services on a preventive basis, working with the character of communities offer a more sustainable 
way forward. They provide a robust and insightful delivery environment for the Strategic Authority. 
They also offer a distinction between the large-scale planning of the Strategic Authority and the 
delivery strategies of its local authorities. This helps avoid the confusion of strategic and delivery 
bodies overlapping at exactly the same geographical level. The maps overleaf showing the 
juxtaposition of a county unitary with our three area approach demonstrate the more logical and 
balanced nature of our proposal. 

8 English Devolution White Paper 16 December 2024 
9 No evidence exists to support mega councils, Government admits – DCN January 2025 

14 

P
age 74



15 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

County Unitary North, City, 
 & Leicester South 

Strategic Authority Strategic Authority 
1,191K 1,191K 

Rutland North 
43K 418K 

County Unitary South 
775K 401K 

Leicester City 
373K 373K 

P
age 75



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

16 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Delivery structures which are close to their communities can 
more effectively build the democratic engagement of their local 
population. They can achieve this through strengthening the 
delivery capacity of the VCS sector, building on local good practice 
and providing low-cost high impact opportunities for people to 
become positively involved in the local delivery of services. 

Our approach involves a bold creation of new governance 
structures which at modest cost, provide opportunities for people 
to get involved in local decision making whilst retaining cultural 
traditions and identity. We also intend to signifcantly build the 
delivery capacity of the VCS and to work with partners to achieve 
radical co-designed approaches to core service delivery. 

This approach is very different from traditional big council 
models where area committees function as information 
receiving groupings with no authority and statutory decision- 
making status. We advocate multi-agency working and cross 
organisational partnerships delivering change relevant to 
nieghbourhoods addressing key opportunities for innovation in 
relation to themes such as adult social care. 

Another fundamental theme of our approach will be to recognise 
the ongoing sense of local areas and traditions within the new 
proposed structures.  We therefore intend to retain the separate 
ceremonial County status of Rutland and Leicestershire, as well as 
preserving civic identities and opportunities for local civic mayors 
and ceremonial occasions. 

At the local level we will develop and build on our work on 
a multi-agency agenda to plan the signifcant primary care 
preventive aspirations for the future of the NHS . This will drive out 
powerful long-term savings and outcomes in relation to the care 
challenges faced by our area. It will also create more local jobs. It 
will bring together approaches which embrace housing, adult 
and children’s services, VCS bodies and the private sector. This 
will involve creating a new web of shared capacity and insight to 
address this core area of challenge for localities. 

In localities this approach of service renewal will build the scope to 
ramp up aspirations which make places more sustainable overall. 
It will provide opportunities for greater inclusivity and community 
wealth building . 

In economic terms the growth of the wider Midlands' economy 
is a dynamic process, we believe there is far greater capacity to 
engage with it through local authority structures which provide an 
inclusive entrée to their wider functioning economic geographies. 

Road networks  such as the M69 and A5 in the south and west 
and M1, A1, A50, A14 and A46 in the north and east form key 
growth corridors against which our approach aligns. Through 
appropriately focused housing and commercial land allocation 
strategies, which take account of the economic dynamics to the 
north and south of our area, we can play a more nuanced and 
fuller part in the wider growth of the region. 

We believe this will build on existing economic initiatives and is 
preferable to the challenge of seeking to reconcile the focus and 
efforts of one authority at a macro level, which because of its 
focus will be subject to an ongoing tension between north and 
south priorities. 

10 Innovative Citizen Participation and New Democratic Institutions – OECD 2020 
11 Consultation on the NHS 10 year Health Plan 
12 Community Welath Building - CLES 

P
age 76



 
 

  
  

 
 

  
 

 
  

17 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

We have a clear approach for a structure which best enables our collective 
devolution agenda in Leicestershire and Rutland. Based on an operational 
split between strategy and delivery it focuses on: 

• people and place at the top of an inverted triangle, 
• new approaches of low-cost high intensity engagement at the level 

of town councils and a strengthened VCS sector which are the vehicle 
through which we build preventive multi-agency partnerships, 

• underpinned by commissioning and capacity building services from new 
unitary authorities which are big enough to deliver and close enough to 
respond to important needs 

• delivering at the cutting edge of the approach the aspirations and 
objectives of the new Strategic Authority. 

We have set out a diagrammatic representation of our approach opposite. 

Communities 

Local Structures including town 
councils and the voluntary 

and community sector 

Unitary authorities rooted 
in place and economic 

geographies 

Strategic Authority 
Eco-system 

P
age 77



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

18 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

We believe the nature of delivery geographies in Leicestershire and Rutland merits a three-council approach of around 400,000 people per authority. 
Authorities of this size can better plan and deliver services on a preventive basis, working closely with communities. Delivery structures close to their 
communities can more effectively build democratic engagement. This will be driven by multi-agency working and cross-organisational partnerships 
delivering change at the local level. Both Leicestershire and Rutland are historic counties with a Lord Lieutenant and Lord High Sheriff. It is particularly 
important to retain their ceremonial County status with separate Lord Lieutenants and Lord High Sheriffs for both places. Whilst these are civic, and not 
local government roles, they nevertheless need to be retained in any reorganisation of Leicestershire and Rutland. More widely our overall plan for change 

Summary 

has seven core principles: 

1 

Sustainable 

We have resisted the approach of suggesting 
improbable savings of an unrealistic one-off 
nature, recognising instead that through 
creating authorities of a sensible scale, capable 
of delivering long term preventive service 
outcomes, based on local insight, we can 
deliver far more sustainable change. 

2 

Inclusive, Open and Pragmatic 

We unite diverse interests with a fexible, 
adaptable approach, committed to 
practical solutions. 

3 

Enabling and Consultative 

Our plan, shaped by extensive community 
engagement, drives the devolution agenda in 
Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland. 

4 6 

Prosperity Focused Innovative and Engaging 

We will work proactively with the Strategic Our plan exemplifes system leadership, 
Authority, using boundaries that ft daily life multi-agency collaboration, co-design, and 
patterns and local identifcation. community wealth building, recognising lived 

experiences. 
5 

7 
Connected 

Democratic Renewal 
Our structures leverage growth opportunities 
around the A1, M1 corridor, M69 connections, We will enable a democratic reset, reducing 
and the Oxford/Cambridge Arc for local authority governance scale and creating 
community success. new governance structures with real powers to 

raise income and deliver services. 

Our plan effectively embraces and enables the agenda of the new proposed Strategic Authority by 
providing delivery arrangements based on how people live their daily lives. People gravitate either 
north or south based on where they live – they are not inwardly focused on the historic county of 
Leicestershire. 

P
age 78



 
 
 
 

 

19 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Strategic Authority How People Live in 
Leicestershire and Rutland 

1,191K 

North 
418K 

South 
401K 

Leicestershire and Rutland comprise a network of local authority areas which face outwards into 
broader functioning economic geographies. The spheres of infuence and connectivity split north City 

373K and south, with the most sustainable confguration of authorities ftting together as per the map 
opposite, encompassing North West Leicestershire, Charnwood, Melton and Rutland in the north 
and Hinckley and Bosworth, Blaby, Oadby and Wigston and Harborough in the south. 

Source: ONS population projections for local authorities 2018-2043 

P
age 79



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

20 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Whilst the City of Leicester forms an economic core it does not 
defne the county. The 2021 census location of work statistics13 

indicate that 39,000 people (out of a workforce of 367,000 – 10.6%) 
commute from the other local authorities into the city, with a 
higher proportion of city residents (31,000 out of 154,000 – 20.1%) 
commuting into the wider economic geography. 

139,000 people live and work in the north area (76.8% 
containment of workforce) within our proposal and 132,000 live 
and work in the south (71.0% containment). 115,000 people live 
and work in the City of Leicester (74.2%). 

The two additional areas we defne, to sit alongside Leicester 
are poly-centric in nature, sustaining a very long-standing 
pattern of key service centres based on Coalville, Loughborough, 
Melton Mowbray, Oakham, Market Harborough and Hinckley 
accompanied by a network of smaller market towns and villages. 

13 Origin Destination Statistics 2021 Census 
14 ONS population projections for local authorities 2018-2043 
15 Standard Area Measurements for 2021 Statistical Geographies (March 2021) in EW (V2) 
16 Regional gross value added (balanced) by industry: local authorities by ITL1 region 
17 Pensioner Credit Claimants DWP 2024 
18 Children in Poverty DWP 2024 
19 Leicester and Leicestershire Chief Housing Offcer Group Homelessness Trends 2024 

More widely a clearly distinctive, but balanced picture of socio-
economic characteristics arises from the analysis of the two 
areas: 

All three areas have similar populations of appropriate scale, by 
202814 they will be: 

• North – 418,000 
• City – 373,000 
• South – 401,000 

The north and south have different population densities15, 
representing the more rural nature of the north and the 
distinctive service delivery agenda which comes with that and 
a relatively more densely populated pattern in the south at 
respectively: 

• North – 268 people per Km2 

• South – 358 people per Km2 

Driven largely by the Freeport 
and Loughborough University 
the north has a higher economic 
productivity (GVA) at £11.45bn 
compared to £10.12bn in the 
south. Overall, however, both 
areas have a relatively high 
GVA per head compared to the 
East Midlands - £30,055 and 
£27,124 respectively compared 
to £26,099. The world leading 
Mira Technology Park along with 
Magna Park are pivotal economic 
drivers in the south area which 
match the economic impact of 
the Freeport and Loughborough 
University in the north. 

Proxies for service challenges around older people show an 
even distribution of pension credit claimants with 7% of the 
population of both areas being eligible. There are a higher 
proportion of children living in poverty in the north than south -
14.8% compared to 11.8% in the south. The relative balance of this 
position is, however, put into perspective when the fgure of 36% 
in the City of Leicester is taken into account. 

One distinctive difference and part of the rationale for 
understanding the different challenges and needs of each area 
is linked to housing fnancial pressures based on temporary 
accommodation costs19, which were almost three times higher 
in the south at £2.6 million compared to £923,000 in the north in 
2023/24. 

P
age 80



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

21 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Place 
Narrative 
In addition to the  
broad comparison  
of the proposed two  
new councils to sit  
alongside the City,  
we provide a more  
detailed description  
of each of the new  
authorities. 

North 
The North Leicestershire and Rutland Unitary straddles a core space within middle England between 
the manufacturing hotspots of M1/A50 corridor linked to businesses such as Rolls Royce and Toyota. 
It encompasses the region’s airport and freeport, and a university which is globally acknowledged for 
sport and science. It has links through an area rich in food production and tourism assets across to the 
Oxford/Cambridge Arc as a growing area of economic opportunity. The area has strategic connections to 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire by road and rail. It has a dynamic housing target of 2,200 houses per year 
including signifcant growth and development sites along the A1 at the Woolfox site. 

The area is characterised by the attractive market towns which serve signifcant rural hinterlands including 
the following towns defned in the ONS rural/urban classifcation comprising overall: Ashby-de-la-Zouch, 
Oakham, Rutland, Uppingham, Coalville, Shepshed, Loughborough and Melton Mowbray. These settings 
are key service centre nodes and all have a strong alignment from a health perspective with Primary Care 
Networks and from a crime and disorder perspective with the new policing structures for the area. 

More widely this area although having some signifcant towns is relatively sparsely populated with 268 people 
per km2 compared to 347 for the county as a whole and could be characterised as the most rural of the 
proposed three authorities. 

Rutland has a very distinctive public profle and a recent history of being the smallest unitary authority in the 
UK. It has developed a host of neighbourhood-based innovation approaches (capable of wider adoption and 
scale up) which will inform the wider multi-agency partnership approaches proposed in terms of themes such 
as social care. 

There is already a strong track record of town-based regeneration in this northern area. We will learn from and 
build on the transport links between for example Melton and Oakham delivered by their joint Levelling Up 
Bid and the links between the Freeport in North West Leicestershire and the Institute of Technology based in 
Loughborough at the College and University. 

P
age 81



 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

South 
The South Leicestershire Unitary straddles the gravitational pulls of Leicester, the M69/ 
A5 corridor and the South and West Midlands via Northamptonshire and Warwickshire. It 
comprises a network of historic and vibrant market towns: Hinckley, Earl Shilton, Lutterworth 
and Market Harborough. Oadby, Wigston and Blaby are all independent centres with their own 
service infrastructure and distinct economic characteristics outside of the inner core of Leicester. 

In the west of the area the world leading Mira Technology Park and Magna Park are major 
economic centres hosting important manufacturing businesses. Fosse Park is a regional retail 
centre which anchors the M69 at its eastern end and serves a very large retail and commercial 
hinterland. 

Four new settlements are planned around the M1 in this area: Norton, Lindley, 
Whetstone Pastures. 

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council has a long tradition of partnership work in the West 
Midlands and Hinckley and Nuneaton town centres, although straddling a regional boundary 
(East/West Midlands) are less than fve miles apart. Together these towns form a sub-regional 
cluster to the north of Coventry of approaching 150,000 people. 

The south and west focus of this area, particularly in terms of the world leading Mira Technology 
Park and Magna Park further links it to a functioning economic geography in the West 
Midlands. Only 24,000 out of a total working population of 266,000, commute to work in 
Leicester. This is due in signifcant part to the excellent transport links through road and rail to 
the West Midlands and South of England. 

Blaby is home to Fosse Park, the HQ for Next, and the iconic Everards Brewery. The district 
anchors the M69 at its north-eastern edge. Oadby and Wigston is home to Leicester Racecourse 
and the main student campus for Leicester University and Botanic Gardens, which is renowned 
for its world-changing research, particularly in medicine. 

22 

P
age 82



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

23 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

The east of this area centred around Market Harborough 
is relatively rural in terms of its population distribution 
and has strong links with North Northamptonshire 
elements of which it supports as a service centre. There 
is good alignment with Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 
and Blaby and Oadby and Wigston all have distinct 
PCNs which focus on their hinterlands as do the other 
core towns in this area. 

A map summarising major infrastructure is 
set out opposite: 

Context Summary 
In summary Leicestershire and Rutland have too many 
diverse socio-economic characteristics to manage 
around one agenda in terms of local council delivery 
strategies. As indicated in the introductory section 
above the strategic framework for the county will be 
set by the universally agreed new Strategic Authority. 
A north-south split recognises the very different spatial 
characteristic of the area, the different economic 
zones to which it contributes and the different delivery 
challenges it faces around housing and to a lesser but 
distinctive degree children’s services. 

A Leicester University 

B Loughborough University 

C Fosse Park 

D MIRA Technology Park 

E Magna Park 

F A6 Gibbet Hill Scheme 

G Oakham Enterprise Park 

H The Stockyard 

I East Midlands Airport 

J A5 Hinckley to Tamworth 
improvements 

Proposed 
New Settlements

 Isley Walton

 Norton

 Lindley

 Whetstone Pastures

 Six Hills

 Woolfox

 St George's Barracks 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7
8 Lutterworth East 

A1 

A46 

A5 

A47 

M1 

24 

A50 

To London 
St. Pancras 

To B’ham 

To N’ham 
& Derby 

To 
P’borough A 

C 
DJ 

E 

G 

F 

H 
B 

I 

1 

3 

4 

5 

6 

8 

72 

P
age 83



24 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

The Financial Case for a Three Unitary Model  
for Leicestershire and Rutland 

P
age 84



 
 

 
 

25 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Overview of the Financial 
Case and Modelling Approach 
This proposal enables the new arrangements to hit the ground running which means 
that savings delivery can be realised immediately and at the same time reduce the risk 
from organisational change. 

This fnancial case uses the above inherent opportunity as the basis for the 
fnancial modelling to build assumptions that cover three critical fnancial factors for 
the new authorities: 

Financial 
Eficiencies 

Council Tax 
Equalisation 

Financial 
Sustainability 

More detailed information can be found in the Appendix. 

P
age 85



  

 

26 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Financial Effciencies 
The opportunity for fnancial effciencies of the three unitary model is estimated to be a gross The following table shows these savings split across the main saving 
£43m per year. This is a prudent base model which does not yet factor in the decisions and opportunity areas by each unitary: 
ambitions of the future councils. Therefore, further opportunities for additional savings through 
wider transformation work are expected to become available. 

The following chart provides an overview as to where the savings would be generated: 

Summary of Net Saving Opportunities for North : South : City Unitary Councils 

22.7 43.0 36.8 

8.7 

6.7 

6.2 

1.3 
3.6 

Summary of Baseline Costs and 
Net Saving Opportunities 

North 
£000 

South 
£000 

City 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Base Service Costs 518,592 499,540 811,867 1,892,999 

Employee Costs (Sr Leadership +) (9,825) (12,841) 0 (22,666) 

Procurement Effciencies (5,915) (2,799) 0 (8,714) 

Income Equalisation (3,465) (3,244) 0 (6,709) 

Democratic Savings (687) (624) 0 (1,311) 

Reduce Debt - Asset Rationalisation (1,530) (2,041) 0 (3,571) 

Total Gross Savings (21,423) (21,549) 0 (42,972) 

Transition Costs of LGR - Yr 1 - 5 2,876 3,298 0 6,173 

Net (Savings) / Costs (18,547) (18,251) 0 (36,798) 

Revised Service Costs 563,045 481,288 811,867 1,856,201 

Savings Split Across the Unitaries 50% 50% 0% 
Employee Procurement Income Democratic Reduce  Total Gross  Transition Costs  Net Savings 

Costs Effciencies Equalisation Savings Debt - Asset  Saving of LGR  
Rationalisation Yr 1 to 5 

P
age 86



  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
  

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

27 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Overview of assumptions applied for fnancial effciencies: 

• Employee costs – savings will be generated mainly from a reduction in the 
number of senior leadership positions. Staff are any councils most valuable 
asset, and staff retention will be important. With natural turnover and vacancy 
rates at approximately 9%, it is expected that the change can be managed 
positively and redundancies can be minimised. 

• Procurement effciencies – base costs less employee costs and less county 
council costs have been used. Savings will be achieved from increased 
economies of scale for commissioning and procurement, asset rationalisation 
running costs, and standardisation of systems compared to existing district 
functions. No savings have been assumed for social care. 

• Income equalisation – initial investigation of fees & charges from website 
information shows a wide variety of charges. Analysis of government returns 
show that there are volume and pricing differences to income generation. It is 
estimated there is an opportunity for each new authority and an assumption of 
4% of the current income total is possible. In reality this could be between 
5 – 10%. 

• Democratic savings – the model assumes a reduction of 170 councillors to 214 
across the three unitaries at an average cost of £20,000. This has been based on 
Leicester City and County existing member costs.. 

• Rationalisation of offces to reduce debt burdens and costs to new authorities 
– there will be a reduction in the number of council offces although there is a 
keenness to maintain a presence in each area. Estimated value of the properties 
has been based on a property rate per current employee council numbers 
discounted to refect hybrid ways of working. A prudent estimation of the 
capital receipts gained from these sales has been modelled to offset existing 
debt burdens which in turn reduces interest payments. 

These savings are offset with implementation costs which include redundancy 
costs and specifc project-based teams which create and consolidate systems and 
processes for the two new authorities. 

P
age 87



 
 

 
 
 

  

  

  
 

  

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

28 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Council Tax Equalisation 
The three unitary model presented here enables harmonisation of council tax levels across the 
county region which brings equity to the residents across Leicestershire and Rutland. The approach 
supports and reduces the risk of ‘unfairness’ which reorganisation inherently presents. 

Whilst council tax equalisation brings no additional income into the local government system, by 
using the assumption that equalisation occurs within one year this three unitary model enables the 
new authorities to create certainty about its fnances. Financial sustainability for the new authorities 
would be created because: 

• new authorities are better able to plan their fnancial strategies as income is known at the very 
start and over the medium term 

• there is a reduction in the administrative burden which supports the saving opportunities 
identifed 

• this way forward avoids lengthy equalisation which would be diffcult locally through the 
perception that people are paying different amounts for the same services, which would likely be 
a distraction in the formative years of the new organisations 

• it avoids the risk of loss of income generation potential at a time when fnancial sustainability is a 
key driver for change 

• it should avoid the constraints of referendum principles and give the new authorities greater 
freedoms and access to opportunities when designing their medium to long fnancial strategies 
to service provision and demands 

The following table summarises the new Band D rates and shows that there is only £126.77 
difference in this model which compares to the current £373.41 

Council Tax Equalisation Equalised Council Tax 
Band D 

Band D 
Properties 

North £1,998.95 134,696 

South £1,955.25 133,920 

City £2,096.84 81,719 

Total 350,335 

The previous table showed the number of Band D properties for each of the unitary areas along 
side the Band D council tax charge. The following chart illustrates the even split of A-C council tax 
bands across the three unitary areas, overall similar banding profles for the wider geographical 
areas of both the North and South unitaries which in turn supports fnancial sustainability for these 
new authorities. 

Council Tax Base and Bands by North : South Unitary model 

134,696 133,920 

E to F 
Bands 

81,719 
Bands D 

A to C 
Bands 

Approx 
69K Each 
Authority 

North South City 

P
age 88



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
       

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

29 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Financial Sustainability 
Future fnancial sustainability of the new councils will be intrinsically linked to the balance sheet 
health of the organisations which are combined. The new authorities should not be saddled with 
high debt levels that overburden revenue resources. They should have suffcient revenue reserves to 
be used to mitigate risks and enable investment in opportunities that deliver fnancial sustainability, 
such as in preventative services that reduce demand and enable people to live longer healthier lives. 

Debt Analysis - as at 2023/24 Debt Value
 £000 

% of Net Revenue 
Expenditure 

North  329,787 111% 

South  262,964 98% 

City  290,165 85% 

Total  882,916 

The table indicates the level of debt that the new councils would be required to service through 
interest payments and debt repayments. This will need to be factored into fnancial sustainability 
plans over the medium to long term. The three new authorities have an even split of the debt across 
the Leicestershire and Rutland area with no new authority more burdened than the others. 

The level of reserves an authority holds is an important part of the medium-term fnancial planning 
and in turn the budget setting process. A review of reserves must be balanced and reasonable, 

factoring in the current fnancial standing of an authority, the funding outlook into the medium 
term and beyond, and most importantly, the fnancial risk environment in which they are operating. 
Therefore, in order to ensure the new authorities are viable the level of reserves is a critical 
consideration when developing the three unitary model. The following table shows that the three 
new authorities have an even split of the reserve balances across the Leicestershire and Rutland area 
with more opportunity within the existing City unitary. 

Looking at reserves alongside borrowing is useful as borrowing can be used to protect reserves, or 
reserves used to reduce borrowing. The analysis demonstrates that the proposal would enable each 
of the new unitaries to be created with an appropriate level of borrowing and reserve balances so 
that ‘trade-off’ remains an option supporting fnancial sustainability. 

Reserves Analysis - as at 2023/24 Useable Reserves 
£000 

Useable 
Reserves 

North  242,178 82% 

South  223,450 84% 

City  381,914 112% 

Total  847,542 

It should be noted that the analysis of debt and reserves includes balances that relate to the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). This system assumes that the servicing of debt is funded from 
ongoing revenue such as from rental receipts.  

In recent years upper tier authorities have experienced a Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funding 
defcit whereby expenditure on children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities has 
exceeded the grant received from the Department for Education. Government introduced 
legislation that provided an ‘override’ to the usual accounting practice which meant that councils 
did not have to fund the defcits within the fnancial year they occurred. This was on 
the basis that future grant receipts would be suffcient to cover the defcits 
experienced. However, this surplus grant has not materialised, and the use of 
the ‘override’ has meant that signifcant defcit balances have been able to 

P
age 89



    
 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 

 

   

  

  

30 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

accumulate exposing the majority of top tier authorities to signifcant risk. For Leicestershire, all 
three top tier authorities are carrying defcit balances. The table shows this risk as at the end of 
2023/24 fnancial year and compares the balance of the defcit to the amount of DSG received. 
Defcit balances are increasing exponentially with no clear solution yet received. It is anticipated that 
further clarity will be received as part of the Spending Review expected in Spring 2025. 

Dedicated Schools Grant Defcit Reserve -
as at 2023/24 

Defcit Value
 £000 

% of Dedicated 
Schools Grant 

North  19,153 5% 

South  15,852 5% 

City  9,648 2% 

Total  44,654 4% 

Alongside balance sheet health and associated fnancial resilience, fnancial sustainability will 
be intrinsically linked to the generation of income and receipt of government grants. Three core 
income generation considerations will be: 

a) Council Tax – see previous consideration for council tax equalisation 
b) Business Rates – a reset is expected as part of the Spending Review expected in Spring 2025. 

Currently the business rates that would be anticipated to be generated by the three unitary 
model is shown in the table. Following the business rate reset it is expected that there will be an 
alternative national distribution methodology applied to this income and the new authorities will 
receive less funding than is generated due to the loss in growth above the baseline position as is 
currently experienced 

c) General Government Grant – this income stream has previously been provided through the 
settlement provision through Core Spending Power and is due to undergo a signifcant review in 
Spring 2025. Whilst the review has not yet been published, modelling the likely outcome based 
on the Local Government Policy Statement of 2025/26 can be used to provide an indication of 
likely general funding from government. This statement emphasised the “targeting of funds 
to areas with the greatest need” and introduced a new distribution methodology based on 
deprivation indices. Initial modelling suggests that the new authorities within this proposal will 
receive less general funding from government due to more weight being given to a deprivation 
index. The impact of this change is a constant feature for Leicestershire as a whole and not 
limited to this proposal. Therefore, it is important that the likely reduction in government grant 

from Leicestershire is taken into account when devising a fnancial strategy for each new 
authority to ensure fnancial sustainability. 

100% Business Rates Income -
as at 2023/24 

100% Business Rates 
£000 

50% Retained 
Business Rates 

North  206,579  103,290 

South  201,114  100,557 

City  129,303  64,651 

Total  536,996  268,498 

The following table provides an overview of where losses are likely to be seen compared to the 
current funding system. It can be seen from this table that the City Unitary is likely to be ‘better 
off’ from the changes in the general grant formula. This would help this authority offset some of 
the income generation challenges that the council tax banding and its associated gearing would 
bring increasing the fnancial sustainability of this authority which in turn further supports the three 
unitary model for Leicestershire. 

Spending Review Area North South City 

Council tax equalisation ✖ ✖ ✓ 
Interim Children's Relative Needs Formula (RNF) ✖ ✖ ✓ 
Adult Relative Needs Formula (RNF) ✓ ✓ ✖ 
Population versus deprivation-weighted population ✖ ✖ ✖ 
Population versus additional population Gain & Loss ✖ ✖ 
Population versus capital fnancing RNF Gain & Loss ✖ ✖ 
Business rates baseline reset ✖ ✖ ✓ 
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Gain ✓ Loss ✖ 

P
age 90



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

31 

7.0 

So
m

er
se

t

6.2 

B
ed

fo
rd

sh
ir

e

5.7 

N
or

th
 Y

or
ks

h
ir

e

5.4 5.4 

D
u

rh
am

Th
is

 M
od

el

5.0 

C
or

n
w

al
l

3.9 

N
ot

ti
n

g
h

am

3.6 3.6 

C
u

m
b

ri
a

P
w

C
 2

02
0 

2.7 

M
H

C
LG

/
D

LU
H

C
 

North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Review and reasonableness for the  
three unitary model fnancial case 
The fnancial case described in the section has been reviewed by all S151s of the councils involved 
in this proposal. Furthermore, external experts have also reviewed the model for reasonableness 
including a former S151 of Kent County Council, Andy Wood, and Finance Specialist Dan Bates from 
LGFin and they conclude that the methodologies adopted are sensible and are not overly optimistic 
or pessimistic as applied assumptions. 

The following chart demonstrates the reasonableness of this fnancial case compared with reports 
from other local authorities and leading stakeholders within the Local Government Re-organisation 
arena. It is concluded that the fnancial case provides a strong foundation on which to build and 
fne tune as part of phase 2 of the Local Government Re-organisation process. 

Comparison of Leicestershire three unitary model against other LGR reports and 
business cases (savings shown as £m per district council) 

20 English Indices of Deprivation 2019 

P
age 91



32 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Service Pressures 
Whilst the individual authorities are fnancially viable there are a number 
of signifcant service pressures in each area which merit close attention. 
We have considered these carefully and believe, on the basis of our 
options appraisal, that whilst they make a distinctive case for a north/south 
confguration of authorities, they provide a more balanced set of overall 
challenges as evidenced by the fnancial profle above, than either a county 
unitary or an east/west split. We have set out the distinctive characteristics of 
each area below. 

There are individual neighbourhoods with relatively intense deprivation as 
set out from mapping of the English Indices of Deprivation20 at lower super 
output area level in the map opposite: 

The higher incidence of deprivation in the north with a particular series 
of challenges around barriers to housing and services is derived from the 
sparsely populated rural nature of the area. This introduces a series of access 
and higher unit costs for service delivery per head than in the relatively more 
densely populated and better-connected southern area. 

More specifcally in terms of service pressures we have looked at three 
fnancial proxies to give an indication of the relative scale of challenges in 
relation to: 

• Adult Social Care – the number of people receiving pensioner credits 
• Children’s Services – the number of children living in poverty 
• Housing – the amount spent by each authority on temporary 

accommodation 

LLE local authority boundaries 

IMD 2019 Decile (1=most deprived) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

20 English Indices of Deprivation 2019 

P
age 92



 

        

33 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

A detailed breakdown of the position per local authority area is set out in the tables below: 

Pensioner Credits and Children in Poverty 

Leicester 

Population 
(2021 Census) 

368600 

Pensioner 
Credits 

10049 

Over 
65 

45467 

% Pensioner 
Credits 

22% 

Children 
in Poverty 

27789

Total child 
population 

 77840 

% Children 
in poverty 

35.70% 

Rutland 41000 527 10696 5% 645 6649 9.70% 

Melton 51800 764 12853 6% 1365 8864 15.40% 

Charnwood 183900 2791 35924 8% 4787 31084 15.40% 

NW Leics 104700 1551 22055 7% 2867 18617 15.40% 

North 381400 5106 70832 7% 9019 58565 15% 

Blaby 

Harborough 

Hinckley and Bosworth 

Oadby and Wigston 

South 

102900 

97600 

113600 

57700 

371800 

1620 

1236 

1772 

1045 

5673 

21749 

22869 

26118 

12414 

83150 

7% 

5% 

7% 

8% 

7% 

1629 

1784 

1784 

1678 

6875 

12067 

17663 

17663 

10826 

58219 

13.50% 

10.10% 

10.10% 

15.50% 

12% 

Source DWP 2023/4 

P
age 93



 

34 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Housing Pressures – Temporary Accommodation 

Ta Starting Budget 22/23 Total Spend on TA 22/23 TA Starting Budget 23/24 Total Spend on TA 23/24 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Blaby £383,200 £468,778 £663,000 £516,867 

Harborough £169,000 £281,000 £169,000 £350,000 

Charnwood £192,400 £742,818 £650,400 £384,965 

HBBC £372,650 £642,556 £464,640 £1,160,959 

Melton £94,630 £87,242 £55,000 £96,000 

NWLDC £153,000 £323,000 £306,000 £221,000 

Oadby and Wigston £74,200 £322,104 £260,000 £594,206 

Rutland £79,400 £98,414 £85,059 £221,116 

Source CHOG Homelessness Trends 2022-24 

Total Spend on Temporary Accommodation: South £2.6 million; North £923,000 in the north in 2023/24. 

Population projections suggest a signifcant growth in the population of both proposed new councils, particularly compared to the City as set out in the table below: 

Combination 2018 Pop 2028 pop %Growth 2036 pop %Growth 2021 16-64% 2021 E Inactive% 

North 375566 417696 11% 443721 18% 62% 15% 

South 362399 400747 11% 425078 17% 60% 14% 

City 355218 372797 5% 390223 10% 67% 23% 

Source ONS Population Projections 2018-2043 

P
age 94



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

35 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Economic Development 
and Growth 
Leicestershire and Rutland have an ambitious growth plan which is best delivered in support of 
the new Strategic Authority by two new councils in addition to Leicester. Separate north and south 
authorities will bring together a strong outward looking focus (building on work already developed 
in local north and south areas) to the basis of the north/south division of priorities set out below. 

The Strategic Growth Plan sets out a bold agenda for the new councils. It has been positively 
prepared through a strong and proactive partnership involving all Leicester and Leicestershire 
councils and the process has been managed by a joint Strategic Planning Member Advisory Group 
comprising of Leaders and Senior Portfolio Holders. A minimum of 96,864 new dwellings are 
planned to 2036 alongside the following major employment and infrastructure developments: 

340 hectares of employment land planned to 2036 (split between 42 hectares of offce space and 
290 hectares of general industrial space) 
400 hectares of B8 of warehousing/logistics 

Major road transport developments include - key transport infrastructure projects that impact both 
the north and south areas of Leicestershire; including A5 Hinckley to Tamworth improvements; A46 
improvements; M1 J24; A1 Highways Agency safety improvements and the A5 – A46 Gibbett Hill 
scheme. 

The distribution of these proposed employment infrastructure investments naturally segment the 
historic county of Leicestershire and Rutland around complementary north and south infuences 
with 145.9 hectares of employment allocated to the south and 124 to the north in the historic 
county of Leicestershire. 

Need 
B1 

Need 
B2/B8 

Total Source 

Blaby 9.1 29.0 38.1 2021-36 need, HENA 2022 

Charnwood 7.5 35.7 43.2 2021-36 need, HENA 2022 

Harborough 6.8 39.3 46.1 2021-36 need, HENA 2022 

H&B 4.2 53.4 57.6 2021-36 need, HENA 2022 

Leicester 46 67.3 69.6 2019-36 need, City HENA 2022 

Melton 2 38.1 40.1 2021-36 need, HENA 2022 

NWLDC 8.9 33.8 40.7 2021-36 need, HENA 2022 

O&W 1 3.1 4.1 2021-36 need, HENA 2022 

Rutland 1.5 26.6 28.1 2021-41 need, HENA 2023 

LLR Total 42.3 324.3 367.6 

Source Leicester and Leicestershire Authorities – Statement of Common Ground relating to Housing and Employment Land Needs (June 2022) 

21 Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan: https://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/ 

P
age 95

https://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk


 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

36 

A1 

A46 

A5 

A47 

A606 

M1 

21 

A50 

4c 

4f 

4e 

6g 

3h 

1 

2a 
2b 2c 

2e 

3a 

3b 

3d 

3c 3g 

3e 

3f 

6b 

6d 

6c 

6h 
5a 

4 2 

3 

5d 

5b 

5c 

4a 

4d 
7a 

1a1b 

7b 

1c 

5f 

North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Growth Corridors 
& Clusters 
Major new settlement development proposals are balanced across the 
north and south of Leicestershire and ft effectively in terms of scale, 
within the proposed approach of two outward looking new councils, along 
with Leicester, predicated on focused partnerships. Within the north this 
involves connecting to the East Midlands around Derby and Nottingham. 
In the south the focus points towards the West Midlands and South 
Midlands. The new plans involve: 

Potential new settlement growth options at Isley Walton (NWL – up to 
5,000) and Six Hills (Charnwood/Melton – up to 10,000), Woolfox (5,000), 
in the north, and Lindley (HBBC – up to 3,000), Lutterworth East 
(Harborough - 2,750), Land West of Stoney Stanton (5,000) and Whetstone 
Pastures (Blaby/Harborough – over 5,000) in the south. 

The map opposite captures an overview of main sites and themes from a 
Leicestershire and Rutland perspective and shows very neatly the natural 
north/south split. 

Strategic Growth Corridor 
(indicative) 

Railway Station 
(Existing and Proposed- only those relevant to the 
strategic growth corridors and highlighted) 

Airport 

Potential Area for Strategic 
Growth by Typology 

Urban Extension/Village 
Expansion/Garden Village 

Co-dependent settlement 

Autonomous settlement 

Employment Site 

Strategic Growth Options and Constraints Mapping for L&L -
Final Report August 2023 (expanded to include Rutland) 

20 English Indices of Deprivation 2019 

P
age 96



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

37 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Local Plans 
Well-structured, ambitious and crucially, 
development and delivery focused 
aligned local plans, are central to 
delivering the objectives of the Strategic 
Authority. A new Spatial Development 
Strategy will later provide a high level plan 
to cover the whole county and Rutland, 
setting out infrastructure requirements to 
support growth. 

The current trajectory is to have all local plans adopted by 2027, ahead of  Our approach recognises the crucial importance of adopted  
commencement of the new unitary structure by 2028, and with a Spatial  local plans to the delivery of the economic growth agenda of  
Development Strategy to follow in 2029. There is an existing culture of collaborative  both the Strategic Authority and government. It will enable  
working on Local Plan delivery in Leicestershire and Rutland, including working  us to allocate resources at the level of meaningful economic  
proactively with Leicester City to accommodate unmet housing need. A new  geographies, to align the process of local plan approval.  
model of North and South Leicestershire will build on these existing relationships,  
ensuring timely delivery of progressive local plans to meet ambitious housing and  
employment growth targets. 

20 English Indices of Deprivation 2019 

P
age 97



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

38 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Community Leadership 
and Local Decision Making 
Leicestershire and Rutland have a well-established pattern of parish, district and upper tier 
authorities. This threefold structure in the historic county of Leicestershire and unitary structure in 
Rutland (which represents a deep seated and long held distinctive position for the county) provides a 
well-defned starting point for a democratic re-set. 

There are 217 Parish Councils, 75 parish meetings and nine town councils across Leicestershire and 
Rutland22. 

The area has a dynamic and diverse VCS, with over 3,00023 different organisations operating across 
the geography, ranging from small grassroots groups, to social enterprises and national charities. 

These organisations have a strong track record of innovation and responsiveness to communities 
and are an essential part of improving the lives of people across the area. 

Support for the VCS in Leicestershire and Rutland is a clear priority if we are to deliver modern 
services and build capacity from the grass roots which are crucial to driving the principles of co-
design and introducing lived experience as a core feature to our work. 

Across Leicestershire there are a series of local and bespoke arrangements which provide support 
and garner local engagement. Documents such as the Health and Well-being plans, focused on 
localities, play a central role in building joint working. We will work across the whole geography of 
Leicestershire and Rutland to build and enhance a framework for local delivery 

Work with the sector will be focused on managing demand through early/community level 
intervention and prevention, increasing community resilience and more effective delivery of services 
by community groups. 

24 See NALC All about Local Councils for case study examples of good practice (2018) 
25 Leicestershire and Rutland Local Plan allocations 

Our approach will bring together commissioners and sector groups in information, advice 
and learning events, providing advice and support around topics such as governance, group 
development and funding and promote, develop and support volunteering. 

There are opportunities to radically enhance the scale and engagement with both the parishes 
and VCS to create a new vibrant and variegated delivery partnership focused on providing more 
cost-effective services across Leicestershire and Rutland. We will achieve this through strength-based 
approaches to community development. 

The frst stage of the process involves building the capacity of the local accountability to fll the 
current gaps in the democratic infrastructure. 

P
age 98



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

39 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Attractive market towns defne the two distinct halves of the geography of Leicestershire and 
Rutland and working with the unitary authorities and voluntary sector infrastructure provide scope 
for a potent three-cornered partnership, with precepting powers to enable a new way forward in 
relation to service delivery. 

Our approach will be to reach out to the established network of parishes and VCS to create a new 
local network which more substantively involves all aspects of civil society in service delivery. 

Creating and sustaining these partnerships requires authorities of the right size and scale to 
engage with the grain of local communities and places. We strongly believe that authorities which 
are too big and distant from parishes and VCS localities do not have the capacity to do this as 
effectively as those which are accessible at a meaningful level which represents the rhythms of the 
way people live their lives24. 

24 See NALC All about Local Councils for case study examples of good practice (2018) 
25 Leicestershire and Rutland Local Plan allocations 

Another great strength of an appropriately scaled unitary authority is its scope to bring our 
distinctive experience about preventive housing insights into the service delivery planning agenda, 
linking them with health and community safety prevention insights. 

Local plans are also best implemented at the scale of personal geographies and the north/south 
context of our proposals provides the best enabling and accountable framework for their delivery. 
Authorities which are close enough to the communities they serve are more effectively placed to 
align and plan the detailed context of the current local plan development which currently 
pertains across our geographies. In doing this they will provide a strong enabling environment to 
deliver the aspirations of the Strategic Authority. 

Local insights and approaches are particularly important in the context of linking neighbourhood 
accountability and the delivery of local housing targets for example. Under our proposals two 
new authorities would be key to the delivery of 2,201 houses per year in the north and in the south 
2,26925. P

age 99



 

 
 
 
 

 

40 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Councillor Numbers and a 
New Accountability Framework 
There are currently 384 councillors at district and county level across Leicestershire. The distribution 
is set out in the table below: 

Authority Number of 
Councillors 

Leicestershire County Council 55 

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 

Blaby District Council 

Harborough District Council 

Charnwood Borough Council 

Melton Borough Council 

North West Leicestershire District Council 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 

Rutland County Council 

Leicester City Council 

A review of the number of councillors across 30 unitary councils in England outside of London 
boroughs and large scale metropolitan areas identifed unitary authorities with between 50 and 
80 councillors. In the more rural north the geographical scale of some wards may merit a higher 
number of councillors. We envisage local authorities with an initial allocation of 80 councillors as 
our starting point. 

34 

36 

34 

52 

28 

38 

26 

27 

54 

P
age 100



 
 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

41 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Community Safety 
Partnership working with the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Leicestershire 
Constabulary works best at a level which most effectively supports local and community safety 
partnership locality planning. We believe our approach best fts this profle. Policing structures 
are moving to a north/south split across Leicestershire and Rutland. Based on the distribution of 
crimes per 1,000 population, a north/south split provides a very balanced distribution of challenge 
whilst offering a suffciently local level of focus to deliver well managed interventions. More detail 
is provided below: 

• North Average – 62.2 crimes per 1,000 population 
• South Average – 62.95 crimes per 1,000 population 

Authority District Crimes per 1000 population as report on 
LSCB Safer Dashboard | Tableau Public ( as at 23/1/24) 

Charnwood 74.2 

North West Leicestershire 71.7 

Oadby and Wigston 67.9 

Hinckley and Bosworth 66.9 

Blaby 66.2 

Melton 61.9 

Harborough 50.8 

Rutland 27 

Leicester City Council 52 

Summary 
Our focus in relation to the themes of: service pressures, economic development and local 
communities is to provide an enabling approach for the Strategic Authority. The approach we 
propose is based on a recognition of the diversity of Leicestershire and Rutland as a network of 
communities. It is based on a clear division of policy development at the Strategic Authority level 
and insightful local implementation at the unitary authority level. This delivery approach is deeply 
rooted in partnership with enhanced hyper local bodies at the parish, town and VCS level. 

Working in partnership across the two counties and with the City of Leicester we believe a three 
unitary approach best serves both this purpose and crucially the needs of local people. Local 
plans and housing supply which are both essential to realising the Government’s agenda can only 
be delivered with a powerful focus on localities. To work well this needs to be based not just on 
service delivery but also on meaningful accountability structures which give people a stake in the 
organisations which serve them. 

P
age 101



 
 

 

 
 

  
  
   
  

 
  
  

  
  

 
 

 

  
 

  

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

42 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Our Approach 
We have developed the table below to set out the key steps in our new service delivery agenda: 

Starting Point Interventions Outputs Outcomes Long Term Impact 

Savings of £43 million per year. 

96,864 new dwellings, 340 hectares 
of employment land, 400 hectares of 
B8 warehousing/logistics. Transport 
infrastructure projects that impact 
both the north and south areas of 
Leicestershire; including A5 to Tamworth 
improvements; A46 improvements; M1 
J24; A5 – A46 Gibbett Hill scheme 

New settlement growth options at Isley 
Walton (NWL – up to 5,000), Woolfox 
(up to 5,000) and Six Hills (Charnwood/ 
Melton – up to 10,000) in the north, and 
Lindley (HBBC – up to 3,000), Whetstone 
Pastures (Blaby/Harb – over 5,000) in 
the south. Potential cross boundary new 
settlement at Norton close to Twycross 
(HBBC – up to 10,000). 

Democratic renewal supporting 217 
local councils, creating new governance 
structures. 

A new integrated hyper local service 
commissioning structure supported by 
these councils and approaching 3,000 
VCS bodies. 

The need to build a sustainable future for 
England’s localities through devolution 
which enables economic growth. 

This needs to be achieved in an inclusive 
way through Strategic Authorities with a 
focus on: 

1. Transport and local infrastructure 
2. Skills and employment support 
3. Housing and strategic planning 
4. Economic development and 

regeneration 
5. Environment and climate change. 
6. Health, wellbeing and public service 

reform 
7. Public safety 

Delivery structures below this level need 
to offer excellent value for money and be 
based on the creation of a single tier of 
local government: 

1. At the right size to achieve effciencies, 
improve capacity and withstand 
fnancial shocks 

2. Prioritise the delivery of high quality 
and sustainable public services 

3. Focused on local engagement 
and support 

4. Support devolution 
5. Enable community engagement and 

neighbourhood empowerment 

We propose three unitary councils based 
on functioning economic geographies: 

Leicester City 
North: NW Leicestershire, Charnwood, 
Melton and Rutland 
South: Harborough, Hinckley and 
Bosworth, Oadby and Wigston and Blaby 

This will provide a delivery structure to 
support the Strategic Authority. The 
distribution of employment and housing 
land refects the sub-regional priorities 
of the wider economic environment 
connecting in the  north to the M1 
Corridor and in the south to the South 
and West Midlands. It will best enable 
the economic infrastructure and housing 
growth targets of national government, 
aligning local and transport plans and 
tackling housing supply challenges. 

The approach is fnancially sustainable 
– distributing the assets and liabilities 
of the current structure evenly across 
Leicestershire. Through insightful locality 
planning it will deliver structural savings 
and preventive long term savings for local 
authorities and their partners. 

The approach will be enabled by a 
democratic re-set which builds a low 
cost high impact VCS, parish and town 
council framework which can contribute 
to service delivery and enable community 
engagement and neighbourhood 
empowerment 

A more cost effective structure 
which speaks to the democratic lived 
experience (in terms of where people live 
and work) of the diverse communities of 
Leicestershire and Rutland 

Establishment of an enhanced preventive 
services  framework networked within 
the unitary authorities around new 
and re-energised local councils and a 
more engaged VCS sector. Enabled by 
authorities of the optimum size to ft 
local needs and opportunities. 

A structure, based on two new unitary 
councils alongside Leicester, best 
equipped to deliver the economic 
development aspirations of the Strategic 
Authority, facing outwards to the broader 
economic sub-regions within which 
they function 

A democratic reset, providing new low 
cost opportunities at the local level for 
people to engage in the closest level of 
local government in the form of town and 
parish councils 

Facilitation of prosperous, sustainable 
and inclusive communities which refect 
the lived experience of local people 
rooted in a sense of place for all residents 

Transformation of the democratic 
governance and service delivery 
infrastructure of Leicestershire and 
Rutland. 

Creation of a high value, low cost delivery 
framework, meeting the socio-economic 
and climate  challenges facing the 
diverse communities of Leicestershire 
and Rutland. 

Development of an outward facing sub-
regional agenda, which enables the 
natural communities of Leicestershire 
and Rutland to play their part in the 
shaping the long term future of their 
wider hinterlands. 

P
age 102



43 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Future Proofng  
Our Proposed Approach 

P
age 103



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

44 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Preventive Savings 
In addition to the above transformation savings we believe that up to 5% of service demand can be 
reduced over time through a preventive service delivery agenda26. Whilst we reference a number of 
themes in this document, prevention is threaded through our whole rationale for the structures and 
approach we propose. 

We will focus particularly strongly on social care. Delivery and planning will involve creating a new 
commissioning focus which enhances service delivery arrangements with the VCS and builds 
the capacity of the town and parish councils to add a further leg to the delivery structure. It will 
also harness the housing, health and community safety preventive insights of the current district 
and unitary councils to provide a more connected multi-agency approach to dominant issues 
which build the resilience of key vulnerable service users. It will recognise the importance of social 
enterprises and micro-businesses in sustaining inclusive local economies. It will span a service 
delivery agenda which integrates actions around neighbourhoods, housing, health and community 
safety, collaboration and planning. 

These partnerships will concentrate on local insights, local intelligence and co-design and delivery 
with the VCS and local councils. This approach will build the capacity of local organisations and 
provide scope to strengthen micro-economies through procurement and service delivery structures 
which enable community wealth building. 

Our model approach brings together the insight of one of the three established social care providers 
in Leicestershire and Rutland, along with the deep experience relating to the neighbourhood level 
prevention and locality planning agenda of 7 district councils. It represents their joint collegiate 
approach to service innovation and excellence. In relation to the health and care elements of our 
portfolio going forward, we propose adopting the Marmot Places framework to address the wider 
determinants of health and tackle inequalities across all communities. This strategic approach, 
facilitated by our three councils and wider community partnerships, focused far more closely on 
localities, offers a tailored and effective solution compared to the remote, one-size-fts-all structure 
of a single unitary council. 

26 See LGA: Investing in preventative support can save more than £3 for every pound spent for examples of good practice 

P
age 104



 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

45 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Preventive Adult and 
Health Services Rationale 
The effectiveness of health and adult social care services plays a crucial role in shaping the quality 
of life, health outcomes, and social inclusion of individuals who require support. However, the 
current system faces signifcant challenges, including funding constraints, workforce shortages, 
and inconsistent service quality. 

Adult social care is most effectively delivered by councils with boundaries that refect the 
natural patterns of communities but with suffcient scale to be resilient. This approach can 
empower local communities and support independent living. By establishing two new 
authorities alongside Leicester, services can be tailored to meet the specifc demographics 
and geographical needs of our populations. A localised proposition fosters a more holistic 
multi agency approach based on community support systems, promoting resilience and 
independence among older adults, reducing pressure on social care services, and enhancing 
residents' overall quality of life. 

Currently, services delivered at the Leicestershire wide level face issues related to accessibility and 
effectiveness. For example, the proportion of people who fnd information on care easily and those 
who feel satisfed with their quality of life in relation to the support they receive is signifcantly 
lower compared to statistical neighbours. Councils in our new approach will be inherently closer 
to the communities they serve, offer a localised structure that allows for a deeper understanding 
of unique needs, cultural contexts, and specifc challenges. This proximity facilitates more 
personalised and responsive services, reduces bureaucratic barriers, and ensures quicker decision-
making. Stronger relationships with service users, more effective community outreach, and 
easier navigation of care pathways contribute to a more approachable, user-friendly care system, 
fostering trust and engagement within communities. 

Moreover, targeted commissioning for vulnerable adults and individuals with learning disabilities 
ensures services are customised to meet local needs and resources. Councils with boundaries 
aligned to community living patterns can better support integrated care approaches through 
localised, tailored service delivery. Operating at a more appropriate scale enables service 
integration, ensuring consistent care and understanding where systems overlap. 

For instance, supported living allocations, currently managed at the county level, can be 
harmonised with statutory housing, revenue, and benefts functions delivered by district 
authorities. 

Reforming health and social care to shift from a reactive, sickness-based approach to one 
focused on prevention and independent living becomes more achievable under this unitary 
structure. By more easily integrating services such as housing, public health and social care with 
health provision this approach will promote preventive measures that supports independent 
living. Embedded within local communities, these services will beneft from stronger 
partnerships and coordinated efforts, with localised prevention programmes tailored to the 
unique needs of each community. 

The councils we propose will be agile in responding to local health needs, enabling effective 
coordination with healthcare providers, such as Primary Care Networks (PCNs), to deliver person-
centred neighbourhood care. 

Locality based partnerships and services also reduce unnecessary hospital admissions, 
promoting health and well-being within communities. Enabling people to live longer in good 
health and in their own homes supports people to stay in control of their lives near 
to their support networks, sometimes then avoiding the need for acute care. 
For those with health services across their county borders, this local focus then 
benefts services beyond the area of where people live. 

P
age 105



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

46 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

28 Community-centred practice: applying All Our Health NHS 2022 
29 https://lightbulbservice.org/ 

This localised approach to discharge planning improves performance and outcomes reducing 
the length of stay for those requiring an acute stay in hospital. Expert re-ablement teams closer 
to home continue the support post discharge, preventing re-admission and the need for formal 
ongoing support. 

We already have signifcant proven experience of enabling effective hospital discharge 
particularly in relation to our expertise in terms of our landlord and strategic housing 
functions. We will transfer this learning into the development of the service approach of the 
new authorities from day one of their operation. 

Community-centred approaches28, advocated by Public Health bodies, emphasise the importance 
of involving and empowering local communities to address health inequalities. By fostering social 
connections and giving residents a voice in local decision-making, this unitary structure can build 
community resilience and improve health outcomes. This approach ensures that local services 
remain agile and responsive to both policy changes and evolving community needs. 

Our current approaches enable councils to enhance provider outcomes through closer oversight 
of service providers within their jurisdictions. With our intimate knowledge of local providers 
and direct engagement with service users, we already proactively manage quality around these 
issues. We swiftly respond to issues, implementing corrective actions without the delays often 
seen in larger bureaucratic systems. 

Our methodology will build on the learning associated with the existing Community Health and 
Wellbeing Plans and partnership structures at the district council level. Essential interventions we 
already deliver include the Lightbulb service29, facilitation of hospital discharge, the provision of 
mental health support, and work around falls prevention. 

Restructuring authorities presents a strategic opportunity to enhance health and social care 
services. By fostering closer connections with communities, these authorities can effectively 
implement national health and care initiatives, promote preventive care, and ensure that services 
are effcient, responsive, and tailored to the needs of all residents. This approach supports 
a more localised and integrated health and care system, ultimately improving outcomes 
for everyone. It is rooted in the principles of Asset Based Community Development. 

P
age 106



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

47 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Rutland Exemplar 
We have set out a description  
of a vital aspect of the Rutland  
approach which draws its  
strength from a structure that  
embeds prevention as a system  
wide theme across the whole  
council and which our localities  
focused agenda will scale up  
across both new councils: 

The Rutland Health Collaboration work is embedded across the 
County in our drive to be an integrated system. Our Rutland 
Integrated Social Empowerment team (RISE) work closely with 
the PCN and VCS across Rutland, growing our Prevention offer. 
They are co located in Uppingham Surgery supporting people 
with a wide range of social, emotional or practical needs, with 
a focus on supporting people to maintain their independence. 
They have specialist mental health support working in a 
multi-disciplinary approach, to support and direct to the most 
appropriate support. The wider Micare team has commenced 
an end-of-life pilot working towards ‘Integrated Neighbourhood’ 
working, preventing admission to hospital, if the clinical decision 
and the patient’s decision is to remain at home. 

This work has been the foundation to developing a Health 
and Care Collaborative at pace for Rutland. Presently we are 
working towards a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), 
which will aim to create a single Health and Care System, 
improving residents' experience of access and embed a 
population health management approach. The data we 
have started to collate on population health is being used as 
an exemplar of good practice across LLR ICB in the roll out 
of Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INTs). A Health and 
Care Hub, as part of the Levelling Up Fund is due to open 
in Oakham in Jan 2026. This will link transport, a joined-up 
Health and Care workforce, an accessible prevention offer and 
expanded digital support for our community. 

Lastly Adult Social Care Teams in Rutland were redesigned 
in 2023, to promote a specialism of work approach which 
could be lifted into an integrated working environment. 
The Contact and Response Team will be one of the teams 
supporting a new and changed Health and Care approach 
in Rutland, growing an accessible prevention offer and 
being able to deliver a rapid response to crisis management in 
the community. Other teams included will be Housing 
and Therapy who work together in a community system, 
enabling care closer to home, without the need for hospital 
admission. 

P
age 107



 
 

 
 

 
 

48 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Housing Services 
and Prevention 
A crucial pillar of health, wellbeing, independence and 
opportunity; housing plays a signifcant role in this partnership 
proposal. Our proposal will enable us to secure high quality 
housing across all tenures, maintain focus on regulatory 
requirements, meet future housing need and ensure that 
housing is embedded as an intrinsic part of the continuum of 
prevention and independent living 

High Quality, Accountable and 
Compliant Landlord Services 
Following aggregation of Councils, across the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Council areas, we will remain landlords to over 
35,000 social housing tenants (19,440 for the City Council, 11,327 for North and Rutland Unitary Council and 4,413 for the South 
Unitary Council). Ensuring the provision of high-quality homes and landlord services, alongside meaningful tenant engagement 
and accountability, is not just a priority – it is a fundamental responsibility. 

Our proposal presents an exciting approach that will enable us to transition into new structures and landlord services at a larger 
but manageable and meaningful scale, allowing us to maintain focus on and fdelity to the Social Housing Regulatory regime. 
With a strong track record of strategic collaboration and shared learning, and a commitment to adopting and embedding the 
most effective and coherent service delivery arrangements, our partnership approach will naturally support a smooth, safe and 
effective transition. 

Tenants are key stakeholders, ensuring their voice remains central to decision making and they retain the ability to hold us to 
account is a key imperative. This unitary model provides a consistent level of service, allowing for better long term investment 
planning, improving the quality of homes whilst being responsive to local needs. Proposals for a county unitary lack the insight to 
build on the great work around tenant engagement already delivered at the local level in Leicestershire. 

P
age 108



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 4949 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Private Rented 
Sector Housing 
Quality 
The integration of housing services, public health and 
trading standards teams, with the optimisation of the 
Better Care Fund to support interventions linked to health 
and wellbeing of tenants in the private rented sector, will 
enable a consistent and proactive approach to tackling poor 
housing quality in the private rented sector. It will also 
increase capacity and skills, enforcement capabilities and 
preventative opportunities. Consolidating data on housing 
conditions across the region, through the public health 
lens, will further support a targeted and effective approach 
to addressing both health inequalities and homelessness. 

P
age 109



50 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Embedding Housing in the 
Continuum of Prevention 
and Independent Living 
Across our partnership we have signifcant experience as landlords, providers of successful and 
high quality preventative services and as social care providers – these are directly relevant to 
our ageing population. Our proposal presents an opportunity to enhance focus on prevention, 
maximise outcomes through the Better Care Fund and help reduce social care demand and 
escalation of need. Using the alignment made possible by a unitary arrangement, we will 
create a coherent and joined up model which responds to the needs of an ageing population 
and ensures a range of our preventive services, housing functions and social care functions are 
enhanced and developed to boost independent living, supporting people to live and age well 
and remain in their own homes for as long as possible. 

Further enhancing this through wider public sector collaboration, we will be ready to support 
wider Government priorities including those of the Department for Work and Pensions (building 
on existing relationships with DWP colleagues in the Leicestershire and Northants area). 
Our stakeholder engagement as part of this process has already identifed opportunities for 
enhanced collaboration and alignment on contextually relevant priorities for the footprints of the 
new unitary authorities; including supporting our older residents and those with health needs to 
remain in or return to work, supporting young people into work to avoid them becoming welfare 
beneft claimants and reaching our diverse and rural communities. 

There are numerous examples where existing innovative service delivery is supporting the 
preventative focus of this proposal and making tangible savings to health and social care. 
Recognised nationally as a beacon of good practice, the Lightbulb Service provides an effective 
model of prevention and integrated service delivery, at a place-based level, which provides a 
range of practical housing support. This includes the core function of Disabled Facilities Grants, 
within a single service, ensuring that vulnerable residents remain safe and well in their own 
homes and aids the transition from hospital to home. Funded through the Better Care Fund, the 
service has continued to innovate through pilot projects which respond to emerging priorities. 

These pilots include the Safe Space Hoarding Project, an innovative Assistive Technology 
Project and the Housing Respiratory Illness Project, which have embedded a proactive housing 
intervention programme, integrating housing, health, and social care to tackle damp and mould 
at the earliest stage. 

Demonstrating its role and impact across the wider public sector, Lightbulb also delivers a 
Housing Enablement Team within LLR hospitals, placing specialist housing professionals directly 
in patient settings. This service is funded by the NHS and addresses housing related barriers that 
may delay hospital discharge, ensuring that patients can return to safe, suitable accommodation 
as quicky as possible thereby reducing bed blocking and costs to the health system. 

P
age 110



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 5151 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Children’s Services  
and Prevention 
Children’s services operate across a spectrum, from universal services such as education and early 
healthcare to targeted interventions and social care. These services depend on a strong foundation 
of Local Authority provisions, such as housing, leisure, and economic development, alongside 
partnerships with health services, the voluntary sector, and transport networks. Children’s social 
care services are regulated services, both in terms of overall approach and individual provision. 
Some provision is delivered and managed by the Local Authorities and other provision is 
commissioned from other providers (including other Local Authorities, where required). 

The establishment of three similarly sized unitary authorities across Leicestershire, Leicester, and 
Rutland, provides optimal provision for children and their families. This approach ensures equity 
in access to centrally based services and resources, reducing travel times and enhancing support 
across a more balanced geographical area. 

Under the three council approach, children’s social care services will integrate more effectively 
with existing district-level services, creating a holistic ‘whole life’ approach that enhances 
childhood well-being closer to communities. Directors of Children’s Services will focus on a 
smaller population, increasing their capacity for early intervention and prevention work—key 
priorities in national children’s services reform. This approach also strengthens the local authority’s 
ability to manage placements for vulnerable children, ensuring they can grow up safely within their 
home communities. 

A more localised council authority structure fosters a deeper understanding of community-
specifc needs, cultural contexts, and challenges. This proximity enhances personalised and 
responsive services, reduces bureaucratic barriers, and enables quicker decision-making. Stronger 
relationships with service users, more effective community outreach, and easier navigation of 
support pathways contribute to a more approachable and user-friendly care system, fostering trust 
and engagement. 

P
age 111



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

52 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

The three council approach is particularly benefcial for the education sector, spanning early years to 
post-16 provision. Support for pupils with additional needs will be more readily available, with faster 
responses to emerging demands. School place planning, attendance management, and admissions 
will refect the local population’s needs, ensuring statutory oversight is effcient and effective. 

This approach also benefts from economies of scale while allowing strategy developers and 
decision-makers to remain close to their communities. A locality-based approach ensures 
services are tailored to address local needs, mitigating inequalities through targeted oversight. 
With fewer bureaucratic layers, communication is streamlined, enabling a more responsive and 
effective delivery of services. Education providers and the Local Authority will collaborate within a 
manageable geographic area to meet children and young people’s educational needs within their 
communities. 

24 See NALC All about Local Councils for case study examples of good practice (2018) 
25 Leicestershire and Rutland Local Plan allocations 

A unitary authority of this scale would more effectively support pupils with additional needs, 
including those with SEND, those at risk of exclusion, or those requiring alternative provision. 
Physical resource bases and support services will be locally accessible, allowing for swift responses 
to changing needs. A joint commissioning policy with health services, refective of the current LLR 
arrangement, will remain relevant within the revised unitary approach, ensuring effective resource 
utilisation. 

School place planning, attendance duties, and admissions through the Fair Access process will 
align more effectively with local populations. Statutory oversight will be more manageable, 
ensuring children and young people receive education within a reasonable distance from home 
without facing lengthy travel times. 

Commissioning of services will maintain and enhance local community identity, allowing for 
agile and fexible service improvements. This ensures councils can address challenges like rurality 
while improving services to be reliable for all. Furthermore, it strengthens partnerships across 
public services, businesses, and the third sector, minimising disruption and maintaining a sharp 
focus on improving outcomes for the most vulnerable members of the community. 

P
age 112



53 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

P
age 113



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

54 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Economic 
Prosperity 
We believe councils of this scale 
are well equipped to develop a 
protocol around delivery of key 
economic priorities with the Strategic 
Authority. As the proposed boundaries 
of the three councils are based on 
functioning economic geographies 
this will provide scope for an 
appropriately focused agenda 
for action. 

Key enabling actions on the part of the local authorities concerned will focus on the core functions of the Strategic 
Authority  in relation to: 

1. Transport and local infrastructure 
2. Skills and employment support 
3. Housing and strategic planning 
4. Economic development and regeneration 
5. Environment and climate change 
6. Health, wellbeing and public service reform 
7. Public safety. 

Early tasks will focus on alignment of strategic frameworks in relation to local plans and transport plans to provide 
an enabling framework for action. The clear division of infrastructure priorities and key sites into a north/south split 
will make this a more coherent process. It will also ensure that there are appropriately sized unts of governance to 
engage with the delivery of the plans of the Strategic Authority. 

The new unitary authorities will provide capacity for the Strategic Authority and councils to work thematically 
together on each of the seven agenda above. A vital role of the unitary councils will be to stimulate the 
multi-agency working which has the capacity to effectively direct the maximum resources to outcome 
delivery by brokering place-based partnerships which align broad constituencies of interest around the 
themes set out above. 

Effective partnership working with employers is key to supporting employment and skills opportunities and vital to 
how we will drive economic growth in the area. 

P
age 114



 
 

 
 

 
  

  

  

 
 
 

 
 

55 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

An overview as set out above of the strategic priorities relating to each proposed economic 
development intervention, forms a clear agenda for action. We have identifed how, through our 
theory of change the three authorities will be able to assemble partnerships and manage the 
structural arrangements at the most effective level to deliver the national and sub-regional agenda 
in partnership. In relation to the new councils proposed this will involve: 

• Commissioning activities based on multi-agency partnerships delivered at the sub-county level 
• Focused and fnancially effcient partnership working, informed by a thorough understanding of 

localities 
• Creation of inclusive and engaging structures which provide opportunities for local people and 

neighbourhoods to infuence inclusive economic development 
• Extra-county partnerships focused around functioning economic geographies which provide a 

structure for planning and delivery outside traditional administrative boundaries 

In alignment with more traditional approaches to economic growth as outlined in the White Paper, 
our strategy emphasises the importance of bottom-up approaches that leverage locality-based 
drivers. By incorporating insights from the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) and the 
Community Wealth Building Centre of Excellence, we aim to foster community-level infrastructure 
through our three councils. This approach will ensure that economic development is not solely 
reliant on strategic input and investment from above but is built from the ground up. 

P
age 115



  

  

  

  
 

 

  
  

 

North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 5656 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Avoiding 
Fragmentation 
This section describes how we are aggregating and 
disaggregating services. 

Our proposal for Leicestershire and Rutland is centred around 
the establishment of three unitary councils, which aligns with 
the government's criteria of avoiding unnecessary splitting 
of services. This approach ensures the retention of three 
social care authorities within the Leicester, Leicestershire, and 
Rutland (LLR) area, while rebalancing responsibilities among 
them. Key points around aggregation of services within our 
approach are set out below: 

Government Criteria  
Compliance 

• The government's criteria emphasises not splitting services 
unnecessarily. 

• Our proposal retains three social care authorities in LLR, albeit 
over different geographies, ensuring continuity and stability. 

Successful Examples  
of Disaggregation 

• Disaggregation has been successfully implemented in other 
regions, such as Cumbria and Dorset. 

• These examples demonstrate that disaggregation should 
not be a barrier to progress, given the broader benefts of 
prevention and integration of services with a localised, three-
unitary approach. 

Effcient Aggregation 
of Services 

• Our approach requires the aggregation of district and 
Rutland services from only four local authorities, compared to 
the eight required for a single county unitary. 

P
age 116



57 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Civic Engagement 

As set out above, we believe the restructuring of local government provides an opportunity to re-engage with 
communities at the level of place. 

The creation of two new councils will re-scale the number of councillors and senior paid offcials in full-time local 
government paid roles. 

To avoid creating a democratic defcit linked to the removal of the district tier of local authority engagement, 
we will create a network of new governance structures to enable all the core settlements, which characterise 
Leicestershire and Rutland, to have an enhanced local council base. 

We also propose to undertake a detailed review of the challenges and opportunities to effectively enable the 
capacity of established parish and town councils. This will address, in part, particularly in our rural communities, 
any emerging defcit in the scope for local governance and leadership. 

There are no signifcant costs associated with local council participation for councillors, and through their 
precepting powers, there is the scope for these organisations to engage comprehensively with local delivery 
issues. This agenda is a fundamental part of our planning to engage localities and neighbourhoods in the new 
local government agenda. 

We plan to combine the capacity of a re-energised community sector with a strengthened engagement with the 
social enterprise and VCS community. This will create an innovative model of local service delivery and community 
capacity building. We appreciate that the sector currently has some challenges around scale and capacity, and we 
will work at the local level, with a focus on delivery, to build the potential of partners in the sector to work with us. 
Where possible, we will look to enhance the commissioning of the VCS sector and to link local councils into this 
process in terms of both commissioning and delivery through their actions. 

Additionally, we will build a community partnership infrastructure that operates at a delivery scale around 
communities. We envisage locality managers within the new councils to provide the convening role for these 
partnerships and oversee delivery. This approach will ensure that community engagement and service delivery 
are effectively managed and tailored to the specifc needs of each locality. 

P
age 117



 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

58 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Summary 
We believe our design principles for the delivery of services 
responds to a once in a generation opportunity. We have made 
enabling the agenda of the Strategic Authority a key priority. 

We are certain that two new councils working alongside 
Leicester, based on functioning economic geographies provide 
the best approach to service delivery. 

This approach drives out signifcant short term transitional 
costs. It provides a balanced portfolio of assets and debt from 
our historic council base going forward. It delivers multi-agency 
partnership focused, locality planned commissioning, which 
works with the grain of local places. This will deliver long term 
preventive savings by investing in communities at a sub-county 
level. It is built on a radical three-cornered approach of unitary, 
local council and VCS engagement. Ultimately it provides 
excellent value for money and a sustainable long-term future for 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

P
age 118



59 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Devolution 
Processes and 
Interim Plan 
Summary 

P
age 119



 
 

  

  

 
 
  

 
 

 
 

 

60 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Timescales 
We believe the timescales for the implementation of LGR should be 
synchronised with the implementation of devolution on the basis of the key 
steps set out below: 

• Initial Planning and Consultation: Engage with stakeholders to gather input 
and build consensus – currently in play 

• Formal Proposal Submission: Submit the detailed proposal to the 
Government for approval – November 2025 

• Elections for new Strategic Authority Mayor:  May 2027 
• Legislative Process: Establish the new unitary authorities – April 2028 
• Implementation Phase: Transition to new governance structures, ensuring 

continuity of services and minimal disruption – By April 2028. 

Interim 
Plan 

21 March 25 

Shadow 
Authority 
Election 

May 27 

Strategic 
Authority 
Plan 

May 27 

Full 
Proposal 

28 November 25 

Election 
For Mayor 

May 27 

New 
Unitaries 
in Place 

April 28 

Barriers and Challenges 
Our greatest concern is the proposed threshold of 500,000 in terms of population. We believe adherence to this 
does not refect the way people live their lives in Leicestershire and Rutland. The three unitary approach we propose 
follows much more logical functioning economic geographies and we hope that the case we have made above 
makes this clear to Government. We also passionately believe that the scale of authority proposed and their more 
local credentials is the best level within our geography at which to plan and assemble prevention-based long-term 
service delivery approaches. 

P
age 120



 

  
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 

61 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Boundaries, Structures 
and Effciency Savings 
We have a clear approach based on a three unitary solution, which involves the following current 
local authority boundaries: 

• North Leicestershire and Rutland encompasses the current boundaries of: North West 
Leicestershire, Charnwood, Melton and Rutland. 

• South Leicestershire comprises: Hinckley and Bosworth, Blaby, Oadby and Wigston and 
Harborough Council areas. 

• Leicester City. 

We propose an approach of operation which recognises a sensible scale of division between 
strategy and delivery, with a focus on unitary authorities which enable the delivery of the plans of 
the Strategic Authority. 

Our approach is predicated on strengthening the local council and VCS networks within the 
geographies concerned to maximise the scope for both local delivery and inclusive governance 
around localities. 

Our approach posits structural savings of £43 million and through preventive impacts driven out 
by locally delivered and co-designed services a ramp up to an ultimate goal of reducing service 
delivery costs by a further 5%. 

Indicative Costs for  
Future Service Transformation 
We have calculated the transition costs for the programme at £18.86m 

Delivery of Devolution 
We propose a protocol around delivery of economic priorities is agreed between each of the 
three unitary authorities and the Strategic Authority to govern their role in facilitating the 
economic aspirations of the organisation. We will provide a delivery focused foil to the planning 
and development role of the Strategic Authority. As the proposed boundaries of the new unitary 
authorities are based on functioning economic geographies this will provide scope for a very 
insightful and appropriately focused agenda for action. 

Key enabling actions on the part of the local authorities concerned will focus on the core functions 
of the Strategic Authority in relation to: 

1. Transport and local infrastructure 
2. Skills and employment support 
3. Housing and strategic planning 
4. Economic development and regeneration 
5. Environment and climate change 
6. Health, wellbeing and public service reform 
7. Public safety. 

More information is set out in the wider narrative above. 

P
age 121



62 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Conclusion As we embark on this transformative journey, we 
stand united in our vision for a brighter future for 
Leicestershire and Rutland. Our plan is not just a 
roadmap but a commitment to building vibrant, 
inclusive, and prosperous communities. By aligning our 
efforts and embracing innovative approaches, we will 
create a dynamic environment where every resident can 
thrive. 

Our new governance structures will empower local 
voices, foster economic growth, and enhance the 
quality of life for all. With a focus on preventive services, 
community engagement, and sustainable development, 
we are poised to overcome challenges and seize 
opportunities. 

Together, we will shape a future that refects the 
aspirations and needs of our diverse communities. 
Let us move forward with confdence, determination, 
and a shared sense of purpose, knowing that our 
collective efforts will lead to a stronger, more resilient 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

P
age 122



  

  
 

  

  
 

  

  

  
 

  

  
 

  
  
 

  

  
  

 
  

 

  

  

  

  

  
 

  
 

63 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Criteria for Unitary Local 
Government and Our Approach  
Checklist 

1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the whole of the area concerned the establishment of a 
single tier of local government. 
Our proposal establishes three unitary authorities, North, City, and South, ensuring a single tier 
of local government for the entire area. It is focused on effectively enabling the new Strategic 
Authority through delivering excellent public services. 

2. Proposals should be for sensible economic areas, with an appropriate tax base which does not 
create an undue advantage or disadvantage for one part of the area. 
The proposed unitary authorities are based on functioning economic geographies, ensuring a 
balanced tax base and equitable economic opportunities, whilst maximising economic growth 
opportunities. 

3. Proposals should be for a sensible geography which will help to increase housing supply and 
meet local needs. 
The North and South areas are designed to align with key growth corridors, facilitating housing 
growth and supply and meeting local needs through strategic planning. 

4. Proposals should be supported by robust evidence and analysis and include an explanation of 
the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of estimated costs/benefts and local 
engagement. 
Our proposal is backed by detailed options appraisal and analysis, projecting savings of £43 million 
per year and a  reduction in care service demand through innovative preventive measures. 

5. Proposals should describe clearly the single tier local government structures it is putting forward 
for the whole of the area, and explain how, if implemented, these are expected to achieve the 
outcomes described. 
The document clearly outlines the structure of the three unitary authorities and explains 
how they will deliver effcient and effective services, enhancing local democracy and 
community engagement. 

Unitary Local Government 
Criteria  
1. Unitary local government must be the right size to achieve effciencies, improve capacity and 

withstand fnancial shocks. 
The proposed unitary authorities are designed to be large enough to deliver services 
effciently while being resilient to fnancial shocks. They are fnancially well balanced with modest 
debt gearing. 

2. As a guiding principle, new councils should aim for a population of 500,000 or more. 
While the proposed authorities have populations around 400,000, this is justifed by the unique 
socio-economic characteristics and functioning economic geographies of the area and cross 
boundary relationships. 

3. There may be certain scenarios in which this 500,000 fgure does not make sense for an area, 
including on devolution, and this rationale should be set out in a proposal. 
The proposal explains that the three-unitary approach better refects the natural communities and 
economic geographies of Leicestershire and Rutland. 

4. Effciencies should be identifed to help improve councils’ fnances and make sure that council 
taxpayers are getting the best possible value for their money. 
The proposal identifes signifcant savings and effciencies, including a projected £43 million 
annual saving and preventive measures to reduce service demand. 

5. Proposals should set out how an area will seek to manage transition costs, including planning for 
future service transformation opportunities from existing budgets, including from the fexible 
use of capital receipts that can support authorities in taking forward transformation and invest-
to-save projects. 
The proposal outlines a clear plan for managing transition costs and leveraging 
existing budgets for future service transformation. 

P
age 123



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

64 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Public Service Delivery Criteria  
1. Unitary structures must prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable public services 

to citizens. 
The proposal emphasises the delivery of high-quality, sustainable public services through 
innovative local prevention services and multi-agency partnerships. It has a highly coherent 
theory of change aligned to the Government’s 5 missions. It builds on the excellent 
partnership working that exists between local authorities and other organisations. 

2. Proposals should show how new structures will improve local government and service 
delivery and should avoid unnecessary fragmentation of services. 
The proposal outlines how the new unitary structures will streamline service delivery 
and avoid fragmentation by aligning with functioning economic geographies, building 
neighbourhood level partnership to drive out prevention outcomes and enabling economic 
growth. This will build on neighbourhood level partnerships. 

3. Opportunities to deliver public service reform should be identifed, including where they 
will lead to better value for money. 
The proposal identifes opportunities for public service reform, including preventive 
measures, a democratic reset and growing local prosperity, combined these three themes 
will lead to better value for money. 

4. Consideration should be given to the impacts for crucial services such as social care, 
children's services, SEND and homelessness, and for wider public services including for 
public safety. 
The proposal considers the impacts on crucial services and outlines how the new structures 
will address these needs effectively. 

Local Engagement Criteria 
1. Proposals should show how councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to a 

view that meets local needs and is informed by local views. 
The proposal emphasises the creation of new town councils and strengthening the voluntary 
and community sector to enhance community engagement and empowerment. It operates 
around the concepts of: place, neighbourhood, multi-agency working, co-design and lived 
experience. 

2. It is for councils to decide how best to engage locally in a meaningful and constructive way 
and this engagement activity should be evidenced in your proposal. 
The proposal includes evidence of local engagement and outlines how councils have worked 
together to develop the new structures. 

3. Proposals should consider issues of local identity and cultural and historic importance. 
The proposal takes into account local identity and cultural and historic importance, 
ensuring that the new structures refect these values. It is predicated on a contemporary 
understanding, in terms of economic geography about how people live their lives. It also 
respect the long term cultural and community associations people have with place and 
respects the civic and ceremonial aspect of that going forwards. 

4. Proposals should include evidence of local engagement, an explanation of the views that 
have been put forward and how concerns will be addressed. 
The proposal provides evidence of local engagement and explains how the views and 
concerns of local communities have been addressed. 

P
age 124



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

  

65 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Devolution Support Criteria 
1. New unitary structures must support devolution arrangements. 

The proposal supports devolution arrangements by aligning with the strategic framework 
set by the new mayor-led Strategic Authority. It recognises the lead on strategy which sits 
with the new Strategic authority. It focuses on delivery and it provides a balanced population 
and administrative structure (in terms of fnancial capacity and geography) which avoids 
public confusion about the roles and responsibilities of the institutions which serve people. 

2. Where no CA or CCA is already established or agreed then the proposal should set out how 
it will help unlock devolution. 
The proposal explains how the new unitary structures will help unlock devolution by 
providing a clear and effective framework for local governance building on the principles set 
out above. 

3. Proposals should ensure there are sensible population size ratios between local authorities 
and any strategic authority, with timelines that work for both priorities. 
The proposal ensures sensible population size ratios between the new unitary authorities 
and the Strategic Authority, with timelines that align with both priorities. It is far more 
balanced than a single county unitary, which excludes Rutland and provides a major popular 
imbalance between the City of Leicester and an administrative construct based on the 
concept of Leicestershire. 

Community Engagement Criteria 
1. New unitary structures should enable stronger community engagement and deliver genuine 

opportunity for neighbourhood empowerment. 
The proposal emphasises the creation of new town councils and strengthening the voluntary 
and community sector to enhance community engagement and empowerment. It operates 
around the concepts of: place, neighbourhood, multi-agency working, co-design and lived 
experience. 

2. Proposals will need to explain plans to make sure that communities are engaged. 
The proposal outlines plans for engaging communities through new town councils and multi-
agency partnerships. It enshrines key themes relating to community wealth building and asset 
based community development. It looks outwards and is driven by a nuanced, partnership 
approach to delivery, which drives prevention and builds resilient, inclusive communities. 

3. Where there are already arrangements in place it should be explained how these will enable 
strong community engagement. 
The proposal explains how existing arrangements will be leveraged to enable strong 
community engagement. It proposes a neighbourhood level of engagement, the creation of 
new participatory opportunities through a democratic reset and increasing the capacity of 
the voluntary and community sector. It seeks to avoid information sharing through outmoded 
concepts such as Area Committees and instead concentrates on co-design, multi-agency 
working and social value. 

Boundary Changes Criteria 
1. Existing district areas should be considered the building blocks for your proposals, but where 

there is a strong justifcation more complex boundary changes will be considered. 
The proposal uses existing district areas as the building blocks for the new unitary structures, 
ensuring a logical and coherent approach. 

P
age 125



66 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Appendix  
Finance Summary Tables 

P
age 126



 
 

67 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Financial Effciencies: North 

Savings (9,825) (5,915) (3,465) (687) (1,530) (21,423) 2,876 (18,547) 

North Existing Cost Base 
Assesed 

£000 

Employee Costs 
(Snr Leadership+) 

£000 

Procurement 
Effciencies 

£000 

Income 
Equalisation 

£000 

Democratic 
Savings 

£000 

Reduce debt – 
Asset Rationalisation 

£000 

Total 
Savings 

£000 

Transition 
Costs of LGR 

£000 

Net Savings/ 
Costs 
£000 

Workforce   242,782 (9,825) (9,825) (9,825) 

Council Tax Equalisaton - Year 1 of 5 0 0 

Reduce debt – Asset Rationalisation (1,530) (1,530) (1,530) 

Transition costs of LGR - Yr 1 of 5 0 2,876 2,876 

Services 

Education Services   184,801 0 0 0 0 

Highways And Transport Services   31,455 (1,354) (793) (2,147) (2,147) 

Children's Social Care   80,261 0 0 0 0 

Adult Social Care   161,661 0 0 0 0 

Public Health   17,448 0 0 0 0 

Housing Services (Gfra Only)   7,668 (330) (193) (523) (523) 

Cultural And Related Services   12,003 (517) (303) (819) (819) 

Environmental And Regulatory Services   48,558 (2,090) (1,224) (3,314) (3,314) 

Planning And Development Services   11,767 (507) (297) (803) (803) 

Central Services - Democratic Core   13,773 (593) (347) (687) (1,627) (1,627) 

Central Services - Other   4,708 (203) (119) (321) (321) 

Other Services   7,490 (322) (189) (511) (511) 

Service Expenditure   581,592 (9,825) (5,915) (3,465) (687) (1,530) (21,423) 2,876 (18,547) 

HB, Parish Precept   53,030 

Current Expenditure   634,622 

P
age 127



 
  

 

68 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Financial Effciencies: South 

Savings (12,841) (2,799) (3,244) (624) (2,041) (21,549) 3,298 (18,251) 

South Existing Cost Base 
Assesed 

£000 

Employee Costs 
(Snr Leadership+) 

£000 

Procurement 
Effciencies 

£000 

Income 
Equalisation 

£000 

Democratic 
Savings 

£000 

Reduce debt – 
Asset Rationalisation 

£000 

Total 
Savings 

£000 

Transition 
Costs of LGR 

£000 

Net Savings/ 
Costs 
£000 

Workforce   228,412 (12,841) (12,841) (12,841) 

Council Tax Equalisaton - Year 1 of 5 0 0 

Reduce debt – Asset Rationalisation (2,041) (2,041) (2,041) 

Transition costs of LGR - Yr 1 of 5 0 3,298 3,298 

Services 

Education Services   161,742 0 0 0 0 

Highways And Transport Services   24,665 (618) (716) (1,334) (1,334) 

Children's Social Care   70,596 0 0 0 0 

Adult Social Care   139,426 0 0 0 0 

Public Health   16,077 0 0 0 0 

Housing Services (Gfra Only) 5,950 (149) (173) (322) (322) 

Cultural And Related Services  5,966 (150) (173) (323) (323) 

Environmental And Regulatory Services   40,204 (1,008) (1,167) (2,175) (2,175) 

Planning And Development Services   12,270 (308) (356) (664) (664) 

Central Services - Democratic Core   6,276 (157) (182) (624) (964) (964) 

Central Services - Other   12,880 (323) (374) (697) (697) 

Other Services   3,487 (87) (101) (189) (189) 

Service Expenditure   499,540 (12,841) (2,799) (3,244) (624) (2,041) (21,549) 3,298 (18,251) 

HB, Parish Precept   45,070 

Current Expenditure   544,610 

P
age 128



  

 

 

 

69 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Population fgures used in the fnancial model. 

Unitary Combination Areas Option - North: South: City - Geographical Alignment North : South : City Unitary Councils within Leicestershire by population & Council Split 

418,000 NORTH  Population 418,000 

Rutland  43,000 

Melton 52,000 

Charnwood 204,000 

North West 118,000 

South  Population 401,000 

Blaby  115,000 

Harborough 102,000 

Hinckley & Bosworth 125,000 

Oadby and Wigson 59,000 

City  Population 373,000 

401,000 

373,000 

North West 
Hinckley & 
Bosworth 

Charnwood 

Harborough 

Blaby 

Leicester City 

Charnwood 

Rutland Oadby and Wigston 

North South City 

P
age 129



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

70 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Council Tax Equalisation 

Council Tax Equalisation Equalised Council Tax 
Band D 

Band D 
Properties 

North £1,998.95 134,696 

South £1,955.25 133,920 

City £2,096.84 81,719 

Total 350,335 

North Current Band Band Dwellings Range

 Rutland County £2,218.48  16,132 

 Melton £1,912.51  20,300

 Charnwood £1,845.07  60,722

 North West £1,858.73  37,542 £373.41  20.24% 

WEIGHTED AVERAGE £1,903.76 

5% increase £1,998.95 

Diff in Council Tax under equalisation % change Range 

Rutland County -£219.53 -9.90% 

Melton £86.44 4.52% 

Charnwood £153.88 8.34% 

North West £140.22 7.54% £373.41 

South Current Band Band Dwellings Range

 Blaby £1,867.17  34,847 

 Harborough £1,855.36  39,945

 Hinckley & Bosworth £1,831.33  40,477 

Oadby and Wigston £1,934.14  18,651 £102.81  5.61% 

WEIGHTED AVERAGE £1,903.76 

5% increase £1,998.95 

Diff in Council Tax under equalisation % change Range 

Blaby £88.08 4.72% 

Harborough £99.89 5.38% 

Hinckley & Bosworth £123.92 6.77% 

Oadby and Wigston £21.11 1.09% £102.81 

P
age 130



 

 
 

71 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Council Tax Bands    

Bands North South City 

A 12,846 10,159 38,871 

B 30,212 30,471 17,696 

C 26,748 29,029 12,119 

D 23,132 22,517 6,013 

E 20,421 21,288 3,867 

F 11,881 11,819 2,111 

G 8,545 7,843 972 

H 911 794 70 

Total 134,696 133,920 81,719 

% A-C Bands 52% 52% 84% 

% D Bands 17% 17% 7% 

% E+ Bands 31% 31% 9% 

Council Tax Base & Bands by North:South Unitary model 

134,696 133,920 

E to F 
Bands 

Bands D 

A to C 
Bands 

Approx 
69K Each 
Authority 

81,719 

North South City 

P
age 131



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 
 

 

  

  

  

 
 

72 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Financial Sustainability 

Debt Analysis - as at 2023/24 Debt Value
 £000 

% of Net Revenue 
Expenditure 

North  329,787 111% 

South  262,964 98% 

City  290,165 85% 

Total  882,916 

North  Debt 
£000

 NRE 
£000 

% NRE 
to Debt 

Rutland County  21,386  38,728 55% 

Melton  31,456  8,835 356% 

Charnwood  81,190  19,989 406% 

North West  62,638  9,685 647% 

Share of Leicestershire  133,117  218,854 61% 

Total  329,787  296,091 111% 

South  Debt 
£000

 NRE 
£000 

% NRE 
to Debt 

Blaby  6,385  16,618 38% 

Harborough  1,490  12,681 12% 

Hinckley & Bosworth  91,148  16,656 547% 

Oadby and Wigson  34,069  7,904 431% 

Share of Leicestershire  129,872  213,520 61% 

Total  262,964  267,379 98% 

City  Debt 
£000

 NRE 
£000 

% NRE 
to Debt 

Leicester City 290,165 342,200 85% 

Total 882,916 905,670 97% 

P
age 132



 

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

  

  

 
 

  

73 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Financial Sustainability 

Reserves Analysis - as at 2023/24 Useable Reserves 
£ 

Useable 
Reserves 

North  242,178 82% 

South  223,450 84% 

City  381,914 112% 

Total  847,542 

North  Use Reserves 
£000

 NRE 
£000 

% NRE 
to Reserves 

Rutland County  32,973  38,728 85% 

Melton  6,215  8,835 70% 

Charnwood  7,571  19,989 38% 

North West  13,866  9,685 143% 

Share of Leicestershire  181,553  218,854 83% 

Total  242,178  296,091 82% 

South  Use Reserves 
£000

 NRE 
£000 

% NRE 
to Reserves 

Blaby  17,565  16,618 106% 

Harborough  13,073  12,681 103% 

Hinckley & Bosworth  13,021  16,656 78% 

Oadby and Wigson  2,663  7,904 34% 

Share of Leicestershire  177,128  213,520 83% 

Total  223,450  267,379 84% 

City  Use Reserves 
£000

 NRE 
£000 

% NRE 
to Reserves 

Leicester City  381,914  342,200 112% 

Total  847,542  905,670 94% 

P
age 133



    

74 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Summary of baseline costs & net saving opportunities over a 5 year payback period 

1 2 3 4 5 Total 

North (21,423) (21,423) (21,423) (21,423) (21,423) (107,114) 

South (21,549) (21,549) (21,549) (21,549) (21,549) (107,745) 

City 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Gross Saving (42,972) (42,972) (42,972) (42,972) (42,972) (214,859) 

North 2,876 1,376 1,376 1,376 1,376 8,378 

South 3,298 1,798 1,798 1,798 1,798 10,489 

City 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transition costs of LGR 6,173 3,173 3,173 3,173 3,173 18,866 

Net (Savings) / Costs (36,799) (39,799) (39,799) (39,799) (39,799) (195,993) P
age 134



 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

75 North, City, South: Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 

Asks of 
Government 
and Next Steps 

To enable our November submission to be comprehensive, innovative and refect the views of Government, our communities 
and Stakeholders we have the following asks from Government: 

1 

Direct Ministerial Engagement with all Leaders 

We are grateful for the engagement we have had 
to date from Ministers and we would welcome 
ongoing dialogue to enable effective decision 
making locally, and to ensure our collective efforts 
are heading in the right direction. 

2 

Capacity Funding Support 

The Government are aware of the costs involved in 
developing proposals to support devolution and 
local government reorganisation and some of the 
complexities associated with this.  We join others in 
seeking support from Government to fund these 
additional costs associated with the work required. 

3 

Decision Making 

We are working at pace across complex public 
sector arrangements to develop the best solution 
for the communities across LLR. We would ask 
the Government to provide greater clarity on the 
timetable, particularly relating to feedback to enable 
us to continue to move at pace and refect this in 
the next iteration of our proposals for submission. 

4 

Access to Government Departments 

When contemplating the future size and shape 
of services for our area it would be helpful to have 
access to treasury, home offce, DfE and DHSC 
to ensure any proposals are the best they can be 
and informed by the most current understanding 
of Government thinking and policy. 

5 

Funding reforms 

Proposed funding reforms may impact 
negatively on our ability to deliver both business 
as usual and delivery of Devolution and LGR. As 
such we would ask that during the transition 
period to a new local government arrangement 
that we are protected from any signifcant 
changes to the funding regime. 

6 

Boundary Changes 

We would welcome views on your expectations 
regarding boundary changes and the extent 
to which these should be included in our 
November submission, to refect the needs of 
the City Council to be fnancially sustainable. 

7 

Devolution Engagement 

Our plan includes a proposal for a strategic 
mayoral authority for the LLR region, to date 
being mainly districts and boroughs we 
have been excluded from any devolution 
discussions, as these have been held with the 
County and City authorities in the area. We 
feel we have been disadvantaged through the 
lack of engagement and would want to refect 
the current Government position regarding 
devolution within our November submission. 
On this basis we would ask to be engaged in 
future discussions involving devolution in LLR. 

Next Steps 

We look forward to receiving your feedback 
on our interim plans and discussing these 
points with Ministers and their offcials 
over the coming months. We will continue 
to work with our partners, and undertake 
further public and stakeholder engagement, 
as we refne and develop our proposals in 
anticipation of the November submission. 

P
age 135



A large print version of this document is available upon request. 

P
age 136



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 1

The case for Three 
Unitary Councils in a Future 
Leicestershire & Rutland.

ENGAGEMENT 
SUMMARY

North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond

P
age 137

Appendix C



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 2

Engaged with the general public, elected members 
and staff across the 8 authorities. Also engaged 
with over 600 key stakeholders and local partners. 
See Appendix A. 

Survey received 4,646 responses, providing a robust 
sample size. This allows us to be 99% confident 
that the results reflect the views of the entire 
population, with a margin of error of approximately 
±2%.

Of those who expressed a preference, 82% favoured 
the North, City, South model, while 18% preferred a 
single unitary model for Leicestershire and Rutland.

74% of respondents were interested in the decision-
making process, 71% in local service provision, 48% 
in community representation and 44% in Council 
Tax rates.

Top concerns:  Loss of local identity and 
representation, service quality and accessibility, 
financial implications and Council Tax. 

Key Headlines

P
age 138



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 3

To facilitate this, we have established several structured groups, 
each comprising representatives from all 8 authorities.  These 
groups are: 

•	 Council Leaders  

•	 Chief Executives 

•	 Deputy Chief Executives 

•	 Communications and Engagement 

•	 Human Resources 

•	 Monitoring Officers 

•	 Section 151/Finance  

Council Leaders meet regularly and are fully engaged with Local 
Government Reorganisation.  The governance process includes 
political sign-off by each of the 8 authorities. 

Among these groups, the Communications and Engagement 
Group plays a pivotal role, leading our engagement efforts and 
coordinating with other cross-council groups, particularly the 
Chief Executives Group.  This collaborative approach has proven 
to be highly effective, enabling a culture of cooperation and 
mutual support. 

Our comprehensive strategies for both external and internal 
communications ensure that we engage meaningfully with 
residents, staff, elected members and other stakeholders, 
keeping them informed and involved throughout the 
reorganisation process.  This collective effort highlights 
our dedication to working together for the benefit of our 
communities.

Background
In a remarkable display of 
unity and collaboration, 
our 8 local authorities have 
come together to navigate 
the complexities of Local 
Government reorganisation.  This 
unique partnership underscores 
our collective commitment 
to working seamlessly across 
boundaries, ensuring we adapt 
to change effectively and 
efficiently. 

P
age 139



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 4

A programme of engagement was undertaken to provide the 
public and key stakeholders with the opportunity to share their 
views about the strengths, challenges and opportunities with 
the North, City, South model.  These insights will help to shape 
the future of local government in Leicestershire and Rutland.  

Our initial engagement priorities:   

•	 Gather feedback from key strategic stakeholders and 
local partners on the interim proposal for smaller unitary 
authorities  

•	 Establish two-way conversations about stakeholders’ 
priorities and concerns   

•	 Collect input from the public on what is most important to 
them when interacting with their local council  

•	 Identify key issues, concerns and opportunities to refine our 
proposals  

•	 Assess the level of support from the public and stakeholders 
for the North, City, South model 

This report provides a summary of the findings of this 
engagement work, outlining the findings, the results and key 
themes captured. 

Introduction

P
age 140



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 5

The 8 councils used a range of internal and external channels to reach and engage with audiences, adhering to core 
principles of clear, transparent and objective communications throughout the process.  

Engagement began in December 2024 with elected members and staff across the 8 authorities.  Wider key 
stakeholder and public engagement started on 26 February 2025 to inform the Interim Plan, including the launch of 
an online survey.  Additionally, face-to-face and virtual focus groups were held, along with one-to-one meetings with 
key stakeholders and local partners. These sessions provided additional insights alongside the survey results. 

A cross-authority effort was made across the 8 authorities to promote participation in the survey and attendance at 
meetings and focus groups.  Key channels included: 

•	 More than 450 emails and letters with key stakeholders and local partners to highlight the online survey and invite 
them to meetings/briefings

•	 Promotional materials on websites and social media channels

•	 Email newsletters

•	 30 meetings or briefings with elected members and staff, plus videos and articles

•	 Contact with housing tenants (retained housing stock in Hinckley & Bosworth, Melton and Charnwood) 

•	 9 briefings with MPs across Leicestershire and Rutland

•	 9 press releases and media statements from December 2024 to March 2025  

Methodology

“The plans are rooted firmly in ensuring equity across the 3 proposed areas, enabling more 
effective leadership and services leading to efficiencies whilst allowing the retention of local 
identities and a sense of place, essential for communities to flourish and thrive. The collective 
power of a more unified approach alongside the retention of local identity is exciting, especially for 
schools and other services that are firmly rooted within their communities.”
- Redmoor Academy, Hinckley

P
age 141



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 6

The engagement efforts resulted in extensive communications 
reach to the public: 

•	 Over 90 pieces of media coverage across local press, radio, 
regional television and trade media

•	 Contacted over 40 local schools 

•	 Across the 8 authority websites there have been more than 
10,000 views to webpages outlining Local Government 
Reorganisation and the interim proposals

•	 34 emails were sent, with a total reach of more than 163,000, 
resulting in over 8,000 clicks to the survey 

•	 With an average open rate of 57.5%, email proved to be the 
most successful engagement tool 

 

Communications Reach 
Staff engagement and elected members 

We have implemented a collectively-agreed internal 
communications strategy to keep our staff and elected 
members informed and engaged.  Regular briefings and 
question-and-answer sessions have been a cornerstone of this 
approach, providing forums where concerns can be voiced and 
addressed directly.  From these sessions we have developed 
detailed, evolving FAQs that address emerging issues and 
provide clarity on the process. 

Our comprehensive internal communications have included 
regular information being shared with staff and engagement 
through: 

•	 All-staff briefings with the opportunity to ask questions in 
person or anonymously 

•	 Ideas sessions 

•	 Structured conversations with heads of service 

•	 One-to-one and team meetings 

•	 Newsletters 

•	 Email 

•	 Intranet updates and FAQs 

•	 Videos 

“Leicestershire Promotions offer our support 
and input into the ongoing process and will 
always strive to ensure that the outcome is 
in the best interests of our visitor economy 
partners. We support the approach you are 
taking in ensuring a proper debate and are 
encouraged by your efforts to be inclusive in 
shaping your proposal. Please do continue to 
make use of our expertise and experience as 
we commit to being actively engaged in the 
ongoing debate and emerging proposals.” 
- Leicestershire Promotions 

P
age 142



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 7

The engagement sessions have been led by the Chief Executive 
of each authority, with support from the Communications and 
Engagement Group.  Additionally, the Council leader at each 
authority has attended some briefings to offer an overview 
and provide reassurance regarding Devolution and Local 
Government Reorganisation.   Each authority conducts in-
person briefing sessions at key stages, such as following the 
submission of the Interim Proposal. 

Elected members have been kept thoroughly informed through 
dedicated briefing sessions designed to provide in-depth 
information about the reorganisation process. Regular updates 
at council meetings ensure that all members have consistent 
access to the latest developments.  We have supplemented 
these formal settings with targeted email communication that 
addresses specific aspects of reorganisation and updates on 
the latest developments. 

We recognise that employees and councillors work at the 
very heart of our communities and possess valuable insights 
into community needs and are themselves directly affected 
by reorganisation, making their engagement particularly 
important to our process. 

Public engagement - This initial engagement has been kept 
simple, asking the public to share what is most important to 
them when they think of their local council, Devolution and 
Local Government Reorganisation.  

It also invited comments on our preferred option for three 
councils for North, City and South.

Key stakeholders - The focus of this engagement was to gather 
insights from public sector providers, key strategic stakeholder 
and local partners including organisations representing 
different sectors.  

Our engagement reached a wide range of organisations 
including, but not limited to: MPs, Leicestershire Police, parish 
and town councils, the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
East Midlands Chamber of Commerce, Voluntary Action 
Leicestershire, University Hospitals NHS Trust, tenant scrutiny 
panels, housing associations, Midlands Engine and trade unions.  

Local partners - We drew on our existing relationships with a 
range of local partners – businesses, developers and community 
groups who we work with on a day-to-day basis.   

These established relationships facilitated initial conversations 
with the people who collectively make up the fabric of our 
area, allowing us to gauge their thoughts on Local Government 
Reorganisation and understand their priorities, concerns and 
opinions on our preferred model.   

“Devolution for Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland has the opportunity to be a 
mechanism for the East Midlands to unlock 
its economic growth potential by creating an 
environment and landscape for the business 
community to thrive, to grow and create high 
value jobs.”
- East Midlands Chamber 

P
age 143



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 8

Responses 
In total the survey received 4,646 responses from the public 
and stakeholders.   

4,366 of responses were from residents, 128 from organisations 
and businesses and 152 from councillors or others.

With a combined current population of over 750,000 in 
Leicestershire and Rutland, the 4,646 responses to the survey 
provide a robust sample size. This allows us to be 99% confident 
that the results reflect the views of the entire population, with a 
margin of error of approximately ±2%. This level of engagement 
underscores the public’s keen interest in voicing their opinions 
on matters directly affecting local government. 

94.08%

0.95%

0.8%

0.56%

0.19%

1.01%

2.41%

Resident

Business

Organisation

Borough/District 
Councillor

County Councillor

Parish Councillor

Other (please specify)

20%0% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Please indicate in which capacity you 
are responding to the survey

Responses by area Percentage of population who 
responded

More views were captured through the one-to-one discussions 
and face-to-face engagement with local partners and key 
stakeholders. 

Responses by geographical area were well spread. 

657

653

843

129

171

1,304

576

291

31

Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley & 
Bosworth

Melton

North West 
Leicestershire

Oadby & Wigston

Rutland

Organisation in 
multiple areas

0K 1K

0.64%

0.36%

0.74%

0.13%

0.33%

1,24%

0.98%

0.71%

Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley & 
Bosworth

Melton

North West 
Leicestershire

Oadby & Wigston

Rutland

0% 1%

P
age 144



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 9

Survey Findings
Quantitative  
Which of these issues are you most interested in when it 
comes to the subject of devolution and Local Government 
Reorganisation? 

A significant 74% of respondents expressed interest in how 
decisions affecting their local area would be made. This was 
closely followed by 71% of respondents who were interested in 
how local services would be provided. Interestingly, these two 
concerns were the top issues across all local authority areas.

Concerns about how local communities would be represented 
(48%) and Council Tax rates (44%) came in third and fourth.

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

How local 
services would 

be provided

How decisions
affecting your 
area would be 

made

How local 
communities 

would be 
represented

Local identity 
and sense of 

place

Council Tax 
rates

Other

Which of these issues are you most interested in when it comes to the subject of 
devolution and Local Government Reorganisation? Please select at most 3 options. 

“We welcome the North/South unitary model, 
which makes sense for both the northern and 
southern parts of the city.  The inclusion of 
Rutland is a positive step. It’s essential to support 
housing and issues within the housing sector and 
as an organisation we already have really strong 
relationships with districts and boroughs.”

- East Midlands Housing Association

P
age 145



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 10

There were 3,618 respondents who had initial comments 
about reorganising councils in our area, devolution or the 
emerging preferred option for 3 unitary councils for Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

Top ten categories of comments 

Support for the North, City, South proposal
Many respondents supported the proposal for three unitary 
councils, viewing it as the optimal choice. They believed this 
structure struck a good balance between local representation 
and efficient service delivery. Some considered it a sensible and 
reasonable approach.

Opposition to a single unitary authority 
A significant number of respondents opposed a single unitary 
authority for Leicestershire. They worried that a large, centralised 
authority would be too remote and less accountable, unable to 
address the diverse needs of local communities. Some believed 
it would lead to a decline in service quality and a loss of local 
identity.

Concerns about Leicester City’s influence 
Some respondents were concerned about Leicester City’s 
potential dominance in any reorganisation. They sought 
assurance that villages bordering the city would not be 
absorbed, and that the city’s boundaries would remain 
unchanged. 

Qualitative 
Importance of local representation and identity 
Many comments emphasised the importance of maintaining 
local representation and identity. The respondents believed 
that local councils are better suited to understand and 
address the specific needs of their communities.

Doubts about cost savings and efficiency
Some respondents questioned whether the reorganisation 
would yield actual cost savings or improve efficiency. 
They expressed concerns about the costs associated 
with rebranding, redundancies, and establishing new 
administrative structures.

Specific concerns about the proposed boundaries
Several comments mentioned the proposed boundaries of 
the new unitary councils. A particular point of discussion 
was the inclusion of Rutland in the North Leicestershire area. 
Some respondents felt Rutland had stronger connections 
with South Leicestershire or South Kesteven.

Call for a referendum 
A few respondents advocated for a local referendum to 
enable voters to express their opinions on the proposed 
changes.

The performance of existing councils 
Some comments praised the services and communication of 
their existing councils.

Impact on services 
Many expressed concerns about how the reorganisation would 
affect various services, including waste collection, social care, 
education, and transport.

Job losses 
Several comments voiced concerns about potential job losses 
resulting from the reorganisation.P

age 146



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 11

Do people prefer a single unitary authority for Leicestershire 
and Rutland, or splitting it into two? 

3 councils (Leicester City plus 2 councils for the rest of 
Leicestershire and Rutland): This option was the most widely 
supported. Many respondents felt that a single council for 
the entire region would be too large and remote, potentially 
overlooking local needs and concerns. They also expressed 
concerns about the city dominating the county.

2 councils (Leicester City plus 1 council for the rest of 
Leicestershire and Rutland): Some comments supported a 
single council for the county and a separate one for the city. A 
few responses indicated that this structure could be more cost-
effective and avoid duplication. However, this option generally 
received less support than the three-council proposal.

Of the 3,618 comments, 34% said they had a preferred model. 
Of those, 82% said they prefer the 3 council model, and 
just 18% said they preferred a 2 council model for Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland.

If splitting Leicestershire and Rutland into 2, what were 
people’s opinions of whether to split authorities into north/
south or east/west? 

North/South Split: 

•	 Many comments support the North/South split. The 
proposal suggests one council to serve North Leicestershire 
and Rutland (currently served by Charnwood, North West 
Leicestershire, and Melton, as well as Rutland County 
Council) and one for South Leicestershire (currently served 
by Blaby, Harborough, Hinckley & Bosworth, and Oadby & 
Wigston).  

•	 Some comments express concern that a North/South 
division doesn’t account for local identities and suggest 
there isn’t a strong connection between the areas in the 
proposed North and South groupings. For example, some 
struggle to see what North West Leicestershire has in 
common with Melton or Rutland.  

•	 Some suggest that the North/South split does not align 
well with transport infrastructure.  

East/West Split: 

•	 Some comments suggest an East/West split might be better.  

•	 The East/West proposal suggests one council consisting of 
Hinckley & Bosworth, Blaby, North West Leicestershire, and 
Charnwood, and another consisting of Harborough, Oadby & 
Wigston, Melton, and Rutland.  

•	 Some suggest an East/West split would better reflect the 
local economy, geography, road networks, infrastructure, 
and population movement. Also, some believe an East/West 
divide would create groupings with more similar needs and 
stronger connections.  

•	 Some comments note that an East/West split may result in an 
uneven population distribution between the councils.  

•	 Some suggest that the city of Leicester inhibits travel 
between the East and West. 

3 councils

2 councils

1,003 (82%)

224 (18%)

Comments 
showing
a preference

P
age 147



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 12

What are the top ten concerns expressed in the comments? 

Based on the comments from the Local Government 
Reorganisation engagement survey, here are ten frequently 
expressed concerns: 

Loss of Local Identity and Representation: 
Many comments express concern that local identities will be 
lost. People are worried that local issues won’t be heard or 
understood by a larger, more remote council. Some comments 
highlight the importance of councillors having a thorough 
knowledge of the locality. 
 

Service Quality and Accessibility: 
A significant worry is that the quality of services will decline 
after the changes, with stretched resources spread over a wider 
area. There are also fears that it will become more difficult for 
individuals to access help and that services will become more 
distant. 
 

Financial Implications and Council Tax: 
Many comments express concerns about Council Tax increases 
and whether any cost savings will be passed on to ratepayers. 
There are worries that better-off areas will subsidise those with 
greater needs, which some consider inherently unfair. 
 

Planning Decisions and Green Spaces: 
Concerns exist that larger councils may be more inclined to 
approve developments on greenfield sites, without considering 
the impact on local services and infrastructure. 
 

Impact on Smaller Towns and Villages: 
Residents of smaller towns and villages worry that their needs 
will be overlooked and that they will come low down when 
funding is being sorted out. 
 

Job Losses and Staffing: 
Concerns exist regarding potential job losses and the impact on 
council staff. 
 

Accountability and Democracy: 
Some comments suggest that reorganisation moves away from 
local accountability. They worry that the new authorities will not 
be able to make improvements to infrastructure. 
 

Efficiency and Cost Savings: 
Doubts are expressed about whether any real savings will occur 
or whether service delivery will be reduced. Some believe that 
bigger does not always mean more efficient. 
 

Transition and Disruption: 
Concerns exist about the initial changeover period and potential 
disruption to services. 
 

Role of a Mayor: 
The need for a mayor is questioned.

P
age 148



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 13

In conclusion, the engagement has successfully gathered a wealth of initial insights from a diverse 
range of stakeholders, including residents, councillors, local partners and stakeholders.  The feedback 
received highlights the community’s strong interest in how decisions are made and services are provided, 
underscoring the importance of local representation and identity. 

The survey findings reveal extensive support with 82% of those expressing a preference agreeing with the proposal 
for 3 councils. There was significant opposition to the potential dominance of a single unitary authority with the 
importance of preserving local identities being clearly articulated.

The qualitative responses provide valuable perspectives on the proposed boundaries, cost implications and the 
impact on services.  Additionally, concerns about job losses, accountability, efficiency and transition disruption 
have been highlighted.  These insights will be instrumental in refining our full proposal and addressing the key 
issues raised by the community. 

Overall, the engagement process, albeit short, has demonstrated a high level of public interest and participation, 
reflecting the community’s commitment to shaping the future of local government in Leicestershire and Rutland.  
As we move forward, the feedback collected will guide our efforts to create a more responsive, efficient and 
representative local government structure that meets the needs of stakeholders. 

Conclusion 

P
age 149



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 14

To develop a robust full proposal for submission in November 2025, further comprehensive engagement will be essential. This 
process will allow more detailed feedback to be gathered on specific proposals.    

This stage of engagement will be broader, targeting a wider range of audiences. Channels would be established to reach seldom-
heard groups and individuals to ensure their views are included in the decision-making process.  

Given the scale and significance of the full proposal, external independent support will be commissioned to lead this engagement 
work, supported by the 8 councils. Any future consultation and engagement will adhere to the Gunning Principles, ensuring that 
they are carried out fairly and transparently. 

Elements of this next phase of engagement could include a dedicated website, telephone surveys with residents, facilitated 
focus groups, business forums and stakeholder interviews. The findings of this engagement work will be analysed and a detailed 
report produced.  This inclusive approach will help us to gather a comprehensive understanding of the community’s needs and 
preferences, ensuring that our proposals are well-informed and representative of all stakeholders. 

Future Engagement Plans  

“The alignment of this geographical split delivers balance to our economic 
geography and maintains critical local relationships to support our continued 
growth. As one of UK Government’s priority sites featured in the Invest 
2035 Industrial Strategy prospectus, we need an optimal structure for Local 
Government to drive future investment by prioritising strategic growth corridors 
and addressing infrastructure challenges at the appropriate level of governance. 
The proposal for North and South Leicestershire Authorities delivers this through 
the natural alignment with Parliamentary constituencies and the geographical 
balance of assets and opportunities for investment. 

To deliver on our growth potential we need local relationships combined 
with a regional scale that enables us to compete globally. This proposal with 
its approach to appropriate collaborations across complementary regional 
geographies gives us what we need where the other proposal for a single unitary 
for Leicestershire does not.” 

- Mira 

P
age 150



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 15

Housing associations and tenant groups
Representing the wide range of social housing 
providers operating in the area.

Regional government bodies 

Politicians and Local Government 
organisations across Leicestershire and the 
East Midlands 

Leicester City Council

Leicestershire County Council

MPs across Leicestershire and Rutland

283 Town and Parish councils

 

Health care organisations

Sports and leisure providers

Emergency services

Education providers

Business sector 
Businesses and organisations representing 
a range of sectors including: chambers of 
trade, housing and commercial developers, 
manufacturing, logistics, tourism, aerospace, 
research and development, retail, and 
transport.

Community, voluntary and charitable 
organisations 
A diverse range of individual community and 
voluntary groups. 

Appendix A 
Key stakeholders and local partners 
We engaged with over 600 key stakeholders 
and local partners

P
age 151



North, City, South: The Natural Choice - Big Enough to Deliver, Close Enough to Respond 16

P
age 152



Blaby District Council 

Council 

 
Date of Meeting 8 April 2025 

Title of Report Appointments to Sapcote Parish Council 

This is not a Key Decision and is not on the Forward Plan 

Lead Member Cllr. Terry Richardson - Leader of the Council  

Report Author Corporate Services Group Manager & Monitoring Officer 

Strategic Themes Ambitious and well managed Council, valuing our people 

 
1. What is this report about? 

 
1.1 To seek the Council’s authority to make an Order appointing named persons 

to be Parish Councillors on a temporary basis. This will enable the work of the 
Parish Council to continue until such time as it has co-opted or elected 
sufficient Councillors to be quorate. 

 

2. Recommendation(s) to Council  
  
2.1 That the Council agrees to make the Order attached at Appendix A to 

appoint individuals to Sapcote Parish Council until sufficient Councillors are 
appointed or elected to the Parish Council.  

  

 

3. Reason for Decisions Recommended  
  
3.1 Additional persons are required to be appointed to the Sapcote Parish 

Council in order that it is quorate and so business can be conducted.  This is 
needed until sufficient persons are co-opted or elected. 

  

 
4. Matters to consider  
  
4.1 Background   

  
 On 17th March 2025 the District Council were advised that a large number of 

parish councillors of Sapcote Parish Council had resigned. The Parish 
Council is, as a result unable to carry out its normal business as it is no 
longer quorate. 
 
Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives district councils the 
power (not duty) to make a temporary appointment to fill vacancies until 
sufficient parish/town councillors are elected and take up office.  
 
The quorum for any meeting of Sapcote Parish Council is four, there are 
currently two remaining Councillors on the Council, therefore at least two  

Page 153

Agenda Item 11



additional parish councillors are needed.  All would need to be in attendance 
at any meeting of the Parish Council and as such it is considered prudent to 
appoint three persons to offer some resilience.    
 
If no appointment is made, the parish council will remain inquorate until the 
elections can be held in May 2025, when it is to be hoped that sufficient 
people will be nominated to the Parish Council for appointment or election.  
Whilst it is noted that there is a short period of time before the May election, 
business needs to be considered at the Parish Council, including dealing 
with the payment of invoices and staff. Further there is no guarantee that 
sufficient persons will be nominated to the Council as part of the Election 
process.   
 
As a result it is considered appropriate to exercise discretion and appoint 
persons to the Parish Council to enable business to be conducted. 
 
In terms of process, once agreed, two copies of a Section 91 Order must be 
sent to the Secretary of State, but there is no requirement that it be 
confirmed by the Secretary of State.  
 
The district and county councillors within whose wards Sapcote Parish 
Council sits are Cllr Maggie Wright, Cllr Ben Taylor and Cllr Mike Shirley 
respectively. They have all agreed to step in on a temporary basis until 
elections or co-option achieve a quorate parish council.  
 
A draft order is at Appendix A.  
 

4.2 Proposal(s)  
  

That the Order at Appendix A is approved and Councillors Maggie Wright, 
Ben Taylor and Mike Shirley are appointed to the Sapcote Parish Council 
until such time that there is sufficient Councillors co-opted or elected to the 
Council. 

  
4.3 Relevant Consultations  
  
 Sapcote Parish Council Clerk 

 
4.4 Significant Issues  
 None 

 
4.5 In preparing this report, the author has considered issues related to Human 

Rights, Legal Matters, Human Resources, Equalities, Public Health 
Inequalities and there are no areas of concern.  

 
5. Environmental impact 
 None  
  

 
 

Page 154



6. What will it cost and are there opportunities for savings? 
  
6.1 There is no cost as a consequence of this report. 

 
 

7. What are the risks and how can they be reduced? 
  
7.1  

 

Current Risk Actions to reduce the risks 

Sapcote Parish Council are unable 
to conduct business 

Appointment to ensure the Council is 
quorate 

 
8. Other options considered  
 
8.1 

 
Waiting for the outcome of the election on May 1st, is not considered prudent 
as decisions are required ahead of this date. 

 
 
9. Appendix   
  
9.1 Appendix A – Order 
  

 
10. Background paper(s)   
  
10.1 None 

 
 
11. Report author’s contact details   
 Gemma Dennis Corporate Services Group Manager & 

Monitoring Officer 
 Gemma.dennis@blaby.gov.uk  
   

  

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

Blaby District Council 

Local Government Act 1972, Section 91  

Sapcote Parish Council (Temporary Appointment of Councillors) Order 2025 

Whereas: 

1.  Following the resignation of xx parish councillors on xx, Sapcote Parish Council 
is no longer quorate  

2. Pursuant to section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972, where there are so 
many vacancies in the office of parish councillor that a parish council is unable 
to act, Blaby District Council as the principal council may be order appoint 
persons to fill all or any of the vacancies until other councillors are elected and 
take up office  

Now: 

Pursuant to its powers in section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972, Blaby District 
Council hereby appoints the following persons to act as parish councillors on Sapcote 
Parish Council until a sufficient number of elected parish councillors have taken up 
office to render the said parish council quorate whereupon such appointments and this 
Order shall cease to have effect:  

1. Maggie Wright  
2. Ben Taylor  
3. Mike Shirley  

This Order comes into effect on the date given below.  

 

Dated the       day of April 2025 

 

THE COMMON SEAL OF BLABY  

DISTRICT COUNCIL was hereunto  

affixed in the presence of:  

 

 

 

A duly authorised officer 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Amendments to Appointments to Committees and Seat Allocations
	9 Corporate Action Plan 2025-26
	Appendix A - Corporate Action Plan 2025-26

	10 Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution - March 2025 Submission
	Appendix A- Executive Summary
	Appendix B- Full Report
	Bookmarks
	The Case for Three Unitary Councils in a Future Leicestershire & Rutland. 
	Our Vision 
	Our strategy will drive growth and investment, capitalising on the potential of the East Midlands Freeport and sites such as the world leading Mira Technology Park. Growing the local economy will create new homes and jobs, enhancing the wellbeing and prosperity of our residents and businesses. It will deliver an effective and empowered strategic authority that works for Leicestershire and Rutland. 
	Executive Summary 
	County Unitary North, City,  & Leicester South 
	Leicester City: Growth and Sustainability 
	Social Care 
	Scale 
	The Right Size to Deliver 
	Governance  Defined through  the Lens of “Place” 
	In a process of democratic realignment the number of councillors at the three authorities will be fewer than under current arrangements. There is a real opportunity through this approach to build the strengths of the core market towns which complement the City as key service centres and drivers of growth. Alongside the new authorities civic pride will be strengthened through the creation of enhanced local governance structures to bolster the connections between localities and these new councils. This will o
	A Bold Vision of Future Sustainability 
	A Cost Effective and Sustainable Way Forward 
	Our Focus 
	We will enable the delivery of the Strategic Authority for Leicestershire and Rutland: 
	County Unitary North, City,  & Leicester South 
	County Unitary South 775K 401K 
	Summary 
	Sustainable 
	Inclusive, Open and Pragmatic 
	Enabling and Consultative 
	Prosperity Focused Innovative and Engaging 
	Strategic Authority 
	How People Live in Leicestershire and Rutland 
	North 418K 
	South 401K 
	Place Narrative 
	North 
	South 
	Context Summary 
	Proposed New Settlements
	8 Lutterworth East 
	The Financial Case for a Three Unitary Model  for Leicestershire and Rutland 
	Overview of the Financial Case and Modelling Approach 
	Financial Sustainability 
	Financial Efficiencies 
	Council Tax Equalisation 
	134,696 133,920 
	North South City 
	Financial Sustainability 
	Review and reasonableness for the  three unitary model financial case 
	Comparison of Leicestershire three unitary model against other LGR reports and business cases (savings shown as £m per district council) 
	Service Pressures 
	LLE local authority boundaries IMD 2019 Decile (1=most deprived) 
	Economic Development and Growth 
	Growth Corridors & Clusters 
	Strategic Growth Corridor 
	Railway Station 
	Airport 
	Employment Site 
	Local Plans 
	Community Leadership and Local Decision Making 
	Councillor Numbers and a New Accountability Framework 
	Community Safety 
	Summary 
	Our Approach 
	Future Proofing  Our Proposed Approach 
	Preventive Savings 
	Preventive Adult and Health Services Rationale 
	Rutland Exemplar 
	Housing Services and Prevention 
	High Quality, Accountable and Compliant Landlord Services 
	Private Rented Sector Housing Quality 
	Embedding Housing in the Continuum of Prevention and Independent Living 
	Children’s Services  and Prevention 
	Economic Prosperity 
	We believe councils of this scale are well equipped to develop a protocol around delivery of key economic priorities with the Strategic Authority. As the proposed boundaries of the three councils are based on functioning economic geographies this will provide scope for an appropriately focused agenda for action. 
	Avoiding Fragmentation 
	Government Criteria  Compliance 
	Successful Examples  of Disaggregation 
	Civic Engagement 
	Summary 
	Devolution Processes and Interim Plan Summary 
	Timescales 
	Barriers and Challenges 
	Boundaries, Structures and Efficiency Savings 
	Indicative Costs for  Future Service Transformation 
	Delivery of Devolution 
	Conclusion 
	Criteria for Unitary Local Government and Our Approach 
	Unitary Local Government Criteria  
	Public Service Delivery Criteria  
	Local Engagement Criteria 
	Devolution Support Criteria 
	Community Engagement Criteria 
	Boundary Changes Criteria 
	Appendix  Finance Summary Tables 
	Asks of Government and Next Steps 


	Appendix C- Engagement Summry
	Bookmarks
	The case for Three Unitary Councils in a Future Leicestershire & Rutland.
	ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY
	Key Headlines
	Background
	Introduction
	Methodology
	Communications Reach 
	Responses 
	Survey Findings
	Qualitative 
	Future Engagement Plans  
	Appendix A Key stakeholders and local partners 



	11 Appointments to Sapcote Parish Council
	Appendix A- Sapcote PC Order




